BROMLEY CIVIC CENTRE, STOCKWELL CLOSE, BROMLEY BRI 3UH
TELEPHONE:

020 8464 3333

CONTACT: Graham Walton
graham.walton@bromley. gov.uk

DIRECT LINE:
FAX:

To:

020 8461 7743
020 8290 0608

DATE: 22 December 2021

Members of the

EXECUTIVE
Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman)
Councillor Kate Lymer (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors William Huntington-Thresher, Peter Morgan, Angela Page,
Michael Rutherford and Diane Smith
A meeting of the Executive will be held at Bromley Civic Centre on WEDNESDAY 12
JANUARY 2022 AT 7.00 PM
PLEASE NOTE: This meeting will be held in the Council Chamber at the Civic
Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley, BR1 3UH. Members of the public can attend the
meeting: you can ask questions submitted in advance (see item 3 on the agenda) or
just observe the meeting. There will be limited space for members of the public to
attend the meeting – if you wish to attend please contact us, before the day of the
meeting if possible, using our web-form:
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/CouncilMeetingNoticeOfAttendanceForm
Please be prepared to follow the identified social distancing guidance at the meeting,
including wearing a face covering.
TASNIM SHAWKAT
Director of Corporate Services & Governance
Copies of the documents referred to below can be obtained from
http://cds.bromley.gov.uk/
AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3

QUESTIONS
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, questions that are not specific to reports
on the agenda must have been received in writing 10 working days before the date of
the meeting - by 5pm on 23 December 2021.
Questions specifically relating to reports on the agenda should be received within two
working days of the normal publication date of the agenda. Please ensure that
questions specifically on reports on the agenda are received by the Democratic
Services Team by 5pm on Thursday 6th January 2022.

4

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 24 NOVEMBER 2021
(Pages 3 - 16)

5

BIGGIN HILL AIRPORT NOISE ACTION PLAN REVIEW
(Pages 17 - 160)

6

PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS
(Pages 161 - 166)

7

DRAFT BUDGET 2022/23 AND UPDATE ON THE COUNCIL'S FINANCIAL
STRATEGY 22/23 TO 25/26
(To follow)

8

CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM THE EXECUTIVE,
RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE

9

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT
(ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM
OF INFORMATION ACT 2000
The Chairman to move that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of
the items of business listed below as it is likely in view of the nature of the business to
be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public
were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

10

Items of Business

Schedule 12A Description

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON
24 NOVEMBER 2021
(Pages 167 - 168)

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including
the authority holding that
information)

Agenda Item 4
EXECUTIVE
Minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2021 starting at 7.00 pm
Present:
Councillor Colin Smith (Chairman)
Councillor Kate Lymer (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors William Huntington-Thresher, Peter Morgan,
Michael Rutherford and Diane Smith
Also Present:
Councillor Angela Wilkins
323

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Angela Page.
Cllr Christopher Marlow joined the meeting online.
324

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr William Huntington-Thresher declared an interest as advisor to the
Orpington BID Board in relation to minute 336 (Orpington Walnuts
regeneration Programme.)
325

QUESTIONS

Two questions had been received for written reply – the questions and
answers are set out in Appendix A to these minutes.
326

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20
OCTOBER 2021

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 20 th October 2021 be
confirmed.
327

BUDGET MONITORING 2021/22
Report FSD21075

The report provided the second budget monitoring position for 2021/22 based
on expenditure and activity levels up to the end of September 2021. The
report highlighted any significant variations which would impact on future
years as well as any early warnings that could impact on the final year end
position. The report also provided an update on the COVID grant position.
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee on 18 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
1

Page 3

Executive
24 November 2021
RESOLVED that
(1) The latest financial position be noted.
(2) It is noted that a projected net overspend on services of £2,458k is
forecast based on information as at September 2021.
(3) The comments from Chief Officers detailed in Appendix 2 to the
report be noted.
(4) The projected reduction to the General Fund balance of £345k as
detailed in section 3.4 of the report be noted.
(5) The full year cost pressures of £10.67m as detailed in section 3.5 of
the report be noted.
(6) The release of £30k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating to
local elections as detailed in paragraph 3.2.2 of the report be agreed.
(7) The release of £40k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating to
Crystal Palace Park as detailed in paragraph 3.2.3 of the report be
agreed.
(8) The release of £587k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to Waste services as detailed in paragraph 3.2.4 of the report be agreed.
(9) The release of £170k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to Legal Services as detailed in paragraph 3.2.5 of the report be agreed.
(10) The release of £91k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to Property Valuation as detailed in paragraph 3.2.6 of the report be
agreed.
(11) The release of £213k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to Public Health grant increase as detailed in paragraph 3.2.7 of the
report be agreed.
(12) The release of £89k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to Obesity Grant as detailed in paragraph 3.2.8 of the report be agreed.
(13) The release of £69k from the 2021/22 Central Contingency relating
to COVID Recovery grant as detailed in paragraph 3.2.9 of the report be
agreed.
(14) The release of £500k Education Risk Reserve as detailed in
paragraph 3.3 of the report be agreed.
(15) The COVID allocation and expenditure in Appendix 7 of the report
be noted.

2

Page 4

Executive
24 November 2021
328

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 2ND QUARTER 2021/22
Report FSD21071

The Executive received a report summarising the current position on capital
expenditure and receipts following the 2 nd quarter of 2021/22 and seeking the
Executive’s approval to a revised Capital Programme.
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee on 18 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that
(1) The report be noted, including a total re-phasing of £339k from
2021/22 into future years, and the revised Capital Programme be agreed.
(2) The following amendments to the Capital Programme be approved
(as in paragraph 3.3 to the report) (i) Increase of £57k in relation to Formula Devolved Grant;
(ii) Increase of £375k for Schools Capital Maintenance;
(iii) £12k decrease in relation to the Scadbury Park Moated Manor
Scheme;
(iv) Increase of £130k for additional costs on the Anerley and
Bushell Way Housing Scheme;
(v) Increase of £98k for additional costs on the Burnt Ash Lane
Housing Scheme;
(vi) Increase of £536k for additional costs related to the Liquid
Logic implementation.
(3) Council be recommended to approve the increase of £1,184k to the
Capital Programme (as in paragraph 3.3 to the report.)
329

COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT/REDUCTION SCHEME 2022-23
Report FSD201068

The report advised the Executive of the result of the public consultation
exercise on the proposed Council Tax Support/Reduction Scheme for
2022/23 and sought approval for the Scheme to be forwarded to full Council.
A Member was disappointed that the response to the consultation was not
higher, but officers would consider this and attempt to generate a better
response next year.
Officers would provide Cllr William Huntington-Thresher with further details on
the breakdown of current claimants (Table 2 in the report.)
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee on 18 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations. The Chairman of the PDS Committee, Cllr Christopher
Marlow, pointed out to the Executive that Bromley’s scheme was already

3

Page 5

Executive
24 November 2021
more generous than some in London, and in the consultation responses there
was not a clear majority in favour of making it more generous.
RESOLVED that
(1) The updated Impact Assessment at Appendix 1 to the report be
noted.
(2) The responses to the public consultation exercise at Appendices 2 &
3 to the report be noted.
(3) It is noted that the Council Tax Support/Reduction scheme for
2022/23 retains the calculation of entitlement for working-age claimants
on 75% of the household’s Council Tax liability - thereby the maximum
assistance provided to a claimant of working-age is 75% of his/her
Council Tax liability.
(4) Council be recommended
to approve the Council Tax
Support/Reduction scheme for 2022/23 including maintaining the
Discretionary Hardship Fund at £200k.
330

ACADEMY
INFORMATION
SYSTEM
AND
ASPIEN
CORPORATE DEBT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM SOFTWARE
LICENSE AND MAINTENANCE ARRANGEMENTS
Report FSD21072

In July 2018, officers had recommended to the Executive that the future
provider of the Exchequer Service should undertake a health check of several
IT systems used to deliver the service. The Executive noted that due to the
complexities of a number of the systems and the need to provide sufficient
time to migrate high risk data, these health checks should be carried out
within twelve months of the contract start date to confirm the value for money
options going forward.
The Exchequer Services Contract commenced on 1 st April 2020; however the
review of the Academy Information System and the Aspien Corporate Debt
Management System had not been possible due to the impact of the
pandemic.
The Academy Information System was the core system for the administration
of Housing Benefits and Council Tax Support. It was also the key system for
the collection of Council Tax and Business Rates. The system enabled the
Council’s contractors, Liberata, to manage financial transactions in excess of
£432 million annually. The system also supported other functions through the
purchase of additional modules as required. As with other software systems,
the Council had a rolling agreement (unless notice was given) for which it paid
an annual fee for the cost of licences, support and maintenance for the
platform and associated modules.

4

Page 6

Executive
24 November 2021
The Academy Information system continued to meet the Council’s
requirements and it was expected that the system would continue to meet
business needs beyond March 2022.
The Aspien Corporate Debt Management System was used by the Council’s
contractors, Liberata, in conjunction with the Council’s financial system Oracle
R12 to bill and collect in the region of £60 million each year and the
agreement was due to expire in January 2022.
The Council would be changing its financial system to Oracle Fusion in April
2022, following which it would be undertaking a full review of the debt
recovery module, Advance Collections, to consider if it should be used in
place of the Aspien Corporate Debt Management System.
This report sought authorisation to renew the licence agreements for both the
Academy System and the Aspien Corporate Debt Management System
beyond 2022. The cumulative value of these extensions made this an
Executive decision.
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee on 18 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that
(1) The renewal of the agreement for the Academy Information system
until 1 April 2024 at an estimated annual cost of £163.24k be approved.
(2) The renewal of the agreement for Aspien Corporate Debt
Management System until January 2024 at an annual cost of £9k be
agreed.
331

PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS
Report HPR2021/062

Her Majesty the Queen’s national Platinum Jubilee celebrations were planned
to take place on 2nd to 5th June 2022. The London Borough of Bromley would
be enabling street parties across the borough by waiving the street closure
fee, taking part in the national lighting of the beacons and the Queen’s Green
Canopy, and delivering a cultural activity programme.
The report had been scrutinised by the Executive, Resources and Contracts
PDS Committee on 18 November 2021 and the Committee had
recommended that consideration be deferred until the next meeting in
January 2022 to enable a more detailed and comprehensive report to be
provided, setting out full criteria for the allocation of grants and more detailed
proposals for a revised community grant ceiling.
RESOLVED that consideration of the report be deferred.

5

Page 7

Executive
24 November 2021
332

DEPOT CAPITAL INFRASTRUCTURE WORKS UPDATE
Report ESD20109

On 16th July 2018, the Executive approved a capital budget of £6.5m for
infrastructure works across a range of depot locations to:
 Facilitate the outcomes of the strategic review and proposed
reorganisation of waste and grounds maintenance depots across the
borough (the Depot Improvement Programme);
 Facilitate contractors to self-provide flexible facilities via independent
installation of modular structures and storage;
 Meet required standards for compliance with health and safety and
environmental regulations, particularly at the waste sites;
 Facilitate potential future disposals of sites to be made surplus through
the reorganisation, following completion of relevant improvements to the
remaining sites;
 Improve current facilities to reduce significant current and ongoing
maintenance costs and liabilities; and
 Facilitate works to enable subsequently appointed contractors to deliver
services more effectively to residents across the Borough through
depots that are fit for purpose.
Following the commencement of a suite of new environmental contracts in
April 2019 that included waste services and grounds maintenance, the scope
of the proposed works was reviewed to ensure the proposed works would
facilitate the above aims effectively.
Design consultants were appointed to undertake site surveys, develop design
proposals and further refine the scope with the input of stakeholders. The
proposals for the works had been progressed to concept design stage
(classified as Stage 2 under the Royal Institute of British Architects Plan of
Work, which was an industry standard organisation of the design and
construction process)
The report provided an update on the progress made towards the depot
infrastructure works, and sought approval for the immediate progression of
the critical works for safety and operational functionality and a review of the
Depot Improvement Strategy.
The report had been scrutinised by the Environment and Community Services
PDS Committee on 17 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that
(1) Progress of the design development be noted and the critical works
for safety and operational functionality be progressed as detailed in the
report.

6

Page 8

Executive
24 November 2021
(2) The critical works required at the two waste depots and Beaverwood
Depot be progressed at a total estimated cost of £6.065m to be funded
from the existing capital programme budget for the depot infrastructure
works of £6.420m, and to reduce the capital programme accordingly.
(3) Proceeding to procurement be agreed for a suitable construction
contractor via the use of the LCP Major Works framework at an
estimated value of £4.35m, with an additional £435k delegated to the
Project Manager, Capital Projects to be used as needed making the total
estimated value up to £4.7m.
(4) It is noted that, as set out in paragraphs 3.17 to 3.20 of the report,
procurement is in progress (under officer delegated authority) for urgent
remedial works at an estimated total value of £350k funded from the
agreed capital programme budget for depot infrastructure works.
(5) It is noted that, as set out in paragraph 3.21, due to urgency, the
procurement of a replacement weighbridge will take place earlier than
the depot infrastructure works procurement occurs.
(6) The progression of appropriate planning applications to be made in
furtherance of the proposed works be agreed.
333

DISPOSAL OF DORSET ROAD INFANT SCHOOL

The Executive was asked to approve the property transaction for the disposal
of the Dorset Road Infant School following the amalgamation of the school
with Castlecombe Primary School.
The report had been scrutinised by the Children, Education and Families PDS
Committee on 9th November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that
(1) It is noted that the amalgamation of the Dorset Infant School and
Castlecombe Primary School academies, operated by The Spring
Partnership Trust, has been approved by the Department for Education the new amalgamated school will be called Elmstead Wood Primary
School and will be based at the Castlecombe Primary School site.
(2) The Director of Education be authorised to apply for and obtain
formal consent from the Secretary of State for Education to dispose of
the Dorset Road Infant School site.
(3) The disposal of the Dorset Road Infant School once the 125-year
academy lease has been terminated, and the land has reverted to the
Council, be authorised, subject to obtaining the requisite consent and
approval of the Secretary of State for Education.

7

Page 9

Executive
24 November 2021
(4) The reinvestment of the capital receipt obtained from a disposal of
the property at Dorset Road, estimated at £500,000, to improve the
facilities at the Castlecombe Primary School site in accordance with
Section 77 of the Schools Standards and Framework Act 1998 and
Schedule 1 of the Academies Act 2010, be authorised.
(5) The Council’s contribution to support the amalgamation of the
schools be capped at the value of the capital receipt achieved from the
disposal of the Dorset Road Infants School site be authorised.
(6) Authority be delegated for the Director of Education, in consultation
with the Director of Corporate Services and Governance, Director of
Finance and Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration,
and the Portfolio Holder for Children Education and Families, to agree
and settle the commercial terms of the disposal and to enter into all
relevant legal agreements and any other ancillary legal documentation
relating thereto and to deal with publicising, if appropriate, any Open
Space Notices and considering representations received.
(7) It is noted that the Secretary of State for Education’s consent to
dispose of Dorset Road Infants School does not change the Local Plan
designation of the site for education use and that any planning
application relating to the site will have to demonstrate how relevant
Development Plan polices, notably Local Plan Policy 27 Education and
Policy 20 Community Facilities, have been addressed.
334

DESIGNATION OF THE COVERT CONSERVATION AREA, THE
THRIFTS CONSERVATION AREA AND THE EXTENSION OF
THE CHISLEHURST ROAD CONSERVATION AREA
Report HPR2021/055

This report recommended the designation of the Covert Conservation Area
(shown at Appendix 1), the Thrifts Conservation Area (shown at Appendix 2)
and the extension of the Chislehurst Road Conservation Area (shown at
Appendix 3). The proposed boundaries were informed by an independent
assessment and had been subject to public consultation between October
and December 2020. Details of the representations received and how these
representations have been addressed were set out in the report.
The report had been scrutinised by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
PDS Committee on 16 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations. The proposals had previously been supported by the
Development Control Committee on 2 nd November 2021. It was confirmed
that both Committees had supported the inclusion of the four houses in The
Covert that had originally been excluded in order to enhance the conservation
area and protect against inappropriate development.
RESOLVED that the designation of the Covert Conservation Area
(shown at Appendix 1) with the inclusion of the four houses originally
excluded, the Thrifts Conservation Area (shown at Appendix 2) and the

8

Page 10

Executive
24 November 2021
extension of the Chislehurst Road Conservation Area (shown at
Appendix 3) be approved.
335

PROVISION OF HOUSING AND LIBRARY IMPROVEMENT
WORKS IN WEST WICKHAM TOWN CENTRE
Report HPR2021/059

The report summarised the RIBA Stages 0-3 work undertaken in relation to
the site of West Wickham Library and Station Road car park in West
Wickham and set out the options for the site, in order to seek a decision from
Members.
The report had been scrutinised by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
PDS Committee on 16 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
The Leader thanked Lydia Lee, Assistant Director, Culture and Regeneration
and her team for their work on developing this project.
RESOLVED that
(1) The RIBA Stages 0-3 work undertaken proposing the redevelopment
of the library and Station Road Car Park sites for housing, the
expansion of the library, public realm improvements and the adoption
of a service road to provide access be noted.
(2) That Council be recommended to approve the addition of the
scheme to the Capital Programme at an estimated cost of £9,641k (it is
noted that this is the scheme cost, not the cost to the Council.)
(3) That Council be recommended to approve the financing of the
scheme as set out in paragraph 10.8 of the report, including an internal
loan from the General Fund to the Housing Revenue Account of
£2,147k.
(4) The rent levels of the affordable housing be approved at London
Affordable Rent (LAR) levels to utilise the GLA Building Homes for
Londoners Grant.
(5) The undertaking of the adoption of the service road off Croft Avenue
which is required for access to the scheme be approved.
(6) The spend of £173k to date, which is included in the capital scheme
costs, be retained in the Housing Investment Fund earmarked reserve.
(7) The utilisation of £356k Section 106 contributions towards the
affordable housing element of the proposals be approved.
(8) Approval to proceed to procurement for the design and build works
contract at the end of RIBA Stage 4 with an estimated value of £8m be
9

Page 11

Executive
24 November 2021
delegated to the Director of Housing, Planning, Property and
Regeneration
in consultation with the Renewal, Recreation and
Housing Portfolio Holder, noting that a contract award will be coming
back to Committee.
(9) Authority be delegated to the Director of Housing, Planning,
Property and Regeneration in consultation with the Director of
Corporate Services and Governance and the Director of Finance to
appropriate the affordable housing element of the site on completion of
the construction works from planning purposes to housing within the
Housing Revenue Account and any other appropriation.
(10) It is noted that the land appropriation value to the HRA of the
affordable housing element of the site has been independently valued
at £260k.
(11) It is noted that the Council is foregoing a potential capital receipt of
£1,270k from the housing part of the site, for the development to
continue in line with the recommendations, and to achieve the
Temporary Accommodation savings and a new library.
336

ORPINGTON WALNUTS
(PART 1)
Report HPR2021/061

REGENERATION

PROGRAMME

To provide officers with a steer in relation to Members’ preferred option for the
provision of leisure as part of the Areli/Tikehau Capital development proposals
at the Walnuts Shopping Centre in Orpington.
The report had been scrutinised by the Renewal, Recreation and Housing
PDS Committee on 16 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that the report be noted and feedback on the preferred
option for the provision of leisure as part of the Areli/Tikehau Capital
development proposals on an ‘in principal decision’ pending in the
future be set out in part 2.
337

PROCEED TO PROCUREMENT
SEXUAL HEALTH SERVICE
Report ACH21-051

FOR

AN

INTEGRATED

The London Brough of Bromley had a statutory duty to improve the health of
the population and to provide local public health services. The specific
responsibilities were set out in the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and
associated regulations and included a mandated requirement for local
authorities to provide or make arrangements to secure the provision of
comprehensive open access sexual health services.

10

Page 12

Executive
24 November 2021
Currently, sexual health services in Bromley were provided by King’s College
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust (KCH), who delivered the Genitourinary
Medicine (GUM) Service and Bromley Healthcare CIC (BHC) who delivered
the Sexual Health Early Intervention Service.
While the current set up of co-location fully met the Council’s statutory duty,
the renewed specification would draw on the experience and benefits
achieved through the transformation programme and further enhance patient
experience with improved efficiencies.
The current contract with BHC was directly commissioned by the Council.
However, the KCH contract was held by the London Borough of Lambeth who
were the Sexual Health Sub-Regional Lead in South East London.
The current Contract with KCH held by Lambeth also included provision of an
integrated service at Camberwell Clinic in Denmark Hill for Bromley residents.
This element of the service was not included in this procurement and the
Camberwell provision would continue to be part of the SEL contract held by
Lambeth.
Both contracts were due to expire on 31 March 2023. It was proposed to
create a more streamlined service by revising the current specification and by
combining all elements of both contracts, except the Camberwell provision,
into one single, integrated contract. The Camberwell provision for Bromley
residents would remain as part of Lambeth Council’s contract with KCH and
was subject to the procurement decision made by the London borough of
Lambeth.
The report sought approval to procure an integrated sexual health service
from 1st April 2023 for a period of 5 years plus the option to extend for a
further 2 years at an estimated cost of £1,455k per annum, with an estimated
whole life value of a total of £10,185k. This duration of contract was designed
to encourage interest from a wide range of organisations and to provide
financial sustainability to the successful provider who would be expected to
act as strategic lead for sexual health services in the borough.
The report had been scrutinised by the Adult Care and Health PDS
Committee on 23 November 2021 and the Committee supported the
recommendations.
RESOLVED that
(1) Approval be granted to proceed to procure an LBB held contract for
an integrated sexual health service from 1 April 2023 for a period of 5
years plus the option to extend for a further 2 years at an estimated cost
of £1,455k per annum, with an estimated whole life value of a total of
£10,185k.

11

Page 13

Executive
24 November 2021
(2) Approval be granted for the continuation of provision at Camberwell
Clinic in Denmark Hill under the contract held by Lambeth from 1 st April
2023, subject to the procurement decision made by Lambeth Council.
338

CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM
THE EXECUTIVE, RESOURCES AND CONTRACTS POLICY
DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no additional items referred from the Executive, Resources and
Contracts PDS Committee.
339

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION)
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF
INFORMATION ACT 2000

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration
of the items of business referred to below as it is likely in view of the
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings
that if members of the Press and public were present there would be
disclosure to them of exempt information.
The following summaries
refer to matters involving exempt information
340

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 20 OCTOBER
2021

The exempt minutes of the meeting held on 20 th October 2021 were
confirmed.
341

ORPINGTON
(PART 2)

WALNUTS

REGENERATION

PROGRAMME

The Executive considered part 2 details relating to the leisure options for the
proposed scheme.
342

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING 2ND QUARTER 2021/22
- APPENDICES E & F

The Executive noted the part 2 Capital programme appendices.

The Meeting ended at 7.40 pm

Chairman

12

Page 14

Appendix A
EXECUTIVE
24 November 2021
QUESTIONS FOR WRITTEN REPLY
1.

From Peter Eustace to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and
Housing

Noting that the car park survey was taken just as lock down ended and not at a more
representative recent time why were local businesses and the surgery not consulted
about the impact of loss of parking on customers/patients and employee parking.
Reply:
A transport assessment was undertaken and the details of this can be found in the
Transport Statement appended to the public committee report.
To assess the parking needs of the area, as well as the June 2021 survey, pre Covid-19
parking data was analysed. West Wickham town centre has several car parks and it has
been demonstrated on both counts that the loss of this car park, for much needed
housing, will not impact on parking provision in the town centre. There is enough space
in the other car parks to absorb the loss of these spaces.
The Council is very focused on ensuring the resilience and strength of our local
economies. Based on the data we are confident that this scheme will not impact
negatively on businesses. Indeed, it will bring more customers in to the town centre
through both the housing and the additional footfall that is anticipated through the
extension and refurbishment of the library.
2.

From Peter Eustace to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal, Recreation and
Housing

Is the Executive happy with the consultation process? A low number of people
responded and when we checked many local residents had not heard of it and would
have objected as shown by this quick petition taken in a short time.
Reply:
Yes.

1

Page 15

This page is left intentionally blank

Agenda Item 5
Report No.
HPR2022/001

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

Wednesday 12 January 2022

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

BIGGIN HILL AIRPORT NOISE ACTION PLAN REVIEW

Contact Officer:

Matthew Amer, Airport Monitoring Officer
E-mail: matthew.amer@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration

Ward:

(All Wards)

Executive

1

Key

Page 17

1.

Reason for report
Five years after the signing of the Deed of Variation on their lease with the Council, Biggin Hill
Airport Ltd (BHAL) has submitted a Noise Action Plan review, as required. The Council has
obtained independent reports on the review. The BHAL’s NAP review and comments on the
review are presented in this report together next steps for further improvements. The report also
considers BHAL’s overall compliance with the Noise Action Plan.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
The Executive is recommended:

2.1 To note that Biggin Hill Airport Ltd (BHAL) has completed a review of the Noise Action Plan
(NAP), as required by the NAP and the Management Information Letter (MIL).
2.2 To note the Flightpath Watch report and the work undertaken by the Council in conjunction
with and following external legal advice, as requested by Flightpath Watch.
2.3 To note the reports of RSK Acoustics dated 8 September 2021 and the Civil Aviation
Authority dated 20 December 2021.
2.4 To note that the Council has forwarded the above reports to BHAL and they have
acknowledged receipt of the same.
2.5 To authorise officers to work in association with BHAL to progress from a review of the
NAP to a revision of the NAP and that this revision is carried out using best industry
practice, as recommended by the CAA and as proportionate to the size of the airport.
2.6 To note that the work referred to in para 2.5 above is to include:
a) The suggestions made within the attached reports, including the updating of noise
modelling software, as recommended in paragraph 56 of the CAA report
b) Consideration of noise levels as monitored by noise contours with regard to
governmental guidelines, as suggested in para 2.8 of the RSK Acoustics report
c) Limiting hours when circuits can be flown as suggested in para 9.3 of the RSK Acoustics
report
d) Agreeing the process by which recommendations in this report would be endorsed in
the revised NAP
2.7 To authorise officers to request BHAL provide additional and ongoing evidence of
adherence to the existing Noise Action Plan, particularly through the forum of the Airport
Consultative Committee.
2.8 To authorise officers to request that BHAL continue to take actions to reduce and restrict
noise contour levels for the benefit of the residents who are affected and ensure the
contour limits are met.
2.9 To authorise officers to request that BHAL provide information and produce a timetable for
the implementation of the outstanding “reasonable endeavours” provisions as part of the
revision of the NAP.

Page 18

2.10
To note that a further report will be presented to the Executive in autumn 2022
detailing the progress as outlined in the NAP review and progress against the
recommendations identified in this report.
Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1. Summary of Impact: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Existing Policy

2. BBB Priority: Excellent Council Vibrant, Thriving Town Centres Regeneration
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: Not Applicable

2.

Ongoing costs: Not Applicable

3.

Budget head/performance centre: N/A

4.

Total current budget for this head: £N/A

5.
Source of funding: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): N/A

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: No Statutory Requirement

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.
Summary of Procurement Implications: N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.
Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): N/A
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.
2.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? As this is a Borough Asset individual Wards
have not been consulted, however this report has been circulated to all Councillors.
Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

Page 19

3.

COMMENTARY

Table of documents attached.
Attachment
Number

Title of document

1

NAP Review as submitted by BHAL

2

RSK Acoustics Report on the NAP Review on behalf of the Council

3

CAA Report on the NAP Review commissioned by the Council

4

Flightpath Watch Report

5

The Council’s response to Flightpath Watch review of the Noise Action Plan

6

Minutes of the Executive Meeting, June 2016

Background
3.0

Biggin Hill Airport Ltd (BHAL) hold a Lease granted by the Council for a term of 125 years
commencing in 1994 for London Biggin Hill Airport (LBHA). The Council owns the freehold of the
Airport.

3.1

A key part of the Lease is The Third Schedule which sets out the Operating Criteria. This includes
key requirements and restrictions on how BHAL operates the airport including limitations on hours
of operation. The Council is obliged under the terms of Clause 2.11 of the lease to consider
requests to vary the Operating Criteria. Approval must not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
If consent isn`t granted Clause 2.11 includes a dispute resolution facility. When BHAL applied to
vary the Operating Criteria to extend its operating hours in 2015, the council agreed to the
extension subject to several conditions which required it to commit to a further series of measures
to reduce the impact of aircraft noise on Bromley residents. These measures are known as the
Noise Action Plan (NAP) and the Management Information Letter (MIL). The Council and the
Airport entered into a Deed of Variation to the lease on 13 July 2016 which made it clear that the
NAP, together with the MIL were incorporated as terms of the lease.

3.2

The NAP, as created in 2015, approved by the Council on 15 June 2016, and incorporated in the
lease on 13 July 2016 includes a description of current noise levels at that time at LBHA,
predictions for future noise levels and a list of noise action measures to which BHAL would commit
to diminish the noise disruption experienced by Bromley residents. These measures include, but
are not limited to, the installation of a noise monitoring and track keeping system, the setting of
noise envelopes, limits on movements at specified unsociable times of the day and introducing a
new approach to Runway 03.

3.3

The MIL sets out the practical ways these measures would be introduced by BHAL.

3.4

The Deed of Variation of Operating Criteria relating to the Lease of Biggin Hill Airport was signed
on 13 July 2016. This altered the Operating Criteria of the Lease to increase BHAL’s operating
hours. It also appended a copy of the NAP and MIL to the Lease. Any such changes, or further
changes, to the Operating Criteria of the Lease, and this is taken to include the Noise Action Plan,
can only be made with the consent of the Council at Landlord.

Page 20

3.5

BHAL did not begin operating its extended hours until 1 May 2017.

3.6

Para 4.32 of the NAP states that “following formal adoption of the NAP, LBHA, in association with
the Council, will review the NAP every five years or whenever it is considered that a major event
of material change has the potential to create wider noise implications for local residents.”

3.7

This is reiterated in para 20 of the MIL, which adds in a note that: “opportunities to minimise the
environmental impact of airport activities will be considered at each review”.

3.8

In line with para 4.32 of the NAP, BHAL has undertaken to review the NAP this summer. In July,
a document was shared with the Council, along with BHAL’s Airport Consultative Committee,
Noise and Safety Sub-Committee and Safety and Noise Abatement Review Board. These
committees all include Council representatives, however those Council representations cannot
bind or commit the Council as landlord. The Council provided informal feedback which, along with
feedback from the committees, was used to create the Review of the Noise Action Plan 20162020 document that has been published on Biggin Hill Airport’s website.

Summary of the Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020
3.9

BHAL’s Review of the NAP 2016-2020 includes background on the history of the NAP, a review
of the Airport’s performance against the commitments made in the NAP, a summary of complaints
received, a consideration of key areas of interest, future predictions and points on how LBHA
moves forward.

3.10 Within the document, BHAL lists Key Achievements of the last five years as: remaining within the
57db limit set for daytime hours; only 17 occasions individual aircraft noise limits have been
exceed; producing an assessment of dwellings eligible under the Airport’s residential sound
insulation scheme, though no dwellings were eligible; keeping within the early morning and late
evening movement limits.
3.11 Of the 22 points laid out in the NAP’s Monitor and Manage table (Table 2.4), the Review of the
NAP 2016-2020 categorises 21 as “Completed and Ongoing Activity”, with just 10a, 10b and 10c,
which refer to the introduction of a new approach to Runway 03 and the removal of the VOR
beacon as, “Ongoing Activity”.
3.12 Of the 11 points laid out in the NAP’s Research and Reporting table (Table 2.5), the Review of
the NAP 2016-2020 categorises 2 as “Completed,” 5 as “Completed and Ongoing Activity”, and
4 as “Ongoing Activity”.
3.13 The tabled breakdown of the commitments and whether they have been achieved are brief and
do not include much evidence with regards to the statements made.
3.14 In Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020, BHAL categorises the five most prevalent type of
complaint made by resident as Off track, Noise, Low Flying, Noise & Low Flying and Increase in
Flights. They state that since the extension of hours they have banned four operators, fined one,
issued 145 initial warning letters and 7 final warning letters.
3.15 The Biggin Hill Airport Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020 goes into greater detail on
areas that have been among the most discussed by residents.
3.16 The Report offers an explanation of the delay to the Airspace Change Procedure (ACP) to the
arrival to Runway 03 as being due to the complexity of airspace to the south and unpredictability
of consultations that have led to further alterations being needed, points to an investment of
£450,000 into the process and states that the process is now in the final stage.

Page 21

3.17 The Report expresses the Airport’s confidence in the Webtrak noise monitoring and track-keeping
system and offers an explanation of flights missing from the system due to suppressed Secondary
Surveillance Radar (SSR) codes.
3.18 The Report offers explanations for the delays to the removal of the BIG VOR beacon and the
introduction of a GPS guidance system. It also offers explanations of Noise Sensitive Areas
(NSAs), Track Violation Limits (TVLs), the operation of helicopters and how BHAL believes it has
improved its communications strategy.
3.19 In its predictions for future growth, BHAL has forecast 54,750 annual movements for 2025. The
Airport has stated it can accommodate this many movements without breaching the 57db noise
contour as set out in the NAP.
3.20 In Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020, BHAL has made commitments for the next five
years including: Completion of NAP commitments still outstanding, considering further restrictions
on circuit flying and ground noise, continuing to monitor track violation limits, working with
helicopter operators to further reduce noise disturbance, encouraging further use of the mobile
noise monitor and following ICCAN recommendations.
3.21 When considering BHAL’s proposal regarding the variation of the Operating Criteria to extend the
Airport’s operating hours, the Council consulted with acoustic, aviation and legal experts to
provide informed analysis and advice on which it could base its decision. The Council has sought
similar advice in considering Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020.
RSK Acoustics review
3.22 RSK Acoustics are consultants in acoustics, noise and vibration who have worked on projects
with London City Airport, Coventry Airport, Liverpool John Lennon Airport. They amalgamated
with Cole Jarman, who were employed as acoustic consultants by the Council when BHAL applied
to extend their operating hours.
3.23 RSK were employed by the Council to provide an independent professional opinion on LBHA’s
Review of the NAP. Due to the timing of RSK’s report, they were provided with a draft version of
BHAL’s document that has subsequently been updated.
3.24 RSK summarises at para 6.1 of its report (Attachment 2) that: “It does appear that LBHA are
following the existing NAP, and the relatively low number of individual complainants suggests
measures are working reasonably.”
3.25 At para 6.4, RSK go on to say that there are commitments in the NAP, and referenced in the NAP
review, about which “we would request additional information (if not already available by existing
means) to enable greater scrutiny of the existing NAP which can then assist in the development
of the new NAP.” These include controls on aircraft permitted to use the airport, controls on flying
training, changing the height of arriving and departing aircraft, controls in the new shoulder period,
level of fines and helicopters.
3.26 RSK state that: “It is noted in the report that the noise contours (2020 contour contained in
Appendix 1) are being produced based upon the agreed methods as set out in 2016,” (Pt 3.2)
adding, “This method is fair to ensure like for like comparison and consistency, however we note
that at some point in the future (and perhaps the new NAP is a good time) it may be prudent to
update the noise model used to newer software. INM (version 7.0d) is now out of date and more
recent software from the FAA (AEDT) has been available for some time” (Pt 3.3)
3.27 At Pt 3.12 of their document, RSK note: “Section 2.7 of the report notes the airport are achieving
the limits for areas of 57dB contour in morning and evening. They say they are within the 16-hour

Page 22

day area by 50% of the UDP envelope. This along with the quarterly reporting contours suggest
the airport have met all the requirements of the NAP”
3.28 Among other points, RSK Acoustics draw attention to the fact that: “Section 5.2 of the report
suggests the airport is looking for economic growth which will likely lead to an increase in flights.”
(7.2). They add: “It is imperative that the historic 2020 contour envelope is not exceeded and that
a suitable ‘best endeavours’ contour is proposed. As a worst case the existing best endeavours
contour should be used, however potential reduction of the contour areas should be considered
where appropriate in relation to latest guidance as to aviation noise attitude studies and other
relevant guidance. To ensure the NAP area or contour limits are met, it is likely the 50,000
movement cap will need to be retained.”
3.29 It is a theme of the RSK report that greater detail would be appreciated in illustrating the
explanations and comments offered by BHAL in their response to the commitments made in the
NAP.
3.30 Similarly, with the action points for the future, RSK offer suggestions of more detailed plans than
the broad commitments offered in the BHAL review document.
3.31 The RSK report also offers suggestions about how BHAL could have gone further in their attempts
to diminish noise disturbance to Bromley residents. In particular, they highlight more up-to-date
guidance on the onset of significant community annoyance which could be taken into account
when creating noise contours (see Recommendation 2.6 b), plotting single noise incidents and
limiting hours on circuits (see Recommendation 2.6 c).
3.32 If authorised by the Executive as recommended in para 2.5, officers will seek comments from
BHAL on this report and its recommendations, and work in association with BHAL to consider
which are proportionate to the size of the airport and actionable.
Civil Aviation Authority report
3.33 The Environmental Research and Consultancy Department (ERCD) of the United Kingdom Civil
Aviation Authority (CAA) was also appointed by the Council to undertake a technical review of the
Biggin Hill Airport Review of Noise Action Plan 2016 – 2020.
3.34 The CAA was asked to ascertain if Biggin Hill Airport have effectively fulfilled the commitments
made in their Noise Action Plan and whether the process to review it has been conducted
thoroughly, in the fashion expected, adhering to all processes and protocols necessary. Seven
specific questions were posed.
a)

Has the Noise Action Plan, as agreed with LBB, been adhered to? Specifically, with
reference to Appendix 2 of the NAP, has the NAP review adequately demonstrated
compliance. If not, what evidence needs to be submitted?

b)

Has the review process been completed in an appropriate fashion, adhering to all
industry and governmental procedures?

c)

Specifically, should a new NAP or a new version of the NAP have been delivered at the
end of the process, or does a review document suffice?

d)

Does the review document adequately reflect Biggin Hill Airport’s adherence and
attempts to adhere to the Noise Action Plan?

Page 23

e)

Does the review document adequately incorporate the latest industry standards and
processes at other airports to improve the situation for residents affected by the airport?

f)

Does the review document adequately reflect any improvements in technology that
could improve the situation for residents affected by the airport?

g)

Would you advise any other noise minimisation measures that might reasonably be
considered to be included in the review document?’

3.35 The CAA report concluded at para 68: “that in producing the 2021 NAP review, BHAL has followed
the scope set out in the original Noise Action Plan dated 28 August 2015 and Management
Information Letter dated 19 May 2016”.
3.36 As with the RSK Acoustics report, the CAA report suggests that while BHAL may have met the
commitments made in the NAP, the evidence presented within the Review of the Noise Action
Plan 2016-2020 is lacking. It states at para 17 that there are some commitments “where we were
not able to determine whether the requirement had been met without significant effort”. The report
recommends that in these cases “LBB requests that BHAL provide substantive information”.
3.37 The report also notes that while LBHA does not meet the threshold tests set out by the
Environmental Noise (England) Regulations 2006, they would recommend BHAL carry out the
review of the NAP following statutory guidance.
3.38 Similarly, the CAA report states that while BHAL meet the requirements of the NAP and MIL by
delivering a review of the NAP, best practice would have been to undertake a revision following
DEFRA guidelines.
3.39 The CAA report concludes at para 28 that “the NAP review, as drafted, is indicative of a “do
minimum” approach to meet its obligations to LBB, though not necessarily to meet the
expectations of its wider stakeholder audience”.
3.40 More specifically, the CAA report suggests that BHAL’s Review of the Noise Action Plan 20162020 should set targets that are specific, measurable, achievable, realistic and timely.
3.41 Like the RSK Acoustics report, it raises the point that aircraft noise policies have altered, setting
different noise levels for the onset of community annoyance which should be taken into account.
3.42 On specific points, the CAA report states that: the Webtrak noise monitoring and track keeping
system is industry standard and routinely used at large commercial airports; noise-related
charging of aircraft could be considered; and that greater use of the website be used to engage
local stakeholders.
3.43 As with the RSK report, the CAA report points out that the noise modelling software used to
produce noise contours should be updated (see recommendation 2.6 a) and the Residential
Sound Insulation Scheme (RSIS) reviewed.
3.44 The conclusions in the CAA report are set out in full for ease of reference:
a) In producing the 2021 NAP review, BHAL has followed the scope set out in the NAP and MIL
and therefore agreed with LBB. It appears that BHAL has met the majority of its obligations
according to the NAP actions. The level of information provided as evidence, is not however,
in ERCD’s view, adequate to demonstrate to its readers that BHAL has met its obligations
according to the NAP.

Page 24

b) Established industry precedent and governmental guidance to airports for producing a NAP
require a greater level of detail, supported by evidence, than that demonstrated in the BHAL
NAP review.
c) Best practice would be for BHAL to undertake a revision following the Defra guidance for
revising a NAP. Whilst this is not however strictly necessary, as London Biggin Hill Airport is
not within the scope of the Environmental Noise Regulations, it would represent industry best
practice. ERCD notes that BHAL has already adopted, and is taking steps to introduce, or is
considering standards, processes and technology which reflect those used at other airports.
We have made some suggestions which BHAL and LBB may also wish to consider at an
appropriate time.
3.45 If authorised by the Executive as recommended in para 2.5, officers will seek comments from
BHAL on this report and its recommendations, and work in association with BHAL to consider
which are proportionate to the size of the airport and actionable.
Flightpath Watch and other residents’ views
3.46 Since residents have been aware that the NAP review was due this summer, and since the
publication of BHAL’s Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020, a number of interested
residents have contacted the Council with their concerns. These emails and letters have come
from both individuals and from groups, including Flightpath Watch who state that they represent
Bromley residents affected by the work of Biggin Hill Airport.
3.47 Flightpath Watch supplied the Council with their review of the Noise Action Plan that covers many
of the common areas that have been referenced by Bromley residents. The Council received this
document after the terms for the reviews by RSK Acoustics and the CAA had been agreed. As
such, this document was not available for those consultants. As requested in their document, the
Council consulted independent legal counsel about the issues raised in the Flightpath Watch
document.
3.48 Senior Officers of the Council met with Leading Counsel to review the report form Flightpath
Watch, BHAL`s overall compliance with the NAP and their internal review. Below is a summary
table of issues raised by Flightpath Watch and (in the last column) the advice given in consultation
by Counsel. A more detailed response is attached as Attachment 5.
Issue

LBB’s reference

Cap on
movements

- Minutes of approval
as per Executive
meeting 25.11.2015,
p. 4 and 5
- Minutes of
Executive meeting
15.6.2016
- Correspondence
with the former
Leader of the Council

BHAL’s
Referenc
e
NAP
Review,
2.4, p. 4
and 5.4,
p.19

Expert
required

Action
required

Counsel’s advice

LBB’s legal
counsel to
investigate
discrepanc
y between
LBB’s
approval
and
references
in the MIL,
7 and 20

Suspension
of the
extended
hours

It is not appropriate
to suspend the
extended hours

- Understanding as
expressed on
Planning note
20.9.2021

Page 25

New
approach to
R03

Minutes of Executive
meeting 25.11.2015,
p. 3, “Noise
Envelopes and Limit
on annual
movements”, 2nd
paragraph.

NAP 2.16,
4.26-4.28,
MIL 11
and 13
NAP
Review
4.3, 4.14

New hours
of operation

Full Council’s
minutes 25.11.2015,
Cl. 3.2 (2)

MIL 4 and
14

Noise

- Minutes of
Executive meeting
25.11.2015 p 4,

NAP
Review
2.8 i) and
ii), 4.3

- Lease, Third
Schedule, e) ii) b.
- Approval of
misaligned
positioning of monitor
(Planning
19/04375/FULL1)

Maximum
Noise
Contour

Minutes of Executive
meeting 25.11.2015
p. 5

-Appendix
5, Cl. 3,
and
related
map by
Bickerdik
e Allen
Partners,
cyan
colour,
readings
of July
2021
- Cl 5.6 of
the NAP
Review
20162020

LBB’s legal
counsel to
investigate
the
discrepanc
y between
statements
in the MIL,
11 and 13
and
statement
by BHAL’s
consultant
Cyrrus and
the CAA
LBB’s legal
counsel to
investigate
the
discrepanc
y between
the hours
approved
and
statements
in the MIL 4
and 14
LBB’s legal
counsel to
confirm the
validity of
Cl. e) ii) b
of the Third
Schedule of
the Lease

- LBB’s
legal
counsel to
challenge
BAP’s
opinion that
the
Maximum
Noise
Contour is
“indicative”
- LBB’s
legal
counsel to
confirm that
the review
of the NAP
is a matter
between
BHAL and

Suspension
of the
extended
hours

There is no cause to
suspend the
extended hours, but
the Council is
pushing for more
information on
reasonable
endeavours being
undertaken to deliver
this asap

Correction of
MIL

Agree that MIL
should be corrected
to reflect NAP

- Lowering of
the 57dB
Laeq16h
measure to
51dB
LAeq16h

Clause e) ii) b does
not apply.

- Request
adjustment of
noise
calculations
in view of
misalignment
of Northern
monitor
- Lowering of
the 57dB
Laeq16h
measure to
51dB
LAeq16h

Lowering of noise
measurement is
being raised.

- Request
adjustment of
noise
calculations
in view of
misalignment
of Northern
monitor

Requests not
applicable to
Counsel.

Lowering of noise
measurement is
being raised.
‘Indicative’ should be
replaced with
‘Maximum’
‘Flights’ should be
replaced with
‘movements’

- Suspend
the extended
hours in case
of breach –
this is a
Maximum

Page 26

LBB, not
the ACC

Noncompliance
with the
noiseabatement
route for
departures
to the North

- Lease, Third
Schedule, Cl. j iv)

- Table
2.4, 15

- UK Aeronautical
Information
Publication (AIP)

Appendix
3

NMTK
system –
WebTrak

- Report DRR15/097,
Condition 17

- MIL, 15 AP 4.37

- NAP
Review
20162020
Table 2.4,
1, 7, 15

- LBB’s
legal
counsel to
investigate
repeated
breaches to
Lease,
Third
Schedule, j
iv) [LBB
already has
proof but
more can
be
provided] CAA to
confirm UK
AIP if not
already
available to
LBB
LBB

- NAP
Review
20162020
4.84.11 MIL, 17

Corridors

- NAP
4.21 and
4.37
- NAP
Review
20162020 4.20
Standard
response
to
complaint
s

LBB’s legal
counsel to
rebut the
excuse of
corridors
and declare
noncompliance
with Lease,
Third
Schedule, j
iv)

Noise
Contour
- Reestablish the
reference to
“movements”
as defined
and suppress
the use by
Rescind the
Lease in
view of
repeated and
worsening
noncompliance

It is not appropriate
to rescind the lease

LBB to
request the
removal of
automatic
reliance on
WebTrak and
demand that
residents are
listened to

The information from
the Council is that
residents have
always been listened
to and their
complaint and
enquiries researched
and responded to.

Rescind the
Lease as
BHAL has
been in
default for a
number of
years and
shows no
intention of
keeping
operators at
the airport
compliant
with this very
important
Noise-

It is not appropriate
to rescind the Lease

Page 27

Noncompliance
with the
noise
preferential
routing for
Circuits

- Noise Policy
Statement for
England

LBB’s legal
counsel to
rebut the
suggestion
s made by
BHAL as
nonconforming
with the
Lease
LBB’s legal
counsel to
confirm that
language of
Code of
Conduct
cannot be
amended
unilaterally
as it is a
condition of
approval of
the new
operating
hours
- LBB
policy
makers

- LBB’s annual
statements of income

- LBB
auditors

- Lease, Third
Schedule, j iv)
- Reference map

Helicopters
and light
aircraft

Overall
government
noise policy

NAP
Review
20162020,
Table 2.4
8b

MIL,
Appendix
3

Preferential
Routing
Rescind the
Lease if noncompliance
persists

It is not appropriate
to rescind the lease

Suspend the
extended
hours if
BHAL does
not keep
helicopters
and light
aircraft in
compliance
with the
Code of
Conduct

It is not appropriate
to suspend the
extended hours

- Ensure
compliance
with the
policy vision
(i.e. enforce
conditions)

Updates to
government policy
have been raised by
independent
consultants and will
be raised with Biggin
Hill Airport.

- Publicly
quantify and
monitor
whether
economic
advantages
(considering
public
expense) are
commensura
te to social
damages

3.49 Flightpath Watch, in their own review of BHAL’s Noise Action Plan 2016-2020, which they
supplied to the Council say: “We believe that we have given LBB sufficient reasons to consider
BHAL’s NAP Review 2016-2020 as inadequate, misleading and lacking in the fundamental areas
where, five years after the granting of extended operating hours, it has yet to comply with the
terms of approval.” They add: “Residents are not requesting new conditions or new legal clauses
– they are just requesting that those already in existence are enforced.”
3.50 At the time that LBHA began operating its extended hours, the Council agreed that many of the
commitments set out in the NAP and the MIL had been met. In relation to those that had not,
there were various obligations requiring BHAL to take steps towards achieving.
3.51 Since the signing of the Deed of Variation, and subsequently the extending of LBHA’s operating
hours, the Council has been active in ensuring the commitments made in the NAP and MIL have

Page 28

been adhered to. The Council is actively represented on the Airport Consultative Committee
(ACC), Noise and Safety Sub-Committee and Safety and Noise Abatement Review Board
(SANARB), while also regularly liaising with the airport and residents outside these structures. An
Airport Monitoring Officer (AMO) has been employed to oversee this work.
3.52 Where residents have raised queries and complaints about LBHA with the Council, it has taken
these issues to BHAL and asked for action. Subsequently, BHAL has reacted to this in ways
including undertaking its own investigation of the Noise Monitoring and Track-Keeping system,
reducing the time delay on using the Webtrak system and improving its communications.
3.53 Council representatives sitting on SANARB have seen flying practices questioned by the aviation
experts on the committee and the experts’ own peers subsequently warned, fined or banned.
Similarly, Council representatives sitting on the Noise and Safety Sub-Committee have raised
issues about confusing terminology and responses to complaints that have been taken on board
and improved the complaints process.
3.54 Over the five years since the signing of the Deed of Variation, the Council has not been in a
position to take action against BHAL for not delivering a commitment made in the NAP or the MIL.
For example, 50,000 movements was exceeded before the extended hours were in operation. As
such, the hours could not have been suspended while the commitments of the NAP were
reviewed.
3.55 Some aircraft have broken the track violation limits set for the noise preferential routes or
transgressed into NSAs. This does not, in itself, constitute a breach of lease or NAP, provided
BHAL investigate and take action if the infringement is not justifiable on grounds of safety. The
Council has seen this process take place. It is also part of this process through committee
representation.
3.56 While the Council may hold the opinion that the commitments made in the NAP have been
adhered to, to a greater or lesser extent, and reasonable endeavours made where appropriate, it
shares the opinion of, and is led by the expertise of, both RSK Acoustics and the CAA that greater
detail and evidence would be helpful in the Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020 and that,
in respect to para 20 of the MIL, there are further “opportunities to minimise the environmental
impact of airport activities” that should be considered.
Key topics
50,000 movement limit
3.57 On the subject of 50,000 movements per annum, which is one of the key issues raised by
residents, there is a timeline:
3.58 5/11/2015 Minutes of the approval by the Executive: It is stated that: “No more than 50,000
movements per annum will be permitted without triggering a review of the Noise Action Plan and
in these circumstances the Council reserve the right to suspend the extended hours if it
considered it appropriate to do so.
3.59 15/06/2016 Minutes of the Executive meeting: It is minuted that since the November 2015
meeting, discussions had taken place with BHAL. At this meeting it is stated that “Should the cap
of 50,000 annual movements appear likely to be breached (or was breached) in the first five years
of the NAP, the NAP would be reviewed and the Council could suspend the extended hours
pending completion of the review.”
3.60 The MIL, at para 20, states that: “Whilst the number of flights authorised in the 1994 Lease with
the airport has not been changed, LBHA does not anticipate that, following the adoption of the

Page 29

NAP, it will exceed the level of 50,000 flight movements for some time, and certainly not for the
first five years. Therefore, the Council may suspend the extended hours if the number of
movements exceeds 50,000 per annum during this period. Thereafter, when LBHA anticipates
that the airport will become busier than 50,000 annual flights, it will review the NAP with LBB to
see what further improvements can be made to the noise abatement measures.”
3.61 In 2016 and 2017, as stated in Biggin Hill Airport’s NAP Review, the Airport recorded 50,891 and
50,060 movements. These numbers reflect a period of time before the extended hours had been
implemented at the Airport. Since the Airport’s extended hours have been operational in May
2017, the benchmark of 50,000 movements has not been passed. This question was addressed
by the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation in June 2016, when it was stated: “The Airport
are operating quite legitimately under the existing lease where they are perfectly entitled to use
up to 125,000 movements annually. When or if these proposals are in place, I anticipate that
volume will actually reduce from today’s levels.”
3.62 The CAA, at para 49 on their report, support this stance, stating: “Given that the maximum
exceedance in 2016 was by only 1.7%, followed by subsequent action to reduce movements, and
finally movements in 2020 amounting to 57% of the forecast, the decision not to bring forward a
review would appear to have been appropriate.”
3.63 In Biggin Hill Airport’s review of the Noise Action Plan, they do not suggest or reference a new
movement limit. Instead, a forecast if given of an increase to 54,750 movements by 2025. The
BHAL NAP review also includes predicted noise contours for 2025. The NAP requires BHAL to
provide a forecast and they have complied by doing so. Currently BHAL have remained below
the 50,000 movements.
3.64 At para 7.4 of the RSK Acoustics report, it states: “To ensure the NAP area or contour limits are
met, it is likely the 50,000 movement cap will need to be retained. If any change to this cap is
proposed it must be justified by corresponding contours demonstrating compliance and full
disclosure of fleet mix used in the assumption (as the 2025 contours are in the BAP note in
Appendix 3 of the report).
Helicopters
3.65 Helicopters are often cited as a particular problem for Bromley residents. They can cause more
annoyance for residents due to their different noise profile and the altitude at which they fly, which
is generally lower than planes.
3.66 Helicopters are not mentioned specifically by name anywhere in the Noise Action Plan. However,
helicopters are subject to the same rules and guidelines that are applied to all aircraft in the NAP.
3.67 The MIL, as part of para 10, states: “Light aircraft and helicopter operators do not normally follow
jet aircraft routes and predominantly operate pursuant to Visual Flight Rules (VFR) on a “see and
avoid” principle and are generally responsible for their own terrain separation and for their own
separation from other traffic. Navigation in the 3 mile radius around the airport is under the
direction of Biggin Hill Air Traffic Control but beyond that distance navigation is generally by
reference to ground features although GPS is now widely used.”
3.68 Para 21 of the MIL states: “The Airport will be required to use the most noise efficient routing for
helicopters, which would include rising to 1,000 feet or another specified height in appropriate
circumstances before leaving the boundary of the Airport. Helicopters normally follow light aircraft
routes and the noise preferential routings allocated to light aircraft. Upon adoption of the NAP, a
Code of Conduct (appended to this document) will be applied. It will be communicated to all
operators based at LBHA and will be included in the UK AIP and other flight briefing material such
that all operators of light aircraft and helicopters will take it into account whilst flight planning.

Page 30

Where safe to do so, Air Traffic Control (ATC) will allocate best routings dependent upon time of
day and weather conditions. If conditions permit it and aircraft performance is not a critical factor,
helicopters will be expected to climb to the highest practical altitude within the airport boundary
before setting course. Where possible and without prejudice to safe operation and air traffic
separation, helicopters will be expected to remain over open countryside whilst in transit to or
from Biggin Hill Airport.”
3.69 Helicopters must adhere to the same Code of Conduct (MIL Appendix 3) as light aircraft, following
noise preferential routes where appropriate and avoiding NSAs, entering only where instructed or
for reasons of safety. Infringements should be treated by BHAL following the prescribed actions
for complaints and breaches of noise abatement procedures.
3.70 Outside of Air Traffic Control (ATC) management, if they are flying in Class G airspace (below
2,500ft), as long as they are following CAA rules, helicopter pilots have a wide scope to fly as and
where they consider appropriate. This also applies to light aircraft. While there are specified routes
for helicopters to take across London, these do not extend to Biggin Hill.
3.71 Bromley Council has no jurisdiction over flights, including flights below 2500ft.
3.72 At Para 4.19 of BHAL’s Review of the Noise Action Plan, it states: “Given the generally lower
altitudes and the nature of noise generated from rotors, helicopter operations remain a concern
for some residents. Helicopters normally follow light aircraft routes and the associated noise
preferential routes. The Airport will continue to develop appropriate routes for helicopter
operations. The Airport will continue to work with helicopter operators to investigate measures to
further reduce noise disturbance wherever possible.”
3.73 Within the table of future commitments, the Airport states at para 13: “Continue to work with
helicopter operators to investigate measures to further reduce noise disturbance.”
3.74 The CAA makes no specific reference to helicopters within its report on the Biggin Hill Airport
NAP review.
3.75 RSK Acoustics, in its report on the Biggin Hill Airport review, states that more information should
be given on Biggin Hill Airport’s attempts to meet the commitments of the MIL regarding
helicopters.
3.76 The Council is encouraged that Biggin Hill Airport has stated it will do more to investigate reducing
the noise disruption created by helicopters but would draw attention to RSK Acoustics’ suggestion
and impress that efforts continue to be made to ensure current guidance is strictly applied to
ensure NSAs are not encroached by helicopters.
Summary of requirements of the NAP and review responses to them
3.77 Below is a table that summarises point-by-point the commitments made in the ‘Monitor and
Manage’ table of the Noise Action Plan shown alongside a summary of the comments made about
them in BHAL’s Review of the Noise Action Plan, the RSK Acoustics and CAA reports, Flightpath
Watch’s report and any additional evidence known to the Council.
NAP point

BHAL NAP
Review

RSK
Acoustics

CAA

Flightpath
Watch

Additional
evidence

Operate and
maintain a noise
and trackkeeping system
to (NMTK)

A Noise
Monitoring
Track Keeping
System is in use
at the Airport.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim

Webtrak not fit
for purpose.
LBB should
request the
removal of

Webtrak
launched in
April 2017 and
has been
running since.

Page 31

monitor aircraft
operations

Completed &
Ongoing activity.

Produce noise
contours, based
on five year
forecast of air
traffic

The latest is
attached to the
NAP review.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

No specific
comments
made.

Undertake
regular reviews
of procedures to
minimize noise
disturbance with
BHACC.

The Airport has
conducted a
series of
reviews to
minimise noise
disturbance.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

No specific
comments
made.

Undertake
community noise
surveys using
NMTK.

The Airport
conducts noise
surveys through
the deployment
of a mobile
noise monitor at
the request of
residents.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

No specific
comments
made.

Investigate, log
and respond to
all complaints
relating to
London Biggin
Hill Airport,
reporting details
to BHACC on a
quarterly basis.

The Airport
investigates and
logs all noise
complaints and
the complaints,
together with the
Airport’s
response, are
scrutinised at
the Noise and
Safety Sub
Committee of
the BHACC.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The noise
monitors are
calibrated
annually by a
Bruel & Kjaer
(B&K)
contractor.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

Flightpath
Watch does not
believe the
Airport
investigates or
replies
appropriately to
complaints

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the

No specific
comment,
though
Flightpath
Watch claim
Webtrak is not
fit for purpose.

Calibrate NMTK
on an annual
basis.

that the
action has
been met.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.
Evidence
exists to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met,
but it is not
included in
the NAP
review.
Evidence
could not
easily be
found to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

automatic
reliance on
Webtrak and
demand that
residents are
listened to.
‘Maximum
Noise Contour’
should be
labelled as such
rather than
‘Indicative Noise
Contour’

BHAL has
undertaken
recent review of
WebTrak
Noise contours
have been
regularly
produced for
Airport
Consultative
Committee.

No specific
comment made.

Minutes of
Airport
Consultative
Committee
support that this
has happened.

No specific
comment made.

LBB has seen
results of four
deployments of
Biggin Hill
Airport’s mobile
noise monitor.
Other
deployments
are referenced
in ACC
minutes.
Evidence of this
can be found in
ACC minutes.
LBB also sites
on SANARB
and Noise &
Safety SubCommittee, at
which
complaints are
discussed.

Page 32

LBB has seen
calibration
details for 2021
and 2020,
which
references

Completed &
Ongoing activity.

action has
been met.

Monitor the
track-keeping
and maximum
noise level
compliance and
takes actions as
necessary.

Maximum noise No specific
level compliance comments
is measured by
made.
the two monitors
located in the
approach and
departure paths
for both
runways.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

Evidence
exists to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met,
but it is not
included in
the NAP
review.

Implement a
scheme to
incentivize
operators of light
and training
aircraft to install
noise
suppression
equipment or to
replace noisy
aircraft.

The airport
continues to
work with
operators of
light training
aircraft to
incentivize the
installation of
exhaust noise
suppression
equipment.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
All circuits, other
than for flight
training, are
approved by the
Senior Air
Traffic Control
Officer (SATCO)
or Chief
Executive
Officer (CEO).
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
Every flight is
logged into the
Stonefield
system by air
traffic control.
These
movements are
reported to the
BHACC on a
quarterly basis.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
could not
easily be
found to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

Requires further
consideration

No specific
comments
made.

Implement a
scheme to
restrict circuit
training to
certain operating
hours.

Monitor the
aircraft
movements
comprising
details of
movement
numbers in each
hour each day,
and Runway
use.

LBB should
request the
removal of
automatic
reliance on
Webtrak and
demand that
residents are
listened to.
Flightpath
Watch do not
believe that
BHAL are doing
this efficiently
and that aircraft
are regularly in
breach of the
noise
abatement route
for departures to
the north and for
circuits
No specific
comment made.

October 2019
calibration.

Actions not
stated to
have been
met.

Flightpath
Watch do not
believe aircraft
follow a noise
preferential
routing for
circuits.

Efforts to
reduce circuit
training are
referenced in
ACC minutes,
though not by
hours.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made.

Aircraft
movement
figures are
supplied in the
NAP review
and regularly to
the ACC,
though not to
the detail level
of each hour.

Page 33

Evidence of this
can be found in
ACC minutes.
LBB also sites
on SANARB
and Noise &
Safety SubCommittee, at
which
complaints are
discussed.

The scheme is
outlined in
Appendix 2 of
the MIL, though
evidence of its
application has
not been seen.

Implement
introduction of a
Global
Positioning
System (GPS)
based Runway
guidance
system.

Completed &
Ongoing activity.
In progress.
No specific
Ongoing activity comments
made.

Actions not
yet complete.

Flightpath
Watch highlight
point made by
BHAL
consultant
Cyrrus that
throws doubt on
initial projected
timeline for this
commitment.
Flightpath
Watch highlight
point made by
BHAL
consultant
Cyrrus that
throws doubt on
initial projected
timeline for this
commitment.
No specific
comment made.

This has not yet
been achieved.
Progress can
be charted
through ACC
minutes.

Implement
altered 03 Instrument
approach
procedures.

In progress.
Delay in
implementation
of the 03 RNAV
approach.
Ongoing activity

No specific
comments
made.

Actions not
yet complete.

Work with
National Air
Traffic Services
(NATS) and
others to secure
the early
removal of the
VOR beacon at
Biggin Hill.
Operate controls
on requested
aircraft
operations to
contain
movements to
those aircraft
meeting the
Biggin Hill noise
limits.

In progress.
Ongoing activity

No specific
comments
made.

Actions not
yet complete.

Maximum noise
level compliance
is measured by
the two monitors
located in the
approach and
departure paths
for both
runways.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The Airport has
clearly
published its
opening hours in
aeronautical
publications
such that they
are clearly
understood by
aircraft
operators
worldwide.
These limits
have not been
breached.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made,
though FPW
point out a
misalignment of
the northern
noise monitor
and its possible
effects.

No additional
evidence

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

FPW point to
possible
discrepancy in
MIL Points 4
and 14 with
regard to
operating hours.

These hours
came into effect
and have been
operated since
May 2017.

Limit airport
operating hours
to 06.30-23.00
on weekdays,
and on
Saturdays,
Sundays and
Public Holidays
limit operating
hours to 08.0022.00.

Page 34

This has not yet
been achieved.
Progress can
be charted
through ACC
minutes.

This has not yet
been achieved.
Progress can
be charted
through ACC
minutes.

Operate the
Airport to ensure
that the resultant
noise, expressed
in the form of
Summer
Daytime noise
contour area
does not exceed
that specified,
namely 4.3 km2
at 57 dB
LAeq,16h.

Completed &
Ongoing activity.
Noise contours
are produced
Quarterly by
Bickerdike Allen
and reported to
the BHACC.
The Airport has
successfully
kept the
footprint within
the reasonable
endeavours
target.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
exists to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met,
but it is not
included in
the NAP
review.

Flightpath
Watch
questions the
use of the
LAeq16h
measure, the
position of the
northern noise
monitor, the 57
db level and
that it
represented a
50% reduction
in 2015. They
do not question
whether BHAL
stayed within
this limit.
Flightpath
Watch
questions the
use of the
LAeq16h
measure, the
position of the
northern noise
monitor and the
57 db level.
They do not
question
whether BHAL
stayed within
this limit.

Operate the
Airport using
reasonable
endeavours to
achieve actual
noise contours
for daytime,
early morning,
and late evening
less than the
2020 forecast
noise contours.

Noise contours
are produced
Quarterly by
Bickerdike Allen
and reported to
the BHACC.
The Airport has
successfully
kept the
footprint within
the reasonable
endeavours
target.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
exists to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met,
but it is not
included in
the NAP
review.

From 1 January
2016 operate a
ban on fixed
wing aircraft
which are not
fully compliant
with ICAO
Chapter 3 or
above noise
certification
numerical
standards.
Operate a ban
on fixed wing
aircraft that do
not meet the
ICAO Chapter 4
noise
certification
numerical
standards
between 06:30

The Airport has
limited use of
the airport to
those aircraft
types that meet
the ICAO
Chapter 3
standard.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

Requires further
consideration

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

FPW reference
that their
acoustic expert
points out there
has been a ban
on movements
by non-Chapter
3 compliant
aircraft since
2002.

For new based
and non-based
aircraft
operations, the
Airport has
limited the use
of the airport to
those aircraft
types that meet
ICAO Chapter 4

Requires further
consideration

Evidence
could not
easily be
found to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made.

Page 35

Evidenced in
noise contours
presented to
the ACC.

The noise
contours
attached to
each Airport
Consultative
Committee
minutes show
that each
quarter they
have been
reported, the
contours have
been within the
reasonable
endeavours
limit.
UK AIP does
state that
aircraft using
Biggin Hill
Airport must be
ICAO Chapter 3
compliant or
better

No additional
evidence

and 07:00
(except for
existing based
aircraft)
Operate the
airport using
reasonable
endeavours to
ensure that
these Chapter 4
aircraft operate
within a
maximum noise
level set by the
noise
characteristics of
the Learjet 35 or
a comparable
aircraft
Manage
compliance with
the preferred
noise routes and
tolerance limits
using the NMTK
system.

Operate the
Airport in
accordance with
the noise
abatement
procedures
delineated in the
UK AIP.

Discourage the
use of aircraft
reverse thrust
except where its

standard.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The Airport has
used all
reasonable
endeavours to
ensure that
Chapter 4
aircraft operate
within a
maximum noise
level set by the
noise
characteristics
of the Learjet 35
or a comparable
aircraft.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The NMTKS
incorporates an
automatic
detection tool
and any breach
of track violation
limits or
penetrations of
any Noise
Sensitive Areas
(NSAs) are
recorded and
acted upon.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
All limitations
are set out in full
in the UK AIP
(which
automatically
confers
inclusion in all
IFR and VFR
flight guides)
such that
operators
understand the
noise abatement
measures
applicable to the
Airport.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The airport has
published in the
UK AIP the
following: UK

Requires further
consideration

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made.

No additional
evidence

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

Flightpath
Watch do not
believe that this
has happened
and cite aircraft
regularly
breaching
northerly take
off NPRs and
circuit NPRs

Evidence of this
can be found in
ACC minutes.
LBB also sites
on SANARB
and Noise &
Safety SubCommittee, at
which
complaints are
discussed.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
could not
easily be
found to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

Flightpath
Watch do not
believe that this
has happened
and cite aircraft
regularly
breaching
northerly take
off NPRs and
circuit NPRs

Procedures are
set out in the
UK AIP. Aircraft
breaching
NSAs & NPRs
have been
warned and
sanctioned.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support

No specific
comment made.

Referenced in
UK AIP

Page 36

use is required
for safety
reasons

The airport will
put in place a
sound insulation
scheme for
residential
properties
(RSIS) relating
to exposure to
noise in the early
morning

Provide
information and
services to the
London Biggin
Hill Airport
Consultative
Committee
(BHACC).
Monitor and
report progress
against Noise
Action Plan
actions to
BHACC, provide
statistics in the
Performance
Monitoring
Report.
Engage with
local planning
authorities to
ensure

AIP: EGKB AD
2.21 NOISE
ABATEMENT
GENERAL
instructions:
Paragraph (C)
Pilots are
requested to
avoid the use of
reverse thrust or
reverse pitch
above idle
power settings
on landing,
consistent with
the safe
operation of the
aircraft.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The Airport has
put in place a
scheme for
certain
residential
properties in
order to mitigate
the effects of
aircraft noise
during the
period 06:30 to
07:00 (the Early
Morning Period).
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
On a quarterly
basis the Airport
provides a
detailed report
to the BHACC.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
On an annual
basis the Airport
Issues a
Performance
Monitoring
Report (PMR)
on actual
summer
contours.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The Airport
works closely
with LBB to
advise against

BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made.

Scheme set out
in MIL
Appendix 1

No specific
comments
made.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.
Evidence
could not
easily be
found to
support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

No specific
comment made.

ACC minutes
show this to be
the case.

No specific
comment made.

ACC regularly
updated,
though not
specifically
about NAP
points.

Evidence
could not
easily be
found to

No specific
comment made.

A member of
London
Borough of
Bromley’s

No specific
comments
made.

No specific
comments
made.

Page 37

awareness of
aircraft
operations is
considered in
land use
development, for
instance with
LBB over future
work on the local
plan.

Provide an
information pack
to local Estate
Agents, and to
those seeking
information on
local conditions
prior to
relocating to
near the Airport
or its departure
and arrival
tracks.

4.

and also
discourage
residential and
other noise
sensitive
development
close to the
airport
boundaries or in
areas likely to
be affected by
aircraft noise.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.
The Airport
No specific
tailors
comments
information
made.
packs to local
estate agents
relating to a
specific property
enquiry. This on
request pack will
identify how a
specific property
may be affected
by the Airport
operations.
Completed &
Ongoing activity.

support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

Evidence
provided in
NAP review
to support
BHAL’s claim
that the
action has
been met.

planning team
regularly sits on
the ACC and
feeds in
updates about
planning policy.

No specific
comment made.

No additional
evidence

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN
There is no impact to Vulnerable Adults and Children in respect of the services the Council
delivers in this regard.

5.

POLICY IMPLICATIONS
An Authority that manages its Assets well.

6.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
6.1 The current revenue budget for Biggin Hill Airport is £89k, net of rental income generated
from the lease.
6.2

7.

There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report.

PERSONNEL IMPLICATIONS
Not Applicable

8.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8.0

Biggin Hill Airport Ltd (BHAL) hold a Lease granted by the Council for a term of 125 years
commencing in 1994 for London Biggin Hill Airport (LBHA). The Council owns the freehold of the
Airport.

Page 38

8.1

The Third schedule of the lease sets out the Operating Criteria which governs key aspects of
BHAL’s operation. When the Deed of Variation was entered into in July 2016 the view of the
Council’s officers was that the NAP and MIL were effectively incorporated into the Operating
Criteria. This view has been confirmed by Leading Counsel although she has pointed out that the
fact that the Noise Action Plan is largely a narrow and descriptive document means that not
everything in the document is to be treated as an operating criterion and there may be grey areas
in relation to the question of which parts of the document are to be regarded as giving rise to
operating criteria. Therefore, BHAL cannot unilaterally make changes to the NAP or MIL in relation
to those matters which are properly regarded as operating criteria.

8.2

Clause 2.11 of the lease deals with the procedure for changes to the Operating Criteria. The
Council must not unreasonably delay or withhold consent and if it refuses consent the matter can
be referred to arbitration. There the arbitrator needs to consider whether the refusal is so
unreasonable that no reasonable local authority would have refused its approval. Therefore, as
the test relates to a reasonable local authority the Council is entitled to take into account more
factors than a private landlord would which can include impact on the wider community. The
terminology employed in the proviso to clause 2.11 is an acknowledgment that whilst ever the
Council is the landlord under the Lease, recognition must be had to its character as a public body
and the obligations and duties to which the Council is subject in that capacity. However, any
refusal must be evidence based and must only take material factors into account and clause 2.11
of the Lease does not override the private law limitations which apply when a landlord grants or
refuses consent. So, for example, the Council would not be able to refuse consent by reference
to any policy or objective, whether held for political reasons for otherwise, which had nothing to
do with its role as landlord and had nothing to do with the Lease.

8.3

Clause 5.21 of the Lease contains the following covenant on the part of the Tenant: “To observe
and perform or procure observance and performance by its Airport Manager or others of the
Operating Criteria and to supply the Landlord with all necessary information on a regular basis to
enable the Landlord to monitor compliance with this obligation.”

8.4

Therefore, the Council is entitled to seek information to demonstrate compliance with Schedule 3
and also the NAP and MIL.

8.5

The lease through Clause 5.10, for example, provides that the Council can recover costs it incurs
in dealing with certain applications made by BHAL under the lease.

9.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS
Non applicable

10. PROPERTY COMMENTS
Non Applicable
Non-Applicable Sections:

Financial, Personnel, Procurement and Property

Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

See attachments listed above.

Page 39

This page is left intentionally blank

LONDON BIGGIN HILL AIRPORT

Review of Noise Action Plan
2016 - 2020

1

Page 41

Contents

1.0

Introduction

2.0

Noise Action Plan: Review of Performance

3.0

Summary of Public Complaints

4.0

Consideration of other matters raised by SANARB, BHACC and residents

5.0

Future Noise Assessments and Traffic Forecasts

6.0

Summary

Tables & Charts

Table 2.1

Summary of forecast annual movements (2020)

Table 2.2

Summary of actual annual movements (2016-2020)

Table 2.3

2020 Noise Contour Areas for operations of the Airport

Table 2.4

Summary of Noise Action Plan measures

Table 2.5

Research and Reporting

Table 3.1

Total number of complaints per year (2016-2020)

Chart 3.2

Top 5 areas for complaints received

Table 5.1

Summary of 2025 forecast annual aircraft movements

Table 5.2

2025 forecast 57 dB LAeq,16h Summer Daytime Contours

Appendices

Appendix 1

2015 NAP3 showing previously adopted noise contour

Appendix 2

Top 5 areas for complaints

Appendix 3

IFR Noise Preferential Departure Routes / average movements per hour

Appendix 4

IFR Arrival Routes / average movements per hour

Appendix 5

2025 Forecast Noise Contour from Bickerdike Allen

2

Page 42

1.0

INTRODUCTION

1.1

As part of the Deed of Variation of Operating Criteria dated 13 July 2016 agreed between
London Biggin Hill Airport (LBHA) and the London Borough of Bromley (LBB) to increase the
Airport’s operating hours, the Airport produced and agreed to comply with a Noise Action
Plan (NAP).

1.2

The Airport agreed to review the NAP, in association with LBB, every five years or whenever
it is considered that a major event or material change has the potential to create wider noise
implications for local residents. (NAP paragraph 4.32)

1.3

During each five year review the Airport agreed to assess performance with respect to the
previously forecast noise envelope, based on the latest five-year forecasts of air traffic
movements, along with an assessment of the effectiveness of the various measures within
the NAP and by reference to the number of people and dwellings affected. (NAP paragraph
4.33)

1.4

Each review will compare noise over the preceding five years against the forecast of that
period and will use that experience to revise the air traffic forecast for the five-year period
immediately following that review. This process will identify the need for any changes in
procedures which may help to further reduce noise disturbance. The Airport also agreed to
monitor noise management practices at other comparable airports and investigate whether
any innovations being employed elsewhere could usefully be applied at LBHA, thereby
ensuring industry best practice is being employed at LBHA. (NAP paragraph 4.34)

1.5

This five-year review of the NAP covers the following sections:
•
•
•

Review of Performance over the past 5 years (2016 – 2020).
Summary of complaints and general observations over the past 5 years.
Future Noise and measures to minimise noise for the upcoming 5-year period (2021 2025.

3

Page 43

2.0

NOISE ACTION PLAN: REVIEW OF PERFORMANCE

2.1

Noise levels continue to be quantified by both the production of airport noise contours and
consideration of community responses as demonstrated by the comments received by
the Airport. The Airport continues to operate a Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping System
(NMTKS).

2.2

The methodology for the assessment of noise contours remains the same as that agreed as
part of the NAP in 2016, which followed the negotiated agreement to reduce the 1994 noise
footprint in the Adopted Unitary Development Plan (UDP) as illustrated in NAP3 of the NAP,
at Appendix 1.

2.3

The forecast produced in 2015 anticipated the following activity at LBHA in 2020, which is
summarised in Table 2.1 below:
Table 2.1

Summary of 2020 forecast annual aircraft movements

Aircraft Category

2.4

Business Aviation

19,750

Light Aviation

29,750

Total

49,500

The summary of actual total movements between 2016 and 2020 is reported in Table 2.2
below:
Table 2.2

2.5

2020 Forecast Annual
Movements

Summary of actual annual total aircraft movements 2016 -2020

Year

Actual total movements

2016

50,861

2017

50,090

2018

43,405

2019

39,109

2020

28,205

Prior to the introduction of the NAP and before 2010, the flight numbers were higher than
50,000 due to the intense flying training activity on the airfield by up to 5 flying schools.
Whilst traffic levels fell still further until 2014, this activity had to be curtailed and contracts
completed or closed down over 2016 and 2017 to comply with the NAP.

4

Page 44

2.6

Table 2.3 shows the expected Noise Contour Area in 2020 based on the 2015 forecast
together with the commitment to use reasonable endeavours to achieve the agreed low
limits:
Table 2.3

2020 Noise Contour Area for operations of the Airport

Area of 2020 Noise Contours (km2)
Summer
Daytime
(07:00-23:00)
LAeq,16h

Summer
Early Morning
(06:30-07:00)
LAeq,30m

Summer
Late Evening
(22:00-23:00)
LAeq,1h

Daytime limit: 57dB

4.3

-

-

Reasonable Endeavours

2.9

2.2

1.3

Actual Areas Achieved

1.8

0.6

0.3

Contour Level

2.7

Table 2.3 above shows the Airport did better than its reasonable endeavours.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
2.8

Since the introduction of its extended hours of operation, the Airport has fulfilled all its
key commitments in the NAP, particularly:
i.

Noise Footprints:
The Airport has consistently achieved a noise footprint well within the 57dB contour
limit for the daytime period for the of 4.3km2, which is below 50% of the Currently
Adopted Unitary Plan. The Airport consistently achieved its reasonable endeavours
obligations for both the early morning and late evening noise contours for the areas
of 2.2km2 and 1.3km2 respectively.

ii.

Individual Aircraft Noise Limits:
Since 2017, when the increased hours were in force, individual aircraft Noise Limits
have only been exceeded on 17 occasions (an average of 4.25 times each year) and all
of these have been identified automatically by the noise and track keeping system and
in most cases were just 1dB above the agreed limit. A 1dB difference is not discernible
to the human ear.

iii. Residential Sound Insulation Scheme:
The Airport has produced an assessment of dwellings eligible under the Airport’s
residential sound insulation scheme and found that there were insufficient movements
in the early morning period to meet the eligibility requirements, therefore there were
no eligible dwellings.
iv. Early Morning Movement Limit:
The Airport has never exceeded the agreed limit of no more than 8 movements in a
single Early Morning Period. The maximum number was 6, which occurred on 2
occasions.
v.

Late Evening Movement Limit:
The Airport has never exceeded the agreed limit of no more than 8 movements in a
single Late Evening Period. The maximum number was 5, which occurred on one date.

5

Page 45

OTHER ACHIEVEMENTS
2.9

A summary of the performance of LBHA in its implementation of agreed Noise Action Plan
Measures as outlined with Section 4 of the NAP is summarised in Table 2.4 and Table 2.5
below.
Table 2.4 Summary of Noise Action Plan measures

NO. ACTION

STATUS

MONITOR AND MANAGE
1

Operate and maintain a noise and tracking keeping system (NMTKS) to
monitor aircraft operations.
A Noise Monitoring Track Keeping System is in use at the Airport

2

Produce noise contours, based on five-year forecast of air traffic.
The latest is attached to this report.

3

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Undertake regular reviews of procedures to minimize noise disturbance
with Biggin Hill Airport Consultative Committee (BHACC).
The Airport has conducted a series of reviews to minimise noise
disturbance.

4

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Calibrate NMTKS on an annual basis.
The noise monitors are calibrated annually by a Bruel & Kjaer (B&K)
contractor.

7

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Investigate, log and respond to all complaints relating to London Biggin
Hill Airport, reporting details to BHACC on a quarterly basis.
The Airport investigates and logs all noise complaints and the complaints,
together with the Airport’s response, are scrutinised at the Noise and
Safety Sub Committee of the BHACC.

6

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Undertake community noise surveys using NMTKS.
The Airport conducts noise surveys through the deployment of a mobile
noise monitor at the request of residents.

5

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Monitor the track-keeping and maximum noise level compliance and takes
actions as necessary.
Maximum noise level compliance is measured by the two monitors located Completed &
in the approach and departure paths for both runways.
Ongoing activity

6

Page 46

8a

Implement a scheme to incentivise operators of light and training
aircraft to install noise suppression equipment or to replace noisy
aircraft.
The airport continues to work with operators of light training aircraft to
incentivize the installation of exhaust noise suppression equipment.

8b

Implement a scheme to restrict circuit training to certain operating
hours.
All circuits, other than for flight training, are approved by the Senior Air
Traffic Control Officer (SATCO) or Chief Executive Officer (CEO).

9

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Monitor the aircraft movements comprising details of movement
numbers in each hour of each day, and runway use.
Every flight is logged into the Stonefield system by air traffic control.
These movements are reported to the BHACC on a quarterly basis.

Completed &
Ongoing activity

10a Implement introduction of a Global Positioning System (GPS) based
Runway guidance system.
In progress, See paragraph 4.10

Ongoing activity

10b Implement altered 03 - Instrument approach procedures.
In progress - See paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6. Delay in implementation of the 03
RNAV approach
10c Work with NATS and others to secure the early removal of the VOR
beacon at Biggin Hill.
In progress - see paragraph 4.9.
11

Ongoing activity

Operate controls on requested aircraft operations to contain
movements to those aircraft meeting the Biggin Hill noise limits.
Maximum noise level compliance is measured by the two monitors
located in the approach and departure paths for both runways.

12

Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Limit airport operating hours to 06.30-23.00 on weekdays, and on
Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays limit operating hours to 08.0022.00.
The Airport has clearly published its opening hours in aeronautical
publications such that they are clearly understood by aircraft operators
worldwide. These limits have not been breached.

7

Page 47

Completed &
Ongoing activity

13a

Operate the Airport to ensure that the resultant noise, expressed in
the form of Summer Daytime noise contour area does not exceed that
specified, namely 4.3 km2 at 57 dB LAeq,16h.
Noise contours are produced Quarterly by Bickerdike Allen and reported to
the BHACC. The Airport has successfully kept the footprint within the
reasonable endeavours target.

13b

Operate the Airport using reasonable endeavours to achieve actual
noise contours for daytime, early morning and late evening less than
the 2020 forecast noise contours.
Noise contours are produced Quarterly by Bickerdike Allen and reported to
the BHACC. The Airport has successfully kept the footprint within the
reasonable endeavours target.

14a

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Operate the airport using reasonable endeavours to ensure that
Chapter 4 aircraft operate within a maximum noise level set by the
noise characteristics of the Learjet 35 or a comparable aircraft.
The Airport has used all reasonable endeavours to ensure that Chapter
4 aircraft operate within a maximum noise level set by the noise
characteristics of the Learjet 35 or a comparable aircraft.

15

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Operate a ban on fixed wing aircraft that do not meet the ICAO
Chapter 4 noise certification numerical standards between 06:30 and
07:00 (except for existing based aircraft)
For new based and non-based aircraft operations, the Airport has
limited the use of the airport to those aircraft types that meet ICAO
Chapter 4 standard.

14c

Completed &
Ongoing activity

From 1 January 2016 operate a ban on fixed wing aircraft which are not
fully compliant with ICAO Chapter 3 or above noise certification
numerical standards.
The Airport has limited use of the airport to those aircraft types that
meet the ICAO Chapter 3 standard.

14b

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Manage compliance with the preferred noise routes and tolerance
limits using the Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping System NMTKS.
The NMTKS incorporates an automatic detection tool and any breach of
track violation limits or penetrations of any Noise Sensitive Areas (NSAs)
are recorded and acted upon.

8

Page 48

Completed &
Ongoing activity

16

Operate the Airport in accordance with the noise abatement
procedures delineated in the UK Aeronautical Information Publication
(AIP).
All limitations are set out in full in the UK AIP (which automatically
confers inclusion in all IFR and VFR flight guides) such that operators
understand the noise abatement measures applicable to the Airport.

17

Discourage the use of aircraft reverse thrust except where its use is
required for safety reasons.
The airport has published in the UK AIP the following:
UK AIP: EGKB AD 2.21 NOISE ABATEMENT GENERAL instructions:
Paragraph (C) Pilots are requested to avoid the use of reverse thrust or
reverse pitch above idle power settings on landing, consistent with the
safe operation of the aircraft.

18

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Engage with local planning authorities to ensure awareness of
aircraft operations is considered in land use development, for
instance with LBB over future work on the local plan.
The Airport works closely with LBB to advise against and also discourage
residential and other noise sensitive development close to the airport
boundaries or in areas likely to be affected by aircraft noise.

22

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Monitor and report progress against Noise Action Plan actions to
BHACC, provide statistics in The Performance Monitoring Report.
On an annual basis the Airport Issues a Performance Monitoring Report
(PMR) on actual summer contours.

21

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Provide information and services to the London Biggin Hill Airport
Consultative Committee (BHACC).
On a quarterly basis the Airport provides a detailed report to the BHACC.

20

Completed &
Ongoing activity

The airport will put in place a sound insulation scheme for residential
properties (RSIS) relating to exposure to noise in the early morning.
The Airport has put in place a scheme for certain residential properties
in order to mitigate the effects of aircraft noise during the period 06:30 to
07:00 (the Early Morning Period).

19

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Provide an information pack to local estate Agents, and to those seeking
information on local conditions prior to relocating to near the Airport or
its departure and arrival tracks.
The Airport tailors information packs to local estate agents relating to a
specific property enquiry. This on request pack will identify how a specific
property may be affected by the Airport operations.

9

Page 49

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Table 2.5 Research and Reporting

NO. RESEARCH AND REPORTING
i
Carry out a review of arrival and departure routes, based on the results trial
any new procedure with the aim of reducing further the over flight of
residential areas.
The 21 VFR departure route was modified in 2019/20 and work continues to
trial further procedural changes.

TIMING
2015 – ongoing

ii

Use reasonable endeavours to promote and support airspace changes in
order to benefit local residents through the creation of greater amount of
controlled airspace.
This activity falls under the London Airspace Modernisation Programme
(LAMP)

2016

Prepare and issue quarterly complaints report.
These reports are compiled and issued to the BHACC via the Noise and Safety
Sub Committee
Prepare and issue Integrated Noise Monitoring (INM) report when contours
are prepared.

Ongoing
Completed &
Ongoing activity
Ongoing

These reports are compiled and issued to the BHACC

Completed &
Ongoing activity
Ongoing
Completed &
Ongoing activity
2016

iii

iv

v

Prepare and issue five yearly Performance Monitoring Report
This activity has been undertaken as part of the 5-year review of the NAP

vi

Investigate the potential and benefit that might arise from introducing a
departure noise preferential route track performance target, with penalties
for recurrent failures to meet target.
Track Violation limits are in place and performance is monitored through the
SANARB

vii

viii

ix

Ongoing activity

Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

Investigate the potential and benefit that might arise from introducing a
Biggin Hill specific Code of Practice for Arriving Aircraft.
Briefing leaflets (Code of Conduct) covering arriving aircraft have been
produced and published. These are subject to constant review

2017

Investigate the potential and benefit that might arise from introducing a
Biggin Hill specific Code of Practice for Departing Aircraft.
Briefing leaflets (Code of Conduct) covering departing aircraft have been
produced and published. These are subject to constant review

2017

Dependent on the related work with NATS investigate the potential and
benefit that might arise from introducing continuous descent arrival (CDA)
and continuous climb departure (CCD) performance at London biggin Hill.
This activity falls under the London Airspace Modernisation Programme
(LAMP)

2017

10

Page 50

Completed

Completed

Ongoing activity

x

xi

Work with operators, NATS and other stakeholders to introduce new
technologies which can reduce noise impact.
This remains an on-going activity

Ongoing

Review communication material and the Airports’ website with respect to
noise/noise management.
This remains an on-going activity and addressed in action 6.1 (15)

2017

11

Page 51

Ongoing activity

Completed &
Ongoing activity

3.0

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC COMPLAINTS

3.1

Table 3.1 shows the total number of complaints received each year.
Table 3.1 Total number of complaints per year (2016-2020)

Year

Total
complaints

No of flights in
that year

2016

81

50,861

2017

277

50,090

2018

297

43,405

2019

233

39,109

2020

346

28,205

3.2

The installation of the noise and track keeping system has made it easier for residents to
monitor flights retrospectively and also to make comments / complaints.

3.3

The system, together with the responses from the Airport, are adjudged by the Noise &
Safety Sub Committee of the Consultative Committee to be working well and further analysis
of the comments follows in 3.5 below together with the geographical and comments ratio
analysis in Appendix 2.

3.4

Meanwhile, for those residents beneath the approach route of the business jets, efforts to
reduce the noise continue to be addressed by a) more flights to use 03 (see 6.1.1), and
b) increasing the approach path from 3 degrees to 3.5 degrees (see 6.1.5).

3.5

Whilst not all complaints fall into a single category, the top 5 categories of complaints and
their % of all complaints are as follows:
i.

Off track (45%): Tracks that fail to follow noise preferential routes, procedures or
penetrate NSAs. The majority of these complaints relate to light aviation.

ii.

Noise (12%): Tracks that cause a noise disturbance but are following preferential routes
and procedures.

iii. Low flying (10%): Tracks that appear at a lower attitude than ‘normal’ when following
procedures or general low flying complaints.
iv. Noise & low flying (7%): Tracks that cause a noise disturbance and appear to be at a
lower altitude than expected.
v.

Increase in flights (5%): Complaints regarding a perceived increase in overall
movements or frequency of movements at a particular time.

12

Page 52

3.6

All complaints are investigated by the Airport. Where pilots have breached any noise
abatement procedure, then they are contacted to account for their actions. The Safety and
Noise Abatement Review Board then consider sanctions in accordance with paragraph 4.37
of the NAP.

3.7

Since the implementation of extended operating hours, the Airport has banned 4 operators,
fined one operator, issued over 145 Initial Warning letters and 7 Final Warning letters for
infringements of operating procedures. The low ratio of Final Warning letters and fines
issued, indicates high compliance once operators are advised of non-compliances.

3.8

Chart 3.2 shows the top 5 areas from which complaints are submitted with a comparison
between the total number of complaints and the total number of individuals submitting a
complaint. A map showing these top 5 areas and the average number of complaints per
person received is at Appendix 2.
Chart 3.2 Top 5 areas for complaints received

Top 5 complaint areas
Biggin Hill

Keston

Orpington

Farnborough

Petts Wood
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100110120130140150160170180190200210220230240250260270280
Individuals

Complaints

13

Page 53

4.0

CONSIDERATION OF OTHER MATTERS RAISED BY SANARB, BHACC AND
RESIDENTS:

London Borough of Bromley Oversight
4.1

LBB appointed a full time Airport Monitoring Officer in 2020, who attends both the Noise
and Safety Sub Committee of the Biggin Hill Airport Consultative Committee (BHACC) and
the Safety and Noise Action Review Board (SANARB). The LBB Airport Monitoring Officer has
direct contact with the Airport’s Chief Executive Officer and Head of Corporate Social
Responsibility on a regular basis. Additionally, the LLB portfolio holder for Resources,
Commissioning and Contract Management, which covers the Airport, attends the BHACC.

4.2

The following process is followed for all complaints:

Complaint
Received

Investigation

Compliant
with NAP

Response with
Explanation

Non-Compliant
with NAP

SANARB
Sanctions

Initial Warning

Noise & Safety
Sub Committee

Airport
Consultative
Committee

14

Page 54

Final Warning

Delay in Implementation of the 03 RNAV approach
4.3

Airspace Change Procedures (ACP) are extremely complex and the Airport has had to follow
a defined set of Stages as outlined within Civil Air Publication (CAP) 725. Over the past 5
years, as a result of consultation with residents and other key stakeholders, the Airport has
amended the original route design on 3 separate occasions. Each change has necessitated
further stakeholder consultation, which has effectively reset the process to Stage 3 of CAP
725 – Preparing for Consultation.

4.4

Consultation by its nature is unpredictable and, therefore, its outcome cannot be reasonably
foreseen, certainly not in 2015 when the NAP was written. However, it is absolutely critical
the Airport takes into consideration the feedback from residents and altered the design
based on this consultation.

4.5

As a result of the configuration of the airspace to the south of the Airport, the design of the
03-approach had to take into consideration the requirement to ensure deconfliction with
both Heathrow and Gatwick departures. This resulted in a greater onus on the Airport to
ensure its design was acceptable in every requirement. Progress regarding the final approval
of the 03 approach ACP has been further delayed by limited Civil Aviation Authority (CAA)
resources covering instrument flight procedures design approval, the specific design
requirements of this approach and government policy prioritising airspace changes from
smaller airports without an existing instrument approach.

4.6

The process is now at Stage 5, which is the final CAA approval stage prior to
implementation.

4.7

Given that the Airport has already spent approximately £450K and is severely impacted
financially by not having the 03 approach in place, the Airport is fully committed to bringing
this operation into action as soon and as safely as practicable.
The Airport will continue to complete the remaining tasks within Stage 5 of the CAP 725
process and work to implement the 03 RNAV approach as soon as practicable.
Accuracy and utility of Webtrak

4.8

Over the operational life of the system, the Airport has been in close contact with Bruel &
Kjaer to fine tune the software to operate as effectively as possible in Biggin Hill’s
environment. The most significant change that is visible to public users of the Webtrak
system is the reduction of delay in playback time from 45 minutes to 25 minutes.

4.9

Light Aviation aircraft using the airport tend not to be technically equipped to the same high
standards as all airline and business jet aircraft. The Webtrak system relies heavily on the
provision of radar data supplied by the UK’s National Air Traffic Services (NATS) and,
although all aircraft are visible, the level of information presented by the aircraft avionics
limits the amount of data displayed on Webtrak. Residents can still submit a complaint via
Webtrak even if the track is not displayed, or alternatively via email or phone.

15

Page 55

4.10

Following queries by residents regarding specific tracks, Webtrak was able to plot the raw
radar points from the London Heathrow source feed and show the correlating Webtrack
track and clearly demonstrate the accuracy of its track building algorithm.
The Airport is fully confident with the accuracy of Webtrak and will continue to
use it to monitor compliance against the NAP.
Missing flights/Suppressed Secondary Surveillance Radar (SSR) codes

4.11

Some tracks do not appear on the Webtrak system and these are primarily as a result of the
mandatory suppression of certain SSR (transponder) codes by the authorities / government.
This mandatory requirement is necessary in the interests of national security and it is
governed by National Air Traffic Services. The Airport has no influence in this process. The
list of suppressed codes is extensive and is applied nationally, irrespective of the location of
the sensitive flight.
The suspension of certain SSRs codes is made in the interests of national security
and the Airport will continue to monitor this activity.

Delay in removal of the beacon (BIG VOR)
4.12

National Air Traffic Services first briefed the CAA and wider industry on its intent to
rationalise the aging UK ground-based radio navigational aids (NAVAIDS) infrastructure in
2008. Since then, NATS have been involved in a series of engagements culminating in an
update to Airports in October 2018. This remains a NATS led change process.

4.13

NATS continue to work with all airports regarding the forthcoming removal of some of the
VOR facilities across the UK, which includes the VOR at Biggin Hill. NATS will have removed
all on-route dependencies and have advised that the beacon will be decommissioned by
December 2022.
The Airport will continue to engage with National Air Traffic Services to
decommission the BIG VOR beacon by December 2022.

Delay in introduction of GPS based runway guidance system
4.14

The Airport continues to work with NATS and the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) to introduce
improved Global Positioning Satellite based aircraft guidance procedures for all arriving and
departing aircraft, on both Runway 03 and 21. However, the UK will not now be joining the
Pan-European satellite navigation subsystem program, having been excluded post-Brexit;
hence the need for the Airport to continue with both the 21 and 03 airspace change
procedures.
The Airport will continue to progress the airspace changes relating to
Runway 21 overlay and 03 to produce GPS approaches.

16

Page 56

Monitoring of Noise Sensitive Areas
4.15

The establishment of Noise Sensitive Areas is contained within Appendix 3 to the
Management Information Letter (MIL) dated 19th May 2016. These are monitored both
automatically and via residents’ complaints through the NMTKS. Breaches are reviewed by
the Airport Safety and Noise Abatement Board. Critically, the following points must be
emphasised:
•
•
•

Noise Sensitive Areas are not no fly zones.
Pilots avoid NSAs only when safe to do so.
NSAs only apply to aircraft operating from Biggin Hill Airport or under control of Biggin
Hill air traffic control.

4.16

Reference to ‘No Fly Zones’ in the NAP 2015 was inserted in inverted commas as a
simplification of the explanation of a Noise Sensitive Area and not a literal description.

4.17

In accordance with paragraph 4.21 of the NAP, it may be necessary for air traffic control to
instruct light aircraft to adopt a route which takes them over some residential areas.
Additionally, in accordance with Appendix 3 to the MIL, for reasons of safety for their aircraft
and passengers on board, the pilot in command retains the ultimate decision about the
performance of their flight. Whilst Appendix 3 to the MIL provides an illustrative diagram
showing the geographical position of the established NSAs, the actual extent of the NSAs is
programmed into the NMTKS.

4.18

The Airport acknowledges that home-based aircraft compliance of NSAs remains high;
however, the Airport will continue to work to ensure visiting aircraft are continually
reminded regarding their obligations to comply with noise abatement procedures.
The Airport will work with Navigational Service providers, such as ‘Sky Demon’ to ensure
correlation between Webtrak NSA positional data and navigational systems.

Helicopter Operations
4.19

Given the generally lower altitudes and the nature of noise generated from rotors,
helicopter operations remain a concern for some residents. Helicopters normally follow light
aircraft routes and the associated noise preferential routes. The Airport will continue to
develop appropriate routes for helicopter operations.
The Airport will continue to work with helicopter operators to investigate measures to
further reduce noise disturbance wherever possible.

Establishment of Track Violation Limits (TVL)
4.20

All IFR departures off runway 03 to the north and 21 to the south are required to follow a
noise preferential route (NPRs). Given that aircraft have differing performance criteria, the
routes are contained within a ‘corridor’, the lateral limits of which are monitored by TVL. As
per paragraph 4.37a of the NAP, noise preferential routes are defined by the TVLs that are
set in the programming of the NMTKS.
The Airport will continue to monitor Track Violation Limits through the programming of
the NMTKS
17

Page 57

Improvements to Public Communications
4.21

The Airport has made changes to its communications and procedures in response to resident
complaints and requests from the BHACC:
i.

The time delay between being able to observe a track and view on Webtrak has been
reduced from 45 minutes to 25 minutes.

ii.

Recording of movement data to the BHACC has been modified to ensure greater clarity
and transparency.

iii. Outcomes of reviews of the SANARB are now included in quarterly reports presented to
the BHACC via the Noise and Safety Sub Committee.
iv. The Airport has trialled and amended the light aircraft departure route off runway 21 to
reduce close-in noise and assist adherence to NSAs.
v.

The Airport has introduced a Facebook notification initiative to make local residents
aware of any unusual movements; for example, military training flights.

vi. As part of the Airport’s ‘Return to the Skies’ initiative during COVID, the Airport placed
enhanced restrictions on circuit flights and will investigate their future deployment.

18

Page 58

5.0

FUTURE NOISE ASSESSMENTS AND TRAFFIC FORECASTS

5.1

Future growth depends upon government policy, development of other airports and the
economic performance of the country in a post-Brexit environment.

5.2

Over the next 5 years the Airport will continue its present successful strategy of growing the
business in 3 ways:
i.

As an important gateway to and from London supporting the capital as a world city and
providing ease of access for users of the business and general aviation sectors. In this
role we anticipate continuing the upward trend that we experienced over the past 5
years, excluding COVID.

ii.

As a home base for a growing number of corporate, commercial and private owned
aircraft. In this role we anticipate expanding hangarage capacity, attracting small
support service suppliers and generating up to 8 jobs for each base aircraft we attract.

iii. As a service centre for a growing number of aircraft manufacturers and their agents,
selling, maintaining and refurbishing aircraft. In this role we expect to experience some
new customers and further growth from many of the 60 companies already based on
the airport and add up to 400 new modern well-paid jobs on the airport.
5.3

Table 5.1 below, represents the 2025 Forecast of Annual Movements.
Table 5.1 2025 Forecast Annual Movements

Aircraft Category

2025 Forecast Annual
Movements
32,500
22,000
54,750

Business Aviation
Light Aviation
Total
5.4

All of the above can be accommodated well within our agreed 57dB maximum noise contour
footprint for the Airport and the cap of 125,000 annual flights, as illustrated by the noise
contours attached at Appendix 3. Table 5.2 below also shows that the 2025 forecast falls
within the reasonable endeavours noise area footprint produced and agreed in the
2016/2020 forecast.
Table 5.2 2025 forecast 57 dB LAeq,16h Summer Daytime Contours

Summer Daytime Contour Area, km2
Contour,
LAeq,16h

2025 Forecast

Contour Area Limit

57 dB

2.9

4.3

2.9

63 dB

0.9

-

-

69 dB

0.4

-

-

Reasonable
Endeavours Limit

19

Page 59

5.5

In terms of number of flights the expected noise contours over the next 5 years have assumed
that there will be 54,500 movements in the year 2025 compared with the forecast in 2020 of
49,500, an increase of circa 2.2% per annum.

5.6

As agreed, the noise contours are monitored quarterly/annually in accordance with the NAP
and, in the event that the forecast number of flights is expected to be exceeded, we will
produce a revised noise contour forecast in consultation with the Airport Consultative
Committee and ensure that it remains within the agreed 57dB noise contour limit for the
Airport, and in the respective morning and evening opening hours.

20

Page 60

6.0

SUMMARY

6.1

The Airport has operated well within the 57dB contours area agreed in accordance with the NAP
and has made excellent progress on the commitments made within the NAP. In accordance with
paragraph 4.34 of the NAP, the Airport will take the following measures to further reduce noise
disturbance over the next 5 years:
NO. ACTION

STATUS

1

The Airport will continue to complete the remaining tasks within Stage
5 of the CAP 725 process and work to implement the 03 RNAV
approach as soon as practicable.

Ongoing activity

2

Engage with London Airspace Modernisation Programme (LAMP) to
design optimum routes that reduce noise impact on residents.

Ongoing activity

3

Continue to engage with NATS to decommission the BIG VOR beacon by
December 2022.

Ongoing activity

4

The Airport will continue to progress the ACP relating to Runway 21
overlay to produce a Global Positioning Satellite navigation approach.

New 2020 &
ongoing activity

5

The Airport will endeavour to ensure that the Runway 21 ACP includes
an increase in the approach angle and enable the Airport to increase all
approaches to 3.5 degrees.

New 2020 &
ongoing activity

6

Undertake a specific trial to identify the challenges and disparity
between a ground observered aircraft position and its track.

New 2021

7

Undertake a specific trial to ascertain the difference in noise between a
light aircraft overhead and then offset to one side to quantify the
difference in noise.

New 2021

8

Related to action 6 & 7, correlate trial data to assess accuracy of
Webtrak against GPS navigational aids.

New 2021

9

Consideration to extending limits on circuit operations and imposing
additional restrictions on ground noise.

New 2021

10

Work with Navigational Service providers, such as ‘Sky Demon’ to
ensure correlation between Webtrak NSA positional data and
navigational systems.

New 2021

11

The Airport will continue to monitor Track Violation Limits through the
programming of the NMTKS.

Ongoing activity

12

The Airport will publish the relevant NSA and Track Violation limits (if
applicable) when responding to residents’ observations.

New 2021

21

Page 61

NO. ACTION

STATUS

13

Continue to work with helicopter operators to investigate measures to
further reduce noise disturbance.

Ongoing activity

14

Work with LBB to enhance public understanding through online briefing
packs and simplification of technical terminology.

New 2021

15

The Airport will encourage further use of the mobile noise monitor to
allow residents to independently assess actual noise levels.

Ongoing activity

16

Capture lessons learnt from other airports to produce web-based
information on departure routes and operating procedures.

ongoing activity

17

Seek to follow the recommendations of the governments new
independent commission on civil aviation noise (ICCAN) guidance and
for noise action plans, where appropriate.

New 2021

22

Page 62

Appendix 1

Page 63
23

Appendix 2
The top 5 areas submitting the most complaints: Total number of complaints during the 5 year period, total
number of complainants and average complaints per complainant. For example: In Farnborough, 195
complaints came from 7 complainants; this is an average of 27.85 complaints per complainant.

24

Page 64

Appendix 3
Numbers indicated are for IFR Noise Preferential Departure routes only and show peak hour and average
movements per hour from peak months for that departure profile.
Tracks depicted are illustrative only and are not to be taken as operationally or geographically accurate

25

Page 65

Appendix 4
Numbers indicated are for IFR arrival routes only and show peak hour and average movements per hour
from peak months for that approach profile.
Tracks depicted are illustrative only and are not to be taken as operationally or geographically accurate

26

Page 66

Appendix 5

London Biggin Hill Airport
A11103-N19-DR
7th July 2021
Noise Action Plan 2025 Forecast Noise Contours

1.0

INTRODUCTION
London Biggin Hill Airport (LBHA) are currently undertaking a review of their Noise Action Plan
(NAP). As part of the review, LBHA are required to “assess performance with respect to the
previously forecast noise envelope, based on the latest five-year forecasts of air traffic
movements”.
To assist with this LBHA have retained Bickerdike Allen Partners LLP (BAP) to produce summer
daytime noise contours, based on forecast movements for 2025. This note reports the area of
the noise contours and compares them with the contour area limits and includes an overview of
the methodology used to produce the contours.

2.0

METHODOLOGY
The noise contours have been produced using the same methodology as was used to produce
the 2020 summer contours, which is reported in BAP report A11103-R04-DR dated February
2021. This involved the noise contours being produced using the FAA’s Integrated Noise Model
(INM) version 7.0d and allows for local terrain.
LBHA have provided a high-level forecast of annual aircraft movements for 2025. In order to
obtain the detail needed to produce the noise contours, the actual daytime movements in 2019
have been factored up to the forecast number of movements, taking into account the categories of
movement, as shown in Table 1 below. The 125 movements by military aircraft in 2019, which were
generally associated with the Festival of Flight, have been excluded from this assessment. 2020
was not used as a basis as the movements are not considered representative due to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic.
A small number of movements at LBHA occur in the early morning period (06:30-06:59), these
movements are not included within daytime contours. To allow for this the equivalent of 2
movements per weekday have been subtracted from the forecast. These would result in an early
morning contour approximately equal to the contour area that the airport are currently
required to make reasonable endeavours to remain below.

A11103-N19-DR

Page 1 of 3

7th July 2021

Page 67

Number of Annual Daytime Aircraft Movements
Category

2019 Actual

2025 Forecast[1]

Factor[1]

Business Aviation

15,995

32,189

2.01

Light Aviation

22,040

21,790

1.00

[1] Numbers

are rounded, the exact numbers have been used for all calculations.

Table 1: 2019 Actual and 2025 Forecast Annual Daytime Aircraft Movements
To produce a forecast of summer daytime movements, the factors above were applied to the
actual summer daytime movements in 2019. A summary of the resulting movements by INM
aircraft type is shown below in Table 2.
INM Aircraft Type

2025 Forecast Summer Daytime Movements

BEC58P

246

CL600

648

CL601

469

CNA172

463

CNA206

688

CNA208

721

CNA510

1,169

CNA525C

1,109

CNA560XL

853

CNA680

904

DHC6

1,618

EMB145

767

F10062

378

GASEPF

673

GASEPV

614

GIV

459

GV

823

LEAR35

328

PA28

1,857

Other Fixed Wing

1,199

Helicopters

1,237

[1]

17,221

Total
[1]

Total may not match due to rounding

Table 2: 2025 Forecast Summer Daytime Movements

A11103-N19-DR

Page 2 of 3

7th July 2021

Page 68

3.0

NOISE CONTOURS
The resulting summer daytime noise contours are shown in the attached Figure A11060-N19-01 at
values of 57, 63 and 69 dB LAeq,16h. The figure also includes indicative contours representing the 57
dB contour area limit and the 57 dB contour area LBHA are required to use reasonable endeavours
to remain below. The areas of the noise contours are shown below in Table 3.
The 2025 forecast 57 dB LAeq,16h contour area is smaller than the contour area limit of 4.3 km 2, and
is equal to the 2.9 km2 area that LBHA are required to use reasonable endeavours to remain below.

Summer Daytime Contour Area, km2
Contour,
LAeq,16h

2025 Forecast

Contour Area Limit

57 dB

2.9

4.3

2.9

63 dB

0.9

-

-

69 dB

0.4

-

-

Reasonable
Endeavours Limit

Table 3: Summer Daytime Noise Contour Areas

4.0

SUMMARY
BAP have produced summer daytime noise contours for 2025 based on a forecast provided by
LBHA. The area of the 57 dB LAeq,16h contour is below the contour area limit, and equal to the area
that LBHA are required to use reasonable endeavours to remain below.

Duncan Rogers

David Charles

for Bickerdike Allen Partners

Partner

Footnote: The 2019 actual movements contained with Table1 are, for the purposes of noise footprints,
classified according to aircraft type/size as a proxy for the type of operation of the flight.

A11103-N19-DR

Page 3 of 3

7th July 2021

Page 69

Page 70

Memorandum
Project:
Subject:
Prepared:
Date:
Reference:

London Biggin Hill Airport
NAP Review: July 2021 report
Lee Montague
08 September 2021
20/0246/M1
Revision: 0

Approved: AE

1 Introduction
1.1 It is coming to the end of a 5 year period where the existing Noise Action Plan (NAP) should
be reviewed and updated where necessary to cover the next 5 year period. RSK Acoustics
(formerly Cole Jarman) undertook an audit of material relevant to the implementation of the
NAP in August 2020.
1.2 Details are contained within memo 20/0246/M1 (dated 27 August 2020). The comments of
that memo still stand, with this memo now considering the most recent specific document
provided by London Borough of Bromley (LBB) to us to review.
1.3 This memo reviews the London Biggin Hill Airport (LBHA) July 2021 document ‘Review of
Noise Action Plan’. Part of this memo reviews items as proposed by LBHA to be considered in
the future for the next iteration of the NAP as well as making recommendations for additional
parameters or information to be made available or to be considered to assist the development
of the new NAP.
Covid
1.4 We note that over the last 12-18 months the commercial aviation industry has been heavily
affected by the Covid Pandemic, with significantly less commercial flights nationally and
globally. LBHA reported in summer 2020 similar drops in flight movements as to other UK
airports. RSK Acoustics have not seen the latest quarterly reports, but do note the movements
information contained in the NAP review document this memo is the subject of.
1.5 The pandemic should not affect the underlying principles and further development of the new
NAP. Given the period of lower numbers of movements it can be argued that the NAP is more
important than ever when the relative year on year increase in movements could potentially be
the highest for many years gone by.

RSK Acoustics Limited Reg. in England and Wales No. 7102436
rskacoustics.com info@rskacoustics.com +44 (0)1932 829007

Registered Office: Spring Lodge, 172 Chester Road, Helsby, WA6 0AR
Addlestone | Bristol | Coventry | Glasgow | Helsby | Hemel | Leeds | Manchester

Page 71

NAP Review: July 2021 report
2 Background
2.1 Part of the reason the NAP was originally brought into being was because of an extension of
hours of operation of the airport. Since May 2016 the airport had been able to operate flights
in the periods 0630-0700 and 2200-2300 when previously it was not. Many restrictions were
put in place to ensure residents were not adversely affected by these changes. Such measures
included setting noise envelopes in terms of area that must not be exceeded, and alternative
areas which the airport should strive to meet based upon using ‘reasonable endeavours’.
Meeting the ‘reasonable endeavours’ contour envelope is not technically a strict requirement
providing such endeavours have been undertaken.
2.2 In addition to the NAP which contains multiple issues to be addressed, further information and
requirements are set out in the Management Information Letter (MIL). This includes 21 actions
points on how the NAP should be implemented.
2.3 As noted in memo 20/0246/M1, the onus falls predominantly to LBHA to implement the
existing NAP and manage the process it entails, but it is important that any responsibilities
falling to LBB have been actioned and appropriate records kept. The first stage of the process
should therefore check that all relevant information has been received by LBB, records kept
and actions undertaken as required.
2.4 RSK Acoustics are aware of Airport Consultative Committee (ACC) reports up to July 2020 and
other information up to October 2020 that has been received by LBB. On review of these it is
understood that all relevant information concerning complaints, aircraft movement data and
noise contours has been provided. It should be confirmed that since this time, it has been the
case and (assuming it is) will continue to be the case, that any complaints made directly to LBB
must be shared with LBHA as necessary.
2.5 Memo M1 notes that many of the MIL items have already been effectively completed, but a
number require further consideration. These are repeated from M1 below:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

8. Controls on aircraft permitted to use the airport;
9. Controls on flying training;
11. Introduction of a GPS based runway guidance system;
12. Changing the height of arriving and departing aircraft;
13. Changing the “03 instrument approach”;
14. Controls in the new shoulder period;
16. Relocating the VOR beacon;
17. Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping System;
19. Level of fines;
20. NAP Review;
21. Helicopters.

2.6 Although part of this memo and the LBHA report look to the development of a new NAP, part
of the process in forming a new iteration is to ensure the existing NAP, which is still in place is
being followed and implemented accordingly; and to assess the airports own performance
against the NAP requirements.
Page 2

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 72

NAP Review: July 2021 report
2.7 In addition to the local level review of the airport and the NAP, since the original NAP was
introduced there has been significant developments in terms of national policy regarding
aviation noise and the publication of new supporting evidence. Much of this national
guidance is noted to apply to more commercial airports rather than General Aviation (light
aircraft) or Business Aviation (GABA). However, it still provides useful context on the general
direction of Government policy and applicable standards.
2.8 For example the onset of significant community annoyance is now understood to be 54dB
LAeq,16h (daytime) rather than formally 57dB. These levels should be considered carefully as to
how they might apply in relation to GABA aviation of an existing and established airport, and
also how they might apply to the local community response. A knee jerk reduction in criteria
for established operating airports is not necessarily warranted by default and the local context
and specific issues should be considered carefully in relation to up to date information.
2.9 The July 2021 LBHA document reviews their own performance over the last 5 years,
summarises complaints and observations and notes future noise predictions and mitigation
measures proposed to reduce noise for the forthcoming 5 years. The finding are
supplemented by data and contours issued quarterly via the ACC quarterly reports.

3 Review of Section 2 - NAP: Review of Performance
3.1 Section 2 of the July 2021 LBHA report includes up to date data in relation to movement data
and noise contours. A summary and statistics of the complaints received by the airport directly
is also presented. This is in line with the quarterly reporting style, we which assume has
continued since July 2020.
3.2 It is noted in the report that the noise contours (2020 contour contained in Appendix 1) are
being produced based upon the agreed methods as set out in 2016. This is expanded upon in
Appendix 3 of the report which is a summary with the noise contours from Bickerdike Allen
Partners (BAP) with reference to the development of the 2025 predicted contours.
3.3 This method is fair to ensure like for like comparison and consistency, however we note that at
some point in the future (and perhaps the new NAP is a good time) it may be prudent to
update the noise model used to newer software. INM (version 7.0d) is now out of date and
more recent software from the FAA (AEDT) has been available for some time (the latest version
at time of writing being 3d released March 2021). As new aircraft are introduced the AEDT
database will be updated whereas the INM database will not.
3.4 If custom flight profiles have been developed for individual aircraft types (rather than using
default profiles) within the INM software then this is less critical, but in the interest of future
proofing, given the new plan will last for 5 years, the adoption of more up to date software
may be warranted. This could potentially be a new NAP item.
3.5 When moving between software (especially if custom profiles are to be adopted), it is
beneficial to input data for historic contours and potentially re-set the noise envelopes and
areas limits stated, in case the new software gives differing results. This can potentially be an in
Page 3

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 73

NAP Review: July 2021 report
depth technical process, the results of which will require review from LBB to accept any
alteration to the noise envelope shape or areas limits; but after the one off effort of making the
switch of software, the noise model (on which a lot of onus is placed) will be better future
proofed.
3.6 Table 2.1 (section 2.3) of the report shows the predicted 2020 movements (as estimated in
2015). Table 2.2 then shows the actual movements. The 2020 movement data has been
affected by Covid and subsequent commentary confirms this (as can be found in the ACC
meeting minutes).
3.7 Table 2.2 show the movements for other years in total, but it would be useful to see the
breakdown for business and light aviation for these years. Moving forward in the new NAP,
including more detail in the figures may be useful. This might also include breakdown of what
flights are arrivals, departures and training / circuit movements. Knowing the number of
movements on each runway might also be helpful, especially with potential changes to
operation related to 03 to be implemented.
3.8 The busiest years were actually 2016 and 2017, and historically the movements were reduced
into 2018 by LBHA themselves to ensure compliance with the NAP. This was done by not
renewing flying school contracts. This is a positive intervention from LBHA that demonstrate
their commitment to the NAP.
3.9 2020 movement numbers are down against estimate (due to covid), but it would be interesting
to see the breakdown of business and light aircraft to see if any changes in pattern have
developed and how the noise model might vary due to fleet mix.
3.10 The use of the forecast data (with annual movements of 49,500) in this assessment is therefore
robust against what the actual situation was, and is also in line with approximate number from
2016 and 2017, so shows the upper level of movements expected.
3.11 Later in the report and this memo reviewing it, we consider the future noise contours and the
forecasts underpinning them.
3.12 Section 2.7 of the report notes the airport are achieving the limits for areas of 57dB contour in
morning and evening. They say they are within the 16 hour day area by 50% of the UDP
envelope. This along with the quarterly reporting contours suggest the airport have met all the
requirements of the NAP.
3.13 They state only 17 infringements of noise limits for individual aircraft over 5 years and most of
those were only by 1dB. They say this is from the noise and track keeping system. This
suggests that LBHA are adhering to policies and practices that are working in general.
3.14 It is noted that no dwellings fell within the Sound Insulation Grant Scheme (SIGS) for early
morning flights. SIGS are well established from other commercial airports and in the new NAP
the limit should be reviewed against latest guidance and against what other airports are
offering.

Page 4

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 74

NAP Review: July 2021 report
3.15 In terms of movements in the AM shoulder period, it is noted that there was on no occasion
more than 6 movements and that number only occurred 2 times (we assume in the entirety of
the last 5 years as the report sections notes ‘since the interdiction of the extended hours’).
This is within 8 annual movement limit. The history of setting the 8 movements limit should be
reviewed. If they have successfully operated with no more than 6 flights for some time,
perhaps the new NAP could restrict this limit. However, that is an arbitrary suggestion and
more research into establishing the rationale for a limit on a technical basis should be sought to
inform the new NAP and potential for altering the limits.
3.16 It is reported that there were a maximum of 5 movements in the late evening period and that
only occurred once. This is within 8 movements limit. As with the morning matter, the review
of this limit should be considered in developing the revised NAP.
3.17 Table 2.4 sets out the NAP actions to be undertaken over the 5 year period and if they have
been achieved. Most have been completed or are on-going; with just a few which are ongoing but not technically completed.
3.18 These are the implementation of GPS system; implement altered 03 instrument approach
procedures; and Remove VOR. Details of why these measures have been delayed or not yet
completed are given and seem reasonable, as it is understood the airport are making efforts or
are otherwise committed to seeing these item through.
3.19 Some further evidence of items listed as completed would be beneficial to confirm compliance
(if not already provided) especially where items are less tangible with less specific outcomes,
such as promise to undertake reviews, but not confirmed if practices have been amended as a
result. For instance, if jets are using reverse thrust or not, or how often.

4 Review of Section 3 - Public Complaints
4.1 Table 3.1 of the report lists the numbers of complaints over the last 5 years. The numbers have
increased significantly despite a reduction in aircraft. These statistics are supplemented by
information in the ACC quarterly reports. The report notes that most complaints are due to off
track light aircraft.
4.2 LBHA note that the track keeping system now makes it easier to identify specific aircraft that
are the cause of peoples complaints, so people are more likely to complain.
4.3 With regards to being off track, it is later noted how the airport does enforce its controls and
issuing warnings and sanctioning people found to be in breach of noise or track restrictions.
For example section 3.7 notes:
Since the implementation of extended operating hours, the Airport has banned 4 operators,
fined one operator, issued over 145 Initial Warning letters and 7 Final Warning letters for
infringements of operating procedures. The low ratio of Final Warning letters and fines issued,
indicates high compliance once operators are advised of non-compliances.

Page 5

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 75

NAP Review: July 2021 report
4.4 Chart 3.2 shows that there are likely multiple complaints from individuals, especially in
Farnborough and Petts Wood. This is further evidenced in the ACC reports. No complaints
should be ignored, but we appreciate repeat complaints from low numbers of individuals can
skew the statistics and inflate headline numbers of complaints.

5 Review of Section 4 - Other matters
5.1 The publication of the complaints procedure flow chart is useful and if not already, should be
made available to the public so they can see the process. Transparency in such processes and
ensuring people are aware of the outcomes is good for community relations. It would be
interesting to know if residents are informed of sanctions imposed if a non-compliant NAP
issue is found.
5.2 This section goes on to give background to the items of the NAP noted earlier as not being
completed within the 5 years.
5.3 Section 4.7 highlights some residents’ issues with the accuracy of the webtrak track keeping
system. LBHA have noted they do regularly ensure it is accurate and calibrated. It is this
consultant’s understanding that LBB is working with LBHA to independently validate the
accuracy.
5.4 Section 4.8 notes some flights are not on webtrak due to national security. Complaints which
are not identifiable on webtrak, but can be correlated to noise monitors should still be
actioned; for example if national security flights are not following Noise Preferential Routes
(NPRs) or other requirements, then they should also be held to account (assuming the reason
for non-compliance is not a national security necessity).
5.5 Such flights should also form part of the noise contour process and the minimum information
related to such flights (that does not compromise security) should somehow be recorded for
the purposes of noise modelling. Confirmation if this can happen / is happening or will
happen should be sought. If this is not viable, justifiable reasons should be outlined.
5.6 Section 4.10 notes a delay to the implementation of a GPS system. The section goes on to
note that the UK is not joining the pan-European satellite navigation subsystem program. It
should be confirmed if a GPS or equivalent system is still intended to be adopted.
5.7 Section 4.13 notes helicopter use, but is a little vague. Helicopters have been raised as a
potential issue and historically have not been given as much consideration as fixed wing
aircraft; may be due to the relatively low numbers compared to fixed wing.
5.8 More specific details of noise abatement procedures for rotary aircraft should be developed
with stakeholder engagement and this could form part of the new NAP.
5.9 Section 4.14 notes the implementation of Track Violation Limits (TVLs). It notes that corridors
have been assigned to allow some flexibility for the varied operation of different aircraft
following NPRs. If there are regular complaints from aircraft passing towards the edges of the
Page 6

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 76

NAP Review: July 2021 report
TVLs, then the corridors should be reviewed to see if they can be tightened. This might or
might not be possible until GPS and more accurate navigation is implemented, but if it is not a
physical safety issue for an aircraft, the TVLs could potentially be reviewed.

6 Summary of Existing NAP and MIL
6.1 It does appear that LBHA are following the existing NAP, and the relatively low number of
individual complainants suggests measures are working reasonably. It is good to see that real
sanctions are being implemented on pilots or operators who are in breach of requirements.
6.2 Transparency and sharing of information publicly are critical to enable fair and open review
and to empower the public when they have a legitimate complaint. It is understood additional
information is being made available to the public via the airport website. Such process should
continue and although not necessarily on the same scale, larger designated airports have good
examples of their own websites of how to convey noise information to the public.
6.3 The adoption of mobile noise monitors should be continued and their use maximised so they
are used continually, even at surrogate locations where a complaint has not specifically been
received. This could assist in calibrating the noise contours to check noise levels at various
locations around the community even if a complaint has not specifically been received.
6.4 Of the MIL or NAP items raised in memo M1 (repeated above in section 2.5) most have been
considered in the July 2021 report or otherwise have been noted in our review above. Those
which are not mentioned or given less attention above, we would request additional
information (if not already available by exiting means) to enable greater scrutiny of the existing
NAP which can then assist in the development of the new NAP. These include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

8. Controls on aircraft permitted to use the airport;
9. Controls on flying training;
12. Changing the height of arriving and departing aircraft;
14. Controls in the new shoulder period;
19. Level of fines;
21. Helicopters.

7 Review of Section 5 - Future assessment and forecasts
7.1 Section 5 looks to the future, presenting 2025 forecasts and contours (contained in Appendix
3). It then states 13 points that it will address in the next 5 years. These points are likely the
foundation of the new NAP to be devised. These points are reviewed below, but the issues
raised previously in the report, should also potentially be included in some form of new MIL or
the NAP; or at least be given due consideration before the NAP is finalised.

Page 7

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 77

NAP Review: July 2021 report
7.2 Section 5.2 of the report suggests the airport is looking for economic growth which will likely
lead to an increase in flights. It is imperative that the historic 2020 contour envelope is not
exceeded and that a suitable ‘best endeavours’ contour is proposed.
7.3 As a worst case the existing best endeavours contour should be used, however potential
reduction of the contour areas should be considered where appropriate in relation to latest
guidance as to aviation noise attitude studies and other relevant guidance.
7.4 To ensure the NAP area or contour limits are met, it is likely the 50,000 movement cap will
need to be retained. If any change to this cap is proposed it must be justified by
corresponding contours demonstrating compliance and full disclosure of fleet mix used in the
assumption (as the 2025 contours are in the BAP note in Appendix 3 of the report).
7.5 Given the mix of business jests and light aircraft at LBHA, these do not have the same degree
of benefit of long term noise reduction via technology as would apply to larger commercial
aircraft. The promotion of noise suppression technology to light aircraft could potentially be
enhanced though. It would be interesting to see how many aircraft have taken up the financial
offer of reduced fees for installing the compression systems over the last 5 years and if it is
worth while enhancing this scheme further as part of the new NAP.
7.6 The BAP report noted earlier is set out in Appendix 3 of the July 2021 report and uses the
forecast movement data as set out in section 5.3 of the report. It would be good to have a
yearly breakdown of forecasts to see how slowly or quickly recovery from the pandemic moves
up to the 2025 levels that are expected. This gradient of increase might then have bearing on
NAP measures and their timeline for implementation.
7.7 As noted earlier, we recommend the use of up to date software. This might require a large one
off effort, but once in place, will give better future proofing to any model changes.
7.8 We note that BAP have used the 2019 fleet mix and scaled to match total movements for 2025
numbers. This suggest effectively no material change in light aviation but doubling of business
aviation (majority likely to be jests). Justification of this forecast is requested as the fleet mix
can play an important part not only of the noise contour, but people perceptions of noise.

8 Review of Section 6 - Summary
8.1 This section is a summary of potential future works, possibly the most important for the new
NAP. It sets out 13 points, some continuation of the existing NAP, some newly proposed.
Ongoing points are mostly addressed in the memo above. Further comment on relevant new
items is below:
Item 7: Consideration to extending limits on circuit operations and imposing additional
restrictions on ground noise.
8.2 The review of circuits by light, business and rotary aircraft is welcomed. This could be flight
paths, hours of operation and numerical limits (annually, monthly, daily) to be considered.
Page 8

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 78

NAP Review: July 2021 report
Regarding ground noise, location of engine run ups even over short periods should be
considered as well as mitigation to that; as well as more general ground noise. Any strategic
review to find noise benefits from ground based operation are welcomed.
Item 11: Work with LBB to enhance public understanding through online briefing packs and
simplification of technical terminology.
8.3 As noted earlier, empowering the public with useful technical information to an appropriate
level of complexity is welcomed to improve community understanding and community
relations. This linked to a good complaints procedure (which appears to already be in place)
should be considered a pre-requisite of most modern airports.
8.4 Ensuring pilot guides and details of the NPRs and restrictions and any other relevant
information contained in the UK Aeronautical Information Publication (AIP) should be
developed in more easily consumable format for pilots and operators.

9 Additional Suggestions
9.1 Not specifically covered in the July 2021 report, but other measures we suggest that are at least
discussed for potential consideration in the NAP are set out below. These are in addition to
the various measures suggested throughout this memo and those set out in memo M1 from the
current NAP / MIL which may need to be retained in the NAP.
9.2 It may not necessarily be relevant to affect noise contour plots, but reporting circuit or training
movements separately from general arrivals and departures would be welcomed as part of the
ACC reporting statistics. Repetitive circuits may be perceived more annoying by some despite
not a material difference to noise indices.
9.3 Limiting hours of circuits and training flights might also be considered in the NAP.
9.4 Although overall contour area is quoted as the restriction limit in the NAP (based upon the
historic 2020 contour), any change in shape of contour or exceedance of the contour limit set
must be considered in case the area is maintained to satisfaction, but a greater number of
properties are within the contour.
9.5 Consideration of striving for lower noise limits in line with latest guidance should be
considered, if not set as a ‘hard’ limit or restriction.
9.6 SEL and/or Lmax plots for all aircraft type operating should be plotted to ensure compliance with
the NAP requirement of LEAR35 footprint or 90dB SEL contour. These should be checked at
receptors via measurement; which could be part of the mobile noise monitor programme.

◼

End of Section

Page 9

London Biggin Hill Airport
Memorandum 20/0246/M1/0 // 08 September 2021

Page 79

This page is left intentionally blank

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

Review of London Biggin Hill Airport 2021 Noise Action
Plan Review
Introduction
1.

The Environmental Research and Consultancy Department (“ERCD”) of the United
Kingdom Civil Aviation Authority (“CAA”) has been appointed by the London
Borough of Bromley (“LBB”) to undertake a technical review of the Biggin Hill
Airport Review of Noise Action Plan 2016 – 2020, published by Biggin Hill Airport
Limited (“BHAL”) as operators of London Biggin Hill Airport (“LBHA”).

Background
2.

LBB is the freehold owner of the land on which LBHA is situated. LBB granted a
125-year lease to BHAL in 1994.

3.

In 2015, BHAL applied to LBB to extend its operating hours. Following discussion
between LBB and BHAL, an agreement was reached and BHAL was granted an
extension to the airport’s operating hours. As part of that agreement, a condition
requiring that BHAL committed to a further series of actions to reduce the impact of
aircraft noise on residents in Bromley, was put in place. This condition required a
series of actions to be published as the Noise Action Plan (“NAP”) and the
Management Information Letter (“MIL”). Further information on the application to
vary the lease is provided on LBB’s website 1.

4.

The London Biggin Hill Airport NAP was published by BHAL on 28 August 2015.
LBB is the authority responsible for the NAP. The approval of the extension to the
airport’s operating hours was conditional on the NAP being reviewed every five
years subsequently. The MIL, dated 19 May 2016, adds that ‘opportunities to
minimise the environmental impact of airport activities will be considered at each
review’.

5.

During summer 2021, BHAL reviewed the 2015 NAP and delivered Biggin Hill
Airport Review of Noise Action Plan 2016 – 2020 (“NAP Review”) with the aim of
fulfilling this obligation.

6.

ERCD understands that LBB has already taken independent advice from RSK
Acoustics on whether the review fulfils the obligations. ERCD’s review (documented

1

Information on BHAL is provided at:
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1012/biggin_hill_airport_limited.
Specific information on the application to vary the lease is provided at:
https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1012/biggin_hill_airport/2.

20 December 2021

Page 81

1

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

in this technical note) was requested by LBB to offer a second opinion from an
aviation specialist. ERCD acknowledge the potential perceived conflict of interest of
LBB being both the Local Planning Authority and freehold owner of the land, with
BHAL as the leaseholder.
7.

For this review, LBB has sought ERCD’s opinion on the following seven questions,
in addition to raising other matters which ERCD consider to be relevant in assisting
LBB to decide whether the NAP Review fulfils BHAL’s obligations to meet the
conditions of the agreement to extend operating hours:
a) ‘Has the Noise Action Plan, as agreed with LBB, been adhered to?
Specifically, with reference to Appendix 2 of the NAP, has the NAP review
adequately demonstrated compliance. If not, what evidence needs to be
submitted.
b) Has the review process been completed in an appropriate fashion, adhering
to all industry and governmental procedures?
c) Specifically, should a new NAP or a new version of the NAP have been
delivered at the end of the process, or does a review document suffice?
d) Does the review document adequately reflect Biggin Hill Airport’s adherence
and attempts to adhere to the Noise Action Plan?
e) Does the review document adequately incorporate the latest industry
standards and processes at other airports to improve the situation for
residents affected by the airport?
f) Does the review document adequately reflect any improvements in
technology that could improve the situation for residents affected by the
airport?
g) Would you advise any other noise minimisation measures that might
reasonably be considered to be included in the review document?’

8.

LBB has also requested an Executive Summary that could be placed in the public
domain and used as part of Bromley Council’s decision-making process. We have
presented this in Appendix A to this technical note.

9.

Appendix B contains the UK AIP Noise Abatement Procedures for LBHA (as of 15
October 2021) for reference. Appendix C supports the response to the LBB’s first
question, and a glossary of terms used in this technical note is presented in
Appendix D.

Review
10.

The following sub-sections present our review of the NAP Review against each of
the seven questions listed above.

20 December 2021

Page 82

2

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

Has the Noise Action Plan, as agreed with London Borough of Bromley,
been adhered to? Specifically with attention to Appendix 2 of the NAP,
has the NAP review adequately demonstrated compliance? If not, what
evidence needs to be submitted?
11.

We have interpreted this question as both:
a) Has BHAL fulfilled the actions to the extent that it has met its obligations
according to the NAP; and
b) Does the NAP Review document give enough information to demonstrate to
its readers that BHAL has met its obligations according to the NAP?

12.

Appendix 2 of the NAP presents a summary of the Noise Action Plan actions. This
includes Table B1: Action – Monitor and Manage and Table B2: Action – Research
and Reporting, which list 22 actions (plus sub-actions) and 11 actions respectively.
In their NAP review, BHAL provides its update on these in Table 2.4 and Table 2.5.
We have reviewed each of the 39 actions as described here below.

Actions where claimed have been met, and evidence provided
13.

Following a detailed review, it is ERCD’s opinion that almost all the actions have
been met where claimed. The information provided to satisfy the reader that these
actions have been met varies in the level of detail, and for just over half of these
actions, we considered the information was sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the measure had been met. I.e. factual information is contained in other
sections of the NAP review document, or the information in the table reports the
accountability has been transferred to a third party, e.g. the supplier of the Noise
Monitoring and Track Keeping System (“NMTKS”), or Biggin Hill Airport
Consultative Committee (“BHACC”).

Evidence exists but not reported in NAP review
14.

For just under half of these actions, the review comprised a claim that the action
had been addressed without providing supporting information. In some of these
cases, we were able to find supporting evidence without too much difficulty via other
sources, such as the NATS Aeronautical Information Publication 2, and BHAL’s
website 3. Although for these actions, the NAP review meets a) above, it does not in
its own right adequately demonstrate BHAL’s compliance with the actions, so in
ERCD’s view, it does not meet b).

15.

For example, actions 13a and 13b require assessment of airport performance
against actual noise contours; this is also stated in section 20 of the MIL which
states that ‘Prior to any NAP review, LBHA will prepare actual measured noise

2

https://nats-uk.ead-it.com/cms-nats/opencms/en/Publications/AIP/

3

https://biggin-yourairport.co.uk/

20 December 2021

Page 83

3

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

contours to be compared with predicted noise contours. Where the actual noise
contour falls within the agreed forecast noise contour, no further action will be
required.’ These actual 57 dB LAeq daytime, morning and evening noise contours
were published in the 2020 Annual Noise Report 4, the extents and enclosed areas
of which are shown to be within the limit which the airport is required to take
reasonable endeavours to stay below. The NAP review, however, compares the
2020 forecast noise contour areas with the 57 dB daytime limit contour area; no
mention is made of the comparison of the actual and predicted noise contours.
16.

Further to this, para 4.33 of the NAP specifically requires BHAL ‘to assess
performance with respect to the previously forecast noise envelope… by reference
to the number of people and dwellings affected.’ Information on numbers of people
and dwellings affected has not been included in the NAP review.

Evidence could not easily be found
17.

There are some cases where we were not able to determine whether the
requirement had been met without significant effort. In these cases, the reader
either is required either to accept the claims in the NAP review as fact, to do their
own investigation, or to reject the claims. Whether or not LBB has received
sufficient information to confirm that these actions have been met through their
oversight role, ERCD recommends that LBB requests that BHAL provide
substantive information.

18.

An example is action 4 where the NAP review states that BHAL ‘conducts noise
surveys through the deployment of a mobile noise monitor at the request of
residents’. The NAP review does not contain sufficient information to substantiate
this (i.e. details of any requests, and the dates, locations (anonymised) and findings
of any surveys in response, or confirmation if no requests were received). This
information was also not readily available on BHAL’s website.

19.

A further example is action 14b where the NAP review states that ‘For new based
and non-based aircraft operations, the Airport has limited the use of the airport to
those aircraft types that meet ICAO Chapter 4 standard’. Although the ICAO
Chapter 3 requirement (action 14a) is listed in the UK AIP, EGKB AD 2.21 1b (see
Appendix B), there is no mention of the Chapter 4 limits here, so it is questionable
whether and how this has been implemented.

20.

One final example is action 16, requiring that BHAL operates ‘in accordance with
the noise abatement procedures delineated in the UK Aeronautical Information
Publication (AIP)’. On inspection of UK AIP, EGKB AD 2.21 (Appendix B), section
2aii, 3b and 3gi refer to ‘additional charges as set out in the London Biggin Hill

4

London Biggin Hill Airport Annual Report 2020, Bickerdike Allen Partners, ref. A11103-R04-DR_1.0, February
2021. https://biggin-yourairport.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/A11103-R04-DR_1.0-Biggin-HillAirport-Annual-Report-2020.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 84

4

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

Airport Schedule of Fees and Charges’ or penalty charges for failure to comply with
the noise abatement procedures. On review of the Biggin Hill Airport Schedule of
Fees and Charges 5, it does not set out any additional charges, so it is unclear
whether this has been implemented.
Actions not stated to have been met
21.

There is a case where the NAP review states the action has been completed, but its
supporting claim does not imply that the action has been met.

22.

Action 8b requires BHAL to ‘Implement a scheme to restrict circuit training to certain
operating hours’. The NAP review states that ‘All circuits, other than for flight
training, are approved by the Senior Air Traffic Control Officer (SATCO) or Chief
Executive Officer (CEO)’ and that the action has been completed and is ongoing.
This does not address the specific action.

Actions not yet complete
23.

There are also actions which are stated to be ongoing but not yet completed. These
are presented as such in Table 2.4 and Table 2.5.

Inaccuracies or lack of clarity
24.

In some cases, statements are inaccurate or unclear to the extent that it could lead
to confusion and/or misinterpretation.

25.

For example, action 11 requires the airport to ‘operate controls’ whereas the NAP
review states that ‘Maximum noise level compliance is measured by the two
monitors…’. I.e. it says measurement takes place but does not specifically state that
controls are used.

26.

Regarding action 10c concerning the early removal of the VOR beacon at Biggin
Hill, the NAP review refers to the update in para 4.9. This refers to the WebTrak
system and is located within the section with heading: Accuracy and utility of
Webtrak and is therefore not related to action 10c. Paras 4.12 and 4.13 are instead
relevant. This appears to be a typographical error. There were other such errors
relating to actions 10a and xi.

Section summary
27.

5

In the most part, it appears that BHAL has met its obligations according to the NAP
actions. For a significant proportion of the NAP Review, it is however ERCD’s view,
that further information may be required to demonstrate to all readers that BHAL
has met its obligations according to the NAP. Appendix C summarises which
actions we consider to fall within each of the above categories.

https://bigginhillairport.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Biggin-Hill-Airport-Fees-and-Charges-2021-22.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 85

5

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

28.

It is ERCD’s view that BHAL has missed an opportunity to have effective dialogue
with its local community. Whilst the COVID-19 pandemic may have had a significant
effect on the available resources to undertake the review, the NAP review, as
drafted, is indicative of a “do minimum” approach to meet its obligations to LBB,
though not necessarily to meet the expectations of its wider stakeholder audience.

Has the review process been completed in an appropriate fashion,
adhering to all industry and governmental procedures?
Governmental procedures
29.

The concept of a NAP arose from the European Environmental Noise Directive
(END): 2002/49/EC, transposed in domestic legislation as the Environmental Noise
(England) Regulations 2006 (the “Environmental Noise Regulations”) legally
oblige airport operators to meet the terms of the Environmental Noise Regulations if
it meets one or both of two conditions, namely:


the airport operates greater than 50,000 annual aircraft movements during
the assessment year; and/or



aircraft noise contours for that airport would impinge on an agglomeration.

30.

To meet their legal obligations, in-scope airport operators must provide their NAP
(and associated noise mapping results) to the Department for Environment, Food
and Rural Affairs (“Defra”). Defra has provided guidance to airport operators, the
latest was published in July 2013 6.

31.

In paragraph 1.06 of the guidance, it states ‘To meet the Regulations, some airports
have previously produced noise action plans following the first round of noise
mapping. For those airports, a simple proportionate updating process is required’.
Further information is provided in Chapter 5 of the guidance on what the updating
process should comprise, and what we consider to be appropriate. Although this
guidance is written for airport operators meeting the terms of the regulations in 2013
(and references to 2012 should be read as ‘2020’ for this 2021 review), we
understand the same principles apply to subsequent years, given this is the most
recently published guidance.

32.

BHAL is therefore required to review rather than revise their NAP. Defra also
provides guidance for a review, specifically in paras 5.5 to 5.11, which are copied in
Table 1 below. Again, the guidance is directed to qualifying aerodrome operators
who meet either (or both) of the conditions set out at paragraph 29 of this advice.

6

Guidance for Airport Operators to produce noise action plans under the terms of the Environmental Noise
(England) Regulations 2006 (as amended), July 2013. Available at:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/276226
/noise-action-plan-airport-operators-guidance-201401.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 86

6

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

ERCD notes that BHAL is not a qualifying aerodrome as it meets neither of the
conditions set out above at paragraph 29.
33.

Whilst BHAL does not meet the conditions under the Environmental Noise
Regulations, it is ERCD’s view is that the Defra guidance does however set an
appropriate standard for addressing the elements of the review required under
paras 4.32 to 4.34 of the NAP. It is, therefore, incumbent on BHAL to clearly assess
its performance against agreed limits and demonstrate any progress it has made
against the actions. Moreover, it is also incumbent on BHAL to ensure that LBB
may clearly understand the status of the actions, and for local community
stakeholders to have a clear understanding as to how BHAL is meeting its
obligations, and, where it fails to do so, how it is being held accountable.

34.

The table below sets out our review against the Defra criteria, with paragraph
numbering within the table copied directly from the Defra guidance.

Table 1 Review against Defra guidance
Guidance

CAA assessment

5.2 The current action plan should be reviewed
taking account of:
 The results of the noise mapping completed in
2012 [read as 2020 for this 2021 review]; and
 The progress made against the actions
described in the current action plan

The NAP review takes account of forecast noise
contours, not actual noise contours (Table 2.2).
This element of the guidance has not been met.
Progress made against the actions is described as
key achievements (2.8), in Tables 2.4 and 2.5, and
in the latter parts of the document. As noted in
para 27, we do not consider the NAP review
document to be satisfactory in terms of the level of
information provided.

5.3 The current plan should be revised to include,
as necessary:
 Updating details about the airport and its
operation;
 Updating information about relevant legislation
and standards; and
 Updating relevant national and local policies

The NAP has not been revised in the NAP review,
so these updates have not been fulfilled.

5.4 The revision to the plan should also include:
 The results of the recent round of noise
mapping;
 Information about the progress made against the
actions described in the current plan
 Information about on-going actions
 Information about any proposed new actions

As mentioned above, the 2020 actual noise
contours have not been included. Information about
progress against the actions has been provided, but
as mentioned in para 27, we do not consider the
level of information to be satisfactory. In the
summary, section 6.0, eight new actions for 2021
have been proposed.

5.5 It is envisaged that once the plan has been
revised, it will be presented to the Airport’s
Consultative Committee for comment, and any
other appropriate bodies depending on the extent
and nature of the revisions.

It is not stated that the NAP review contains
comments from BHACC, nor whether the new
actions for 2021 were consulted upon to any
degree.

5.6 The Airport Operator will reflect upon the
comments received from the Consultative
Committee. A description of those comments

A description of comments received from BHACC
has not been included in the NAP review.

20 December 2021

Page 87

7

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

should be included in the revised plan together with
a reasoned justification for the response to the
issues raised. The Airport Operator shall include, as
appropriate, information about those who
responded to the consultation (unless they
indicated that they did not wish to be mentioned).
5.7 In the revision of the plan, the Airport Operator
must be sure that the information required by
Annex V of the EU Directive is included.

Some of the information required by Annex V has
been provided. There are some notable omissions,
such as estimates of the number of people exposed
to noise due to the airport; a record of public
consultations; financial and cost/benefit
assessment of actions; and provisions for
evaluating the implementation and the results of the
NAP.

5.8 Once the revised plan has been finalised, it
needs to be sent to the Secretary of State for Defra.
The document must include prominently displayed
wording identifying it as a draft subject to formal
adoption and approval.

There is no requirement to do this, as London
Biggin Hill Airport is not in scope of the
Environmental Noise Regulations.

5.9 The Secretary of State for Defra, in liaison with
the Department for Transport, will form a view
regarding whether or not the submitted revised plan
meets the requirements of Regulation 15 and,
therefore, whether or not the plan is appropriate for
adoption.

See above re. 5.8 comment

5.10 If the Secretary of State for Defra considers
that the requirements of Regulation 15 are not met,
the airport operator will be required to make the
necessary changes to the revised plan so that the
requirements of Regulation 15 are met in full.
Following revision, the revised plan will need to be
resubmitted to the Secretary of State for Defra by
an agreed date for further consideration.

See above re. 5.8 comment

5.11 Once adopted, the revised Noise Action Plan
should be published by the Airport Operator as a
public document in an electronic format, within 28
days of being informed that the revised Noise
Action Plan has been adopted.

The NAP states it is subject to formal adoption,
though it does not state what this adoption process
is; we assume that since London Biggin Hill Airport
is not in scope of the Environmental Noise
Regulations, the NAP was not adopted by the
Secretary of State. It is not clear whether there is a
requirement for BHAL to formally adopt the NAP
review.

5.12 The Environmental Noise Regulations contain
a continuing obligation on Airport Operators to
review (and revise, if necessary) the Noise Action
Plan every 5 years or sooner where a major
development occurs. Where the Airport Operator
feels that such a review is necessary, then the
process described in paragraphs 5.5 – 5.11 above
regarding consultation and submission shall be
followed.

BHAL has an obligation to LBB to review the NAP,
and guidance is given in 5.5 – 5.11. Although this
could set the expectation for what a review should
comprise, we acknowledge that some of these
elements have not been specified in the NAP or
MIL.

5.13 Airport Operators may wish to agree to carry
out an informal review of the progress being made
on the implementation of the Action Plan as part of
their continuing engagement with the local airport
consultative committee or other stakeholders. The
process and timing for any informal review should

Our understanding is that the NAP review is
considered a formal review which discharges
BHAL’s obligation to LBB to review the NAP.

20 December 2021

Page 88

8

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

be jointly agreed between the Airport Operator and
the committee, or other stakeholders, as
appropriate. Such reviews could form part of any
regular environmental reporting that is already
undertaken.
5.14 It should be noted that, Regulation 26(4) of the
Environmental Noise Regulations. sets out that the
Secretary of State has the power to take action
should he believe that a requirement of these
Regulations is not being met due to any act or
omission by the Airport Operator.

35.

This does not apply, as London Biggin Hill Airport is
not in scope of the Environmental Noise
Regulations.

According to Table 1, the reporting against the actions is the only applicable
element of the guidance that has been met.

Industry procedures
36.

There are many examples of revised NAPs produced by the UK’s major airports
since the first round of noise mapping and reporting of 2007. These fully met the
Defra guidance in order to be formally adopted. Crucially, they describe the latest
policy context, present results of noise mapping based on actual operations, set
measurable actions with key performance indicators (with reviews against these for
the previous period) that have gone through a public consultation process.

37.

Comparing BHAL to a large commercial airport might be considered inappropriate
given the different scale of the operation. Notwithstanding this fact, Wycombe Air
Park (WAP), a medium sized General Aviation airfield, was in scope for the second
round of the mapping and reporting in 2011 since its Lden 55 dB(A) contour abutted
the High Wycombe (Booker) agglomeration. Its 57 dB LAeq,16h noise contours are
smaller than those calculated in 2020 for London Biggin Hill Airport.

38.

WAP’s round three NAP 7 was a full revision of its first NAP and met the Defra
requirements as described above. It included noise contour results for the previous
year based on actual operations, and consultation via their Joint Consultative
Committee (JCC) which we consider to be a proportionate approach.

39.

Although WAP was in scope of the Environmental Noise Regulations, whereas
London Biggin Hill Airport is not, we would suggest that LBB and BHAL consider
agreeing to meet elements of this standard in subsequent years.

Section summary
40.

7

As summarised in the previous section, whilst the NAP review process principally
meets the agreed requirements, it falls short on demonstrating this compliance.

Wycombe Air Park, Noise Management & Action Plan, 2019 – 2024
http://www.wycombeairpark.co.uk/sites/default/files/Wycombe%20Air%20Park%20Noise%20Action%20Pl
an%202019-24%20FINAL.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 89

9

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

Industry precedent and governmental procedures set a higher standard which have
not been met in the NAP review.

Specifically, should a new NAP or a new version of the NAP have been
delivered at the end of the process, or does a review document suffice?
41.

The Defra guidance is clear that for ‘those airports for which an action plan,
prepared under the terms of the Regulations, exists, … the current plan should be
revised to include’ the various information listed in Table 1. The NAP published by
BHAL was not, however, prepared under the terms of the Environmental Noise
Regulations, so this requirement does not apply in this situation.

42.

Through studying the relevant sections of the NAP (paragraphs 3.4f, and 4.32 –
4.34) and the MIL (paragraph 20), it is apparent that the agreement made between
LBB and BHAL was for the NAP to be ‘reviewed’ at 5 yearly intervals, rather than
‘revised’.

43.

The requirements of the NAP review are set out in paras 4.32 – 4.34 of the NAP,
and these do not require a revision of the NAP. There would therefore be no
expectation for LBHA to undertake a revision.

44.

In the case of a NAP review, Defra provides guidance. Although London Biggin Hill
Airport is not within scope of the Environmental Noise Regulations, the aim of
BHAL’s NAP to manage noise in the context of the increased operating hours, is
clearly linked. Defra’s guidance serves to make the NAP process effective, which
provides a strong case for following it.

45.

For instance, in the space of five years, aircraft noise policies are likely to change.
Since the BHAL’s NAP was published, the Department for Transport has set the
lowest observed adverse effect level (the point at which it regards adverse effects
begin to be seen on a community basis) at 51 dB LAeq,16h 8. The international
guidance for calculating aircraft noise in the vicinity of civil airports9 has also been
revised. It is appropriate to not just review progress against the actions, but also
review the actions to check they are still appropriate.

Section summary
46.

ERCD would recommend that best practice be followed and BHAL should
undertake a revision following the Defra guidance for revising a NAP. It should
however be noted that this must be the subject of an agreement between LBB and
BHAL as the airport operator is not obliged under the Environmental Noise
Regulations to do so. ERCD would further recommend that, as part of this
negotiation, analysis should be undertaken as to whether the cost of carrying out

8

Air Navigation Guidance 2017, Department for Transport, October 2017.

9

ECAC Doc.29 4th Edition Volume 2, December 2016. https://www.ecac-ceac.org/documents/ecac-documentsand-international-agreements

20 December 2021

Page 90

10

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

the revision outweighs the perceived or actual benefit to stakeholders and local
communities. The absence of population/household noise exposure data in the
current NAP review makes this difficult to determine.
47.

If the decision is to accept a review instead of a revision, ERCD recommends that
the assessment of actual noise performance against limits is clearly documented in
the NAP review, that sufficient information is given to demonstrate the NAP
obligations have been met, including the status of the actions, and that the
typographical errors are corrected.

Does the review document adequately reflect Biggin Hill Airport’s
adherence and attempts to adhere to the Noise Action Plan?
48.

The review document addresses the criteria set out in paragraphs 4.32 – 4.34 of the
NAP. Read as a standalone document (without having access to the BHAL’s
website), the level of information provided is not adequate for a reader to reach their
own conclusion as to whether BHAL has adhered to, or attempted to adhere to, all
parts of the NAP.

49.

Table 2.2 of the NAP review shows that 50,000 ATMs was exceeded within the first
five years. According to the MIL, this being foreseen should have triggered a review.
This in turn would have allowed LBB to consider suspending the extended hours
pending completion of that review if it was considered appropriate to do so. Given
that the maximum exceedance in 2016 was by only 1.7%, followed by subsequent
action to reduce movements, and finally movements in 2020 amounting to 57% of
the forecast, the decision not to bring forward a review would appear to have been
appropriate.

Does the review document adequately incorporate the latest industry
standards and processes at other airports to improve the situation for
residents affected by the airport?
Noise measurement/monitoring
50.

London Biggin Hill Airport uses an industry standard noise monitoring and track
keeping system, which is calibrated according to current standards. It is expected
that this will have been installed according to ISO 20906, and comprises two fixed
noise monitoring stations and a mobile monitor for deployment at residents’
properties on request.

51.

This is standard practice and proportionate for an operation of the size of London
Biggin Hill Airport. The WebTrak interface and integrated complaints handling
functionality mentioned in para 3.2 of the NAP review is welcomed and something
that is routinely used at large commercial airports.

20 December 2021

Page 91

11

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

52.

There may be some value in considering how frequently the mobile monitor is
deployed and for how long. A possible improvement could be to publish community
noise monitoring reports on BHAL’s website.

Noise modelling
53.

In January this year, the CAA published CAP2091, CAA Policy on Minimum
Standards for Noise Modelling 10. CAP2091 sets out the noise modelling standards
that airports are required to adhere to when providing the CAA with the outputs
required to carry out regulatory duties. ERCD’s recommendation would be for
bodies who have responsibility of NAP oversight to also adopt these standards.

54.

The criteria for the various levels (Categories) of noise modelling sophistication are
based on population exposed to day and night time noise levels at 51 dB LAeq,16h
and 45 dB LAeq,8h respectively. Population data is not readily available for London
Biggin Hill Airport, so ERCD have not confirmed the applicable Category. If it were
to fall into Category C, D or E, there would be a requirement to make use of the
ICAO aircraft noise and performance (ANP) dataset which is periodically updated.

55.

As mentioned in para 45, the international guidance for calculating aircraft noise in
the vicinity of civil airports was updated in 2016. Industry standard noise modelling
software are subsequently updated.

56.

The noise modelling software used to produce BHAL’s noise contours is the US
Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) Integrated Noise Model (INM) version 7.0d.
This is no longer a supported software and will not receive updates to the
methodology or the ANP dataset. The latest equivalent software is the FAA Aviation
Environmental Design Tool (AEDT) version 3d. It would be ERCD’s
recommendation that BHAL look to migrate to this software, with a one-off study to
compare contours produced using INM 7.0d and the current version of AEDT to
account for any changes due to the model change.

Charging schemes
57.

It is common for large commercial airports to use a system of noise-related landing
charges to incentivise use of best-in-class aircraft. These should be based on
certification noise levels, and levy higher charges for the noisier aircraft types.

58.

Differential charging can also be used to incentivise operation during the less noisesensitive periods of the day/week.

59.

Further information is provided in CAA CAP1576: Environmental charging – review
of impact of noise and NOx landing charges: update 2017 11, and its predecessor

10

CAP2091: CAA Policy on Minimum Standards for Noise Modelling

11

https://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/Environmental_Landing_Charges_Review_2017_20170721V1.1.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 92

12

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

CAP1119: Environmental charging – Review of impact of noise and NOx landing
charges12.
Residential Sound Insulation Scheme
60.

Although the airport has established a residential sound insulation scheme (RSIS),
no properties are currently eligible according to the criteria. It could be that this was
set when airport operations were greater, pre-pandemic, however the eligibility
criteria should be reviewed to check it is relevant and affords the protection to local
residents that it was intended to.

Engaging communities
61.

The WebTrak system is helpful for local residents that are disturbed by aircraft
noise to inform themselves about which aircraft is causing the disturbance and
when. It also provides a convenient interface for issuing a complaint. Section 4 of
the NAP review also highlights the structures in place and the active engagement
the airport has with local community stakeholders.

62.

ERCD notes that the Consultative Meeting Minutes page 13 of BHAL’s website
publishes noise contour reports in addition to consultative committee meeting
minutes. In addition to these, ERCD would recommend that greater use of the
website is made to provide community noise monitoring, complaints reports and
other monitoring reports as appropriate, details of the residential sound insulation
scheme and information on progress against NAP actions on a periodic basis.

Does the review document adequately reflect any improvements in
technology that could improve the situation for residents affected by
the airport?
Steeper approaches
63.

The new action 5, ‘The Airport will endeavour to ensure that the Runway 21 ACP
includes an increase in the approach angle and enable the Airport to increase all
approaches to 3.5 degrees’ is in line with action at other airports to introduce
steeper approaches.

Continuous Descent Operations (CDO)
64.

Continuous descent operations attempt to keep aircraft at higher altitude for longer
on approach, removing or at least reducing the need for aircraft to fly relatively noisy
level segments. These could be considered by BHAL for adoption at London Biggin
Hill Airport, though we recognise that due to LBHA’s proximity to Heathrow Airport,
there are constraints regarding this.

12

http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/modalapplication.aspx?appid=11&mode=detail&id=5803

13

Consultative Minutes - Biggin Hill - Your airport (biggin-yourairport.co.uk)

20 December 2021

Page 93

13

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

Low Power Low Drag
65.

Low power/low drag is the collective term used for describing the lowest noise
configuration for a given speed and/or altitude during the approach. It involves using
optimum flap settings on approach and delaying the deployment of the
undercarriage. While remaining within international safety guidance, it may still be
possible to achieve beneficial improvements in noise performance.

Would you advise any other noise minimisation measures that might
reasonably be considered to be included in the review document?
66.

The table in section 6 of the NAP review contains the measures BHAL will take to
reduce noise over the subsequent 5 years. ERCD’s recommendation is for these
actions to be redrafted where necessary to be specific, measurable, achievable,
realistic, and timely (“SMART”).

67.

Given the potential for airport activity eventually to return to pre-pandemic levels
and then continue to grow, consideration could be given to reviewing the noise
envelope in place, for instance using a noise-factored type limit potentially in
combination with a movement limit. The CAA has provided various options for
defining a noise envelope in CAP1129: Noise Envelopes14.

Conclusions
68.

In producing the 2021 NAP review, BHAL has followed the scope set out in the NAP
and MIL and therefore agreed with LBB. It appears that BHAL has met the majority
of its obligations according to the NAP actions. The level of information provided as
evidence, is not however, in ERCD’s view, adequate to demonstrate to its readers
that BHAL has met its obligations according to the NAP.

69.

Established industry precedent and governmental guidance to airports for producing
a NAP require a greater level of detail, supported by evidence, than that
demonstrated in the BHAL NAP review.

70.

Best practice would be for BHAL to undertake a revision following the Defra
guidance for revising a NAP. Whilst this is not however strictly necessary, as
London Biggin Hill Airport is not within the scope of the Environmental Noise
Regulations, it would represent industry best practice.

71.

ERCD notes that BHAL has already adopted, and is taking steps to introduce, or is
considering standards, processes and technology which reflect those used at other
airports. We have made some suggestions which BHAL and LBB may also wish to
consider at an appropriate time.

14

http://publicapps.caa.co.uk/docs/33/CAP%201129%20Noise%20Envelopes.pdf

20 December 2021

Page 94

14

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

APPENDIX A

Executive Summary
The Environmental Research and Consultancy Department (“ERCD”) of the United
Kingdom Civil Aviation Authority (“CAA”) was appointed by the London Borough of
Bromley (“LBB”) to undertake a technical review of the “London Biggin Hill Airport Review
of Noise Action Plan 2016 – 2020”, published by Biggin Hill Airport Limited (“BHAL)”.
It concluded that in producing the 2021 Noise Action Plan Review, BHAL has followed the
scope set out in the original Noise Action Plan dated 28 August 2015 (“NAP”) and
Management Information Letter dated 19 May 2016 (“MIL”).
The Noise Action Plan Review published by BHAL demonstrates that the airport appears
to have met the majority of its obligations arising from the NAP actions. The level of
information provided for many of the actions as evidence, is not however, in ERCD’s view,
adequate to demonstrate to all readers that BHAL has met its obligations according to the
NAP. Specifically, in terms of information provided, and overall scope, established industry
precedent and governmental guidance to airports for producing a NAP require a greater
level of detail, supported by evidence, than that which is currently provided in BHAL’s NAP
review.
Whilst London Biggin Hill Airport does not meet the threshold tests set out in the
Environmental Noise (England) Regulations 2006, ERCD would recommend that best
practice should be followed and that BHAL undertake work to revise the NAP following the
statutory guidance. This additional work must however be the subject of an agreement
between LBB and BHAL, with analysis undertaken as to whether the cost of carrying out
the revision would outweigh any perceived or actual benefit to stakeholders and local
communities. Noise management activity must also be proportional to the noise issue at
an airport. In the case of BHAL, information on the number of people and/or households
exposed to policy noise levels has not however been provided to support this aim.
ERCD notes that BHAL have already adopted and/or is taking steps to introduce
standards, processes and technology which reflect those used at other airports. In addition
to these steps which are either in place or in train, we have also made some further
suggestions which BHAL and LBB may also wish to consider now or in the future.

20 December 2021

Page 95

15

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

APPENDIX B

UK AIP Noise Abatement Procedures for London Biggin
Hill Airport
EGKB AD 2.21 NOISE ABATEMENT PROCEDURES
1 GENERAL
a. Every operator of aircraft using the airport shall ensure at all times that aircraft
are operated in a manner calculated to cause the least disturbance practicable in
the area surrounding the airport.
b. Only those aircraft meeting ICAO Chapter 3 criteria or better will be accepted.
Contact Flight Operations on +44 (0)1959-578500.
c.
Pilots are requested to avoid the use of reverse thrust or reverse pitch above
idle power settings on landing, consistent with the safe operation of the aircraft.
d. Due to the close proximity of residential areas, ground running of engines or
Auxiliary Power Units (APU) shall be kept to a minimum consistent with operational
requirements. At no time shall APUs be run for more than 30 minutes without
Aerodrome Operator consent.
e. The use of the Noise Preferential Routings is supplementary to the noise
abatement take-off techniques published by specific aircraft manufacturers.
f.
The Noise Preferential Routings may at any time be departed from to the
extent necessary for avoiding immediate danger.
a.

b.

2 NOISE ABATEMENT PROCEDURES - IFR DEPARTURES
Runway 21/03 IFR Departures
i. London Biggin Hill Airport is located close to densely populated and
largely residential areas. In order to support operating hours that include
night time aircraft operations, compliance with NPRs is required and is
enforced by a Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping System (NMTKS).
ii. Aircraft failing to comply with NPRs and/or noise limits may be subject to
additional charges as set out in the London Biggin Hill Airport Schedule of
Fees and Charges. As with other London airports, frequent or repeated
noise and/or track violations may result in a permanent exclusion from the
airport.
iii. Calibrated Noise Monitors are located approximately 1 KM from the
threshold of each runway and lie directly under the approach and
departure path. Additionally, a mobile noise monitor may be positioned
anywhere from time to time deemed appropriate by the airport operator.
Nominal departure track limits are programmed into the NMTKS along with
minimum heights set at two points in the standard departure route.
Runway 21 Departures
i. On departure speed should be restricted to V2+25 KIAS and in any case
no more than 185 KIAS, in accordance with the Standard Departure Route
(SDR), until passing over BIG eastbound in order to achieve the best

20 December 2021

Page 96

16

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

practical angle of climb whilst keeping thrust to the minimum required for
an expeditious departure.
ii. Following rotation, runway track should be maintained accurately.
iii. On crossing the upwind end of Runway 21, an immediate right turn should
be commenced to track 220° M in order to avoid residential housing
located at Norheads Farm. In accordance with the SDR, a right turn
should be commenced promptly at BIG 1 DME in order to route back over
the airfield on track towards DET. Speed in excess of 185 KIAS will result
in a radius of turn which exceeds the designated track limits and may
therefore result in a track violation. In strong south/southwesterly winds,
particular attention should be given to radius of turn.
iv. In order to safely maintain the relatively low speed mandated by this
procedure and dependent upon aircraft type, consideration should be
given to delaying flap retraction until passing BIG outbound at or above
2100 FT AMSL in order to ensure a sufficiently tight radius of turn is
achievable.
v. The procedure is designed to prevent unnecessary overflight of the built
up areas lying to the north of the airport. Pilots should pay particular
attention to avoiding overflight of these areas. Achieving the correct radius
of turn is therefore essential.
vi. Additionally, an altitude limit violation will occur if the noise monitor at
Norheads Farm is overflown below 1000 FT AMSL (400 FT AAL) or the
BIG is overflown below 2100 FT AMSL.
c.
Runway 03 Departures
i. On departure speed should be restricted to V2+25 KIAS and in any case
no more than 185 KIAS until at or above 2100 FT AMSL in order to
achieve the best practical angle of climb whilst keeping thrust to the
minimum required whilst at low level.
ii. Following rotation, runway track should be maintained accurately. Upon
reaching BIG 1 DME aircraft should commence an immediate right turn to
track 120° M to intercept DET R275° to DET in accordance with the SDR.
iii. In order to safely maintain the relatively low speeds required by this
procedure and dependent upon aircraft type, consideration should be
given to delaying flap retraction until at or above 2100 FT AMSL in order to
ensure a sufficiently tight radius of turn is achieved.
iv. The procedure is designed to prevent unnecessary overflight of the built
up areas lying to the north of the airport. Pilots should pay particular
attention to avoiding overflight of these areas. Excessive speed on
departure or a failure to commence a right turn immediately upon reaching
BIG 1 DME will likely result in a track violation.
v. Additionally, a limit violation will occur if the noise monitor at Milking Lane
Farm is overflown below 1000 FT AMSL (400 FT AAL) or 2100 FT AMSL
is not achieved after 5 track miles.
d. General Exclusion
Pilots should note that none of these provisions will apply in any emergency.
Commanders must place the safety of their aircraft ahead of published NPR
requirements.

20 December 2021

Page 97

17

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

3 VFR NOISE ABATEMENT PROCEDURES
a. London Biggin Hill Airport is located close to densely populated and largely
residential areas. In order to support extended operating hours that include night
time aircraft operations, compliance with NPRs is required and is enforced by a
Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping System (NMTKS).
b. Aircraft failing to comply with NPRs and/or noise limits may be subject to
additional charges as set out in the London Biggin Hill Airport Schedule of Fees and
Charges. As with other London airports, frequent or repeated noise and/or track
violations may result in a permanent exclusion from the airport.
c.
Calibrated Noise Monitors are located approximately 1 KM from the threshold
of each runway and lie directly under the approach and departure path. Additionally,
a mobile noise monitor may be positioned anywhere from time to time deemed
appropriate by the airport operator. Nominal ‘no fly’ zones over Keston, Downe,
Farnborough and Orpington are programmed into the NMTKS along with minimum
heights set at each noise monitor.
d. Runway 21 Departures
i. All aircraft departing Runway 21 VFR are required to turn right, after
passing the aerodrome boundary, to make good a track of 220° M:
1. aircraft departing to the west via Kenley should continue to 1 NM,
before turning right and setting course, avoiding the villages of
Woldingham and Warlingham;
2. aircraft departing to the east or northeast via Sevenoaks or
Swanley should continue to 2 NM before turning left and tracking to
the southeast, remaining south and east of Tatsfield Village. A useful
visual reference for the turn is to remain south of the Tatsfield golf
course;
3. once an aircraft has left the ATZ, it should not re-enter the ATZ
without the appropriate ATC clearance. Aircraft intending to route to
via Swanley should ensure that they arrange their flight in order to
avoid the eastern limits of the ATZ whilst tracking
northeast. CAUTION – there may be numerous aircraft joining from
the east.
e. Runway 03 Departures
i. Aircraft departing Runway 03 are required to climb straight ahead until
1NM:
1. aircraft departing to the west via Kenley to make a left turn enroute to leave the ATZ
2. aircraft departing east or southeast via Sevenoaks or northeast via
Swanley, to leave the ATZ en-route. CAUTION – there may be
numerous VFR aircraft joining from the east;
3. aircraft departing to the north, continue en-route but avoiding
overflight of the Noise Sensitive Areas of Orpington and Chelsfield.
Expect an early frequency change to the next agency, due to the
close proximity of London Heathrow and London City CTAs;
4. all pilots must in all cases avoid overflight of the residential areas
to the north and east especially Keston, Farnborough, Orpington and
Downe.
f.
Visual Circuits
i. All circuits at London Biggin Hill Airport are conducted to the west of the
aerodrome (Right Hand - Runway 21, Left Hand - Runway 03). Overflight
20 December 2021

Page 98

18

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

g.

of the following Noise Sensitive Areas should be avoided, unless
necessary to fulfil an ATC instruction such as to extend downwind for
spacing, Keston Village The Leavesdon Estate and Leaves Green. Aircraft
unable to comply with these requirements should not plan to make use of
London Biggin Hill Airport.
ii. Aircraft joining the visual circuit from the east or southeast should avoid
overflight of the Noise Sensitive Areas of Downe Village and Biggin Hill
Village.
Noise Sensitive Areas
i. The NMTKS will track all aircraft arriving at and departing from London
Biggin Hill Airport. Aircraft entering a Noise Sensitive Area will
automatically become the subject of a track violation report which will be
considered by the airport Noise Abatement and Safety Review Board
(SANARB) for consideration of a penalty charge. All penalty charges
levied are donated to local good causes. In the case of repeated violations
of wither noise or track limits, permanent exclusion from the airport may
result.

20 December 2021

Page 99

19

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

APPENDIX C

Action review status
The table below identifies which actions, in ERCD’s view, fall within each review category
as set out in paragraphs 11 to 26. Those actions for which inaccuracies were found or
there was lack of clarity are marked in bold.
Category

Actions

Actions where claimed have been met, and

1, 2, 5, 6, 9, 11, 12, 14a, 14c, 15, 17, 18, 19, 22, i, iii,

evidence provided

vi, xi

Evidence exists but not reported in NAP review

3, 7, 13a, 13b, iv

Evidence could not easily be found

4, 8a, 14b, 16, 20, 21, v, vii, viii

Actions not stated to have been met

8b

Actions not yet complete

10a, 10b, 10c, ii, ix, x

20 December 2021

Page 100

20

CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy Department

APPENDIX D

Glossary

Technical terms and abbreviations
ACP

Airspace Change Proposal

BHACC

Biggin Hill Airport Consultative Committee

CDO

Continuous Descent Operations

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

END

European Environmental Noise Directive: 2002/49/EC

JCC

Joint Consultative Committee (at Wycombe Air Park)

NAP

Noise Action Plan

NMTK (also NMTKS)

Noise Monitoring and Track Keeping system

RSIS

Residential Sound Insulation Scheme

SATCO

Senior Air Traffic Control Officer

WAP

Wycombe Air Park

20 December 2021

Page 101

21

This page is left intentionally blank

Review of
BHAL’s Noise Action Plan 2016 -2020

Page 103

BY
FLIGHTPATH WATCH LTD
8 October 2021

INDEX
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 2

SUMMARY TABLE

Page 4

INTRODUCTION

Page 7

LEGAL AND AVIATION ISSUES REQUIRING ACTION
Cap on movements
New approach to Runway 03
New hours of operation
Noise
Maximum noise contour
Non-compliance with the noise-abatement route for departures to the North
Noise-monitoring and track-keeping (NMTK) system – WebTrak
Corridors
Non-compliance with the Noise Preferential Routing for Circuits
Helicopters and light aircraft
Overall government noise policy

Page 104

CONCLUSION

Page 8
Page 10
Page 11
Page 12
Page 15
Page 16
Page 18
Page 20
Page 22
Page 23
Page 25
Page 27

APPENDICES
A – Letter from Baroness Sugg
B – Noise Preferential routing for Circuits, Lease, Third Schedule, j) iv)
C – Income forecast to LBB

1

Page 28
Page 29
Page 30

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
On 25th November 2015, the London Borough of Bromley (LBB or Bromley Council) approved a 24% increase in operating hours at Biggin Hill Airport, which now
enjoys longer operating hours than City Airport, Farnborough Airport and Northolt Airport. The approval was subject to a number of conditions, of which the most
relevant were:
1) A cap of 50,000 movements per annum
2) A new route to Runway 03 (the Southern end of the runway seen as a whole) which would take away some 30% of movements from the areas at the North
of the airport, that are currently overflown by all arrivals
3) A noise-monitoring and track-keeping system that would allow residents to notify the Airport if there were incidents of excessive noise or missed tracks so
that warnings could be issued to all offenders and sanctions imposed on repeated offenders
4) The establishment of no-fly zones to be avoided by light aircraft and helicopters.
Other conditions were of lesser importance from the point of view of the affected residents. A Noise Action Plan (NAP) had been produced in August 2015 and was
added to via a Management Information Letter (MIL), dated May 2016, further to explain how Bromley Council’s conditions would be implement.
On 15th June 2016, LBB accepted that certain conditions had been complied with (the lesser ones) and others were sufficiently advanced to give confidence that
they would be complied with. A Deed of Variation was signed in July 2016 incorporating the MIL and making reference to the NAP. Performance under all conditions
is to be reviewed every five years. The underlying 125-year lease signed between LBB and Biggin Hill Airport Limited (BHAL) on 6th May 1994 remains unaltered, with
the exception of the increase in operating hours.

Page 105

Five years have now passed, during which time BHAL has had the benefit of the extended hours, which has facilitated the use of the airport by much larger and
noisier aeroplanes (particularly on departure). However, aircraft are still predominantly flying below 2,500 feet above sea level, either because they are operating
in the “uncontrolled” (Class G) airspace, or because arriving and departing aircraft are at that low height before leaving or approaching the higher levels controlled
by London Air Traffic Control (normally 3,000 feet). In fact, the height of aircraft in the borough is more likely to be between 1,000 and 1,600 feet, which in practice
means between 400 and 1,000 feet above homes, taking into account the actual ground level.
On the other hand, residents have not had the benefit of any of the most important mitigating conditions imposed by Bromley Council to try and alleviate their
new living environment. This injustice needs to be rectified.
The five-year NAP review is the opportunity for Bromley Council to ensure that all agreed conditions are complied with. Should this not be possible, considering the
passage of time BHAL has been allowed to resolve matters, LBB is entitled (in fact obligated, as a local authority responsible for the well-being of its residents) to
suspend the new operating hours.

2

Moreover, there are certain clauses of the Lease that are not being complied with, particularly with reference to two of the Noise Preferential Routings agreed at
the time the Lease was signed (one of them is also a noise-abatement route registered with the CAA). As BHAL appears to be unwilling or unable to enforce
compliance by operators at the airport, it is currently in default of the Lease, which entitles LBB to rescind it.
Flightpath Watch Ltd is an association of local residents formed with the purpose of representing residents affected by operations at Biggin Hill Airport vis-a-vis
Bromley Council. It is the result of amalgamating and continuing the work of other similar associations that had previously operated with the same purpose.
Flightpath Watch and its predecessors have carried out this role for over twenty-five years.
BHAL continues to refer to a discredited 2015 survey when it quotes some 30,000 local supporters of the increase in hours at the airport. Analysis of that survey
showed a 70% input of all online entries by two internet providers, later admitted as associated with BHAL. Significantly, most entries were input during working
hours, Monday to Friday. On being provided with the analysis of data, the then Leader of the Council publicly recommended disregarding such survey. It is therefore
disturbing that BHAL continues to advocate its relevance. Direct and personal input by local residents showed that more than 10,000 responses objected to the
increase in hours at the airport. This is a very significant number, which far outweighs those directly benefiting from operations at the airport, either current or
predicted.
On the occasion of the NAP Review 2016-2020, Flightpath Watch is requesting that all the major conditions of approval of the new hours of operation and important
clauses of the Lease are respected. In particular:
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

The 50,000 cap on movements needs to be confirmed as permanent, and not expired as BHAL is assuming
The extended hours are suspended until the promised new route to Runway 03 is implemented
Empirical information from residents is considered when breaches are evaluated, given that WebTrak has shown not to be fit for purpose
No-fly zones (now defined by a map in the MIL, albeit called Noise Sensitive Areas) are avoided by helicopters and light aircraft
Noise Preferential Routings are respected.

A Summary Table of the main issues, documentary references and expected action by Bromley Council is shown at page 4 for ease of reference.

Page 106

These points are not new and they do not require any additional conditions or clauses – they just require LBB to enforce the conditions imposed and existing
clauses in the Lease. This is not an unreasonable request.

3

SUMMARY TABLE
Page

Issue

Page 107

8

Cap on movements

10

New approach to R03

11

12

LBB’s reference

BHAL’s Reference

Expert required

Action required

- Minutes of approval as per
Executive meeting
25.11.2015, p. 4 and 5
- Minutes of Executive
meeting 15.6.2016
- Correspondence with the
former Leader of the
Council
- Understanding as
expressed on Planning note
20.9.2021
Minutes of Executive
meeting 25.11.2015, p. 3,
“Noise Envelopes and Limit
on annual movements”, 2nd
paragraph.

NAP Review, 2.4, p. 4 and
5.4, p.19

LBB’s legal counsel to
investigate discrepancy
between LBB’s approval
and references in the MIL, 7
and 20

Suspension of the extended
hours

NAP 2.16, 4.26-4.28,
MIL 11 and 13
NAP Review 4.3, 4.14

Suspension of the extended
hours

New hours of operation

Full Council’s minutes
25.11.2015, Cl. 3.2 (2)

MIL 4 and 14

Noise

- Minutes of Executive
meeting 25.11.2015 p 4,
- Lease, Third Schedule, e)
ii) b.
- Approval of misaligned
positioning of monitor
(Planning 19/04375/FULL1)

NAP Review 2.8 i) and ii),
4.3

LBB’s legal counsel to
investigate the discrepancy
between statements in the
MIL, 11 and 13 and
statement by BHAL’s
consultant Cyrrus and the
CAA.
LBB’s legal counsel to
investigate the discrepancy
between the hours
approved and statements in
the MIL 4 and 14
LBB’s legal counsel to
confirm the validity of Cl. e)
ii) b of the Third Schedule of
the Lease

4

Correction of MIL

- Lowering of the 57dB Laeq16h
measure to 51dB LAeq16h
- Request adjustment of noise
calculations in view of
misalignment of Northern
monitor

Page 108

15

Maximum Noise Contour

Minutes of Executive
meeting 25.11.2015 p. 5

- Appendix 5, Cl. 3, and
related map by Bickerdike
Allen Partners, cyan colour,
readings of July 2021
- Cl 5.6 of the NAP Review
2016-2020

- LBB’s legal counsel to
challenge BAP’s opinion
that the Maximum Noise
Contour is “indicative”
- LBB’s legal counsel to
confirm that the review of
the NAP is a matter
between BHAL and LBB, not
the ACC

16

Non-compliance with the
noise-abatement route for
departures to the North

- Lease, Third Schedule, Cl. j
iv)
- UK Aeronautical
Information Publication
(AIP)

- Table 2.4, 15
- Appendix 3
- MIL, 15
- AP 4.37

18

NMTK system - WebTrak

- Report DRR15/097,
Condition 17

20

Corridors

- NAP Review 2016-2020
Table 2.4, 1, 7, 15
- NAP Review 2016-2020
4.84.11
- MIL, 17
- NAP 4.21 and 4.37
- NAP Review 2016-2020
4.20
- Standard response to
complaints

- LBB’s legal counsel to
investigate repeated
breaches to Lease, Third
Schedule, j iv) [LBB already
has proof but more can be
provided]
- CAA to confirm UK AIP if
not already available to LBB
LBB

5

LBB’s legal counsel to rebut
the excuse of corridors and
declare non-compliance
with Lease, Third Schedule,
j iv)

- Lowering of the 57dB Laeq16h
measure to 51dB LAeq16h
- Request adjustment of noise
calculations in view of
misalignment of Northern
monitor
- Suspend the extended hours
in case of breach – this is a
Maximum Noise Contour
- Re-establish the reference to
“movements” as defined and
suppress the use by BHAL of
the word “flights”
Rescind the Lease in view of
repeated and worsening noncompliance

LBB to request the removal of
automatic reliance on WebTrak
and demand that residents are
listened to

Rescind the Lease as BHAL has
been in default for a number of
years and shows no intention
of keeping operators at the
airport compliant with this very
important Noise-Preferential
Routing

22

Non-compliance with the
noise preferential routing
for Circuits

23

Helicopters and light
aircraft

25

Overall government noise
policy

- Lease, Third Schedule, j iv)
- Reference map

NAP Review 2016-2020,
Table 2.4 8b

MIL, Appendix 3

- Noise Policy Statement for
England
- LBB’s annual statements
of income

Page 109
6

LBB’s legal counsel to rebut
the suggestions made by
BHAL as non-conforming
with the Lease
LBB’s legal counsel to
confirm that language of
Code of Conduct cannot be
amended unilaterally as it is
a condition of approval of
the new operating hours
- LBB policy makers
- LBB auditors

Rescind the Lease if noncompliance persists

Suspend the extended hours if
BHAL does not keep helicopters
and light aircraft in compliance
with the Code of Conduct

- Ensure compliance with the
policy vision (i.e. enforce
conditions)
- Publicly quantify and monitor
whether economic advantages
(considering public expense)
are commensurate to social
damages

INTRODUCTION
Flightpath Watch Ltd was formed by a group of residents to represent the many thousands affected by operations at Biggin Hill Airport and provide feedback to
Bromley Council so that it can effectively mediate between residents and its tenant BHAL (Biggin Hill Airport Ltd) on matters pertaining to the Lease. Under different
names and via amalgamation of separate groups, it has been in existence for over twenty-five years.
The aim of Flightpath Watch is not to obstruct Biggin Hill Airport’s legitimate business, but to hold LBB true to the conditions it imposed on BHAL in order to mitigate
the impact that the new operating hours would have (and are indeed having) on local residents. None of the most relevant conditions has so far been kept. While
BHAL has enjoyed the increase in traffic by large aircraft that it wanted, residents have not been protected by the mitigating conditions promised. The five-year
review of the NAP gives LBB the opportunity to correct this unjust situation.
We have given serious consideration to the NAP Review 2016-2020 presented by BHAL and have found it inadequate. There are several very important matters that
require investigation by an external legal counsel to LBB and, maybe, an aviation adviser. We understand that the latter is likely to be the CAA.
Whilst we are pleased that a reputable aviation consultant has been chosen on this occasion, there are areas of the Lease, the MIL and the NAP where the CAA may
not be in a position to assist. In fact, most issues relate to legal aspects of the Lease and errors in the MIL. Moreover, bearing in mind that a large part of Biggin Hill
Airport’s operations is in Class G aerospace (below 2,500 feet), which is “uncontrolled” and not the responsibility of the CAA, there are areas on which it may decide
not to intervene.
A Summary Table of the main issues has been provided on pages 4 to 6 to facilitate reference to the Lease and the approval of the extended hours. They have been
compared with clauses in the NAP Review 2016-2020, with the NAP itself and the MIL. We have also expressed our opinion on which expert would be more suitable
to address the issues raised and what action we expect to be taken. It is to be noted that most points are of a legal rather than aviation nature, given the contractual
obligations that BHAL has accepted when signing the Lease and the Deed of Variation.

Page 110
7

LEGAL AND AVIATION ISSUES REQUIRING ACTION
Cap on movements
The minutes of the approval by the Executive on 25 November 2015 (pages 4 and 5) state: “No more than 50,000 movements per annum will be permitted without
triggering a review of the Noise Action Plan and in these circumstances the Council reserve the right to suspend the extended hours if it considered it appropriate to
do so”. Importantly, this overturned the suggestion made by LBB’s consultant Vernon Cole to rely on noise envelopes instead of a cap on movements.
There is no mention in the approval by LBB’s Executive of a five-year limit, after which the cap reverts to 125,000 (the original limit contained in the Lease, when
aircraft operating at the airport were of a totally different nature). Yet, Clause 5.4 of the NAP Review 2016-2020 states: “All of the above can be accommodated well
within our agreed 57 dB maximum noise contour footprint and the cap of 125,000 annual flights...”. The approval by the Executive is reported correctly at item 7 of
the MIL, however further commentary by BHAL in the same paragraph and, more specifically, at item 20, introduces a five-year limit and incorrectly re-instates the
suggestion by Vernon Cole that the Executive had quashed.
We believe that the commentary by BHAL in the MIL is incorrect as it contradicts the approval granted. We also believe that LBB made a “manifest error” in not
noticing the discrepancy between the MIL and the actual approval when it decided, on 15 June 2016, that the MIL would be attached to the Deed of Variation as
presented by BHAL.
The approval of the new hours was the subject of a full council meeting on 25 November 2015 and it was ratified by the Executive on the same night, subject to
conditions, one of which was a cap of 50,000 movements per annum which, if breached, could give reason for the suspension of the new hours and an early revision
of the NAP. The then Leader of the Council, when challenged on the language of the cap by a member of Flightpath Watch, insisted that the cap was set at 50,000
movements (February 2016), with no reference to any five-year limit and, as recently as 28th September 2021, the LBB webpage related to Biggin Hill Airport still
refers to 50,000 movements, with no time limit (https://www.bromley.gov.uk/info/1004/planning_policy/1012/biggin_hill_airport/3).

Page 111

The Executive meeting of 15 June 2016 had the purpose of confirming that the conditions had been satisfied, not to alter the original approval. However, by attaching
the MIL to the Deed of Variation, the five-year time limit on movements introduced by BHAL slipped in, in a clear case of “manifest error” by the officer responsible,
who failed to highlight the discrepancy with the actual approval. It is our understanding that, in law, “manifest errors” need to be corrected and the NAP Review
2016-2020 provides the right opportunity to do so. The transcription of the cap of 50,000 movements per annum needs to align with the approval granted and the
forecast of 54,500 movements in the year 2025 (NAP Review 2016-2020, cl. 5.4) needs to be rejected.
Very importantly, the cap was breached in 2016 and 2017 (cl. 2.4 of the NAP review 2016-2020), warranting the suspension of the extended hours. Members of
Flightpath Watch reported such breaches to LBB but a council officer replied that the cap began in 2017, after the new hours became official. However, this is not
correct. There is no mention in any of the official documents related to the approval of the extended hours of a special allowance for 2016 and 2017, therefore,
now that BHAL has confirmed that the actual number of movements in those two years exceeded the cap (page 4, cl. 2.4 of BHAL’s NAP Review 2016-2020), the
Council can formally take action and suspend the extended hours.
8

The reason why it is very important for residents that this condition is maintained is that the unobtrusive light aircraft mainly using the “Old” Biggin Hill Airport at
the time LBB and BHAL signed a 125-year lease have largely disappeared and have been replaced by large, noisy, fast aircraft, still flying however below 2500 feet.
The approval to grant extended operating hours has suddenly created a totally different, unwelcome and oppressive local environment, which is detrimental to
residing in this part of the borough. A strict limit on movements is essential to try and keep a balance on the damage (physical, mental and economic) caused to
residents, and LBB’s legal counsel needs robustly to defend the cap as a condition of granting extended hours and to bring it back to how it was intended and
approved.

Page 112
9

New approach to Runway 03
This was a major mitigant required for the approval of the new hours. Although the decision ultimately rests with the CAA, BHAL misled LBB as to the chances and
timing of such approval.
At items 11 and 13 of the MIL (dated May 2016), BHAL wrote: “The new runway 03 instrument approach procedure (IAP) has passed through the stakeholder
consultation stage and is now under formal consideration by the UK CAA. Subject to CAA timelines, it is expected that the new approach will be operational in the
autumn of 2016”.
In reality, BHAL’s consultants Cyrrus had clearly stated, in a report publicly available dated 25 April 2016, that “... there were reservations about the interaction
between the IAP and traffic operating under VFR in the corridor of Class G airspace located between the Biggin ATZ and the Gatwick CTR/CTA and Redhill aerodrome
activity [....] Once these activities are completed, LBHA will determine whether a case for the introduction of an IAP to Runway 03 can be submitted to the CAA”
(Cyrrus, Post-consultation results, 25 April 2016, pages 12 and 13).
The CAA confirmed in an email dated 6 June 2016 that “At this moment in time we have not received any formal proposal from BHAL or its consultants in respect of
the R03 instrument approach procedure”.
This clearly contradicts BHAL’s statements in the MIL.
BHAL has continued to blame the CAA for the delays but, after more than five years from the MIL, the CAA is still waiting to receive an important piece of information.
In an email dated 2 September 2021, the CAA stated: “We have checked the ACP’s record and it would appear that as of the 18th August 2021 the CAA is still waiting
to hear from the change sponsor [BHAL] detailing new instrument flight procedure designs and supporting documentation”. This followed an email eight months
earlier, dated 19 January 2021, mentioning the same missing documentation.

Page 113

This is confirmed by the minutes to the July 2021 meeting of the Airport Consultative Committee: “7.20 Whilst the CAA had now confirmed that the airspace change
proposal would not be rejected for non-standard elements, the onus was on the Airport to prove that the approach would be safe and flyable. The Airport was still at
Stage 5 of the procedure and intended to close off all outstanding elements as soon as practicable. The complexities involved in this final stage was making predicting
an operative date extremely challenging”.
It appears that BHAL expects residents to continue to suffer indefinitely.
LBB has been more than patient with BHAL, at the expense of the residents, and has given BHAL sufficient time to bring this issue to a conclusion. As the lack of this
mitigant badly affects residents in the most affected areas, LBB now has the obligation to use the NAP review 2016-2020 to suspend the hours until such mitigant is
provided. We appreciate the caveat presented by the language “reasonable endeavours,” however we believe that such language does not apply in these
circumstances, given the misleading premise on which the condition was expressed in the MIL. LBB’s legal counsel needs to intervene robustly.
10

New hours of operation
The MIL states, at item 4, that: “In practice LBHA resolved, for practical and operational reasons, not to utilise the period 2200 to 2300 hrs authorised on Saturdays
so as to publish the same hours of operation on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank holidays. Dependent upon future market demand, LBHA may seek approval in the future
to use the Saturday period from 2200 to 2300hrs.”
The hour between 22.00 and 23.00 on Saturdays was not approved when the new hours were granted. This error is repeated at item 14 of the MIL, which states:
“LBHA to agree with LBB details of the measures that will be implemented to ensure that the numbers and type of aircraft operating during the early morning period
between 06h30 and 07h00 and also during the late evening period between 21h00 and 23h00 on weekdays and 20h00 and 23h00 on weekends and bank holidays
(FW’s underlining) give rise to noise levels that do not breach the relevant limits”.
The NAP Review 2016-2020 offers the opportunity to investigate the reason why BHAL expresses the weekend and bank holiday hours incorrectly and to rectify
these deviations from the actual approval.

Page 114
11

Noise
BHAL continues to give much importance to its compliance with the average noise measure agreed with LBB, the LAeq16hr, which is an average measure over a 16hour period and takes into account periods of silence.
As Flightpath Watch has repeatedly expressed, this is a very misleading measure, unhelpful to residents and, in fact, designed to allow the airport to operate a
greater and greater number of large and noisy aircraft in disrespect of the 50,000 cap on movements imposed by LBB as a condition of approval of the new hours.
We explain below.
The LAeq16h measure
Flightpath Watch commissioned a report from Stephen Turner (ex-Defra and involved in the analysis of aviation noise for that Department). His report, dated 13
November 2015, states:
3.16 Whilst the noise impact of airports is commonly described in terms the LAeq noise indicator, this methodology does have a shortcoming. Broadly, a difference in
noise level of 3 dB for two different individual aircraft flyovers is only just discernible by the person experiencing it, all other features of the sound being the same.
But the number of movements of the aircraft that was 3 dB quieter could be doubled compared to the louder aircraft and the same LAeq value obtained. Thus, if all
the aircraft using LBHA were to become 3 dB less noisy, the movements could be doubled and the same contour area achieved. It would seem that there was no
difference in impact, but it is highly likely that those living nearby would not perceive the noise reduction from each individual movement but would notice the
doubling of movements and be adversely affected by it.
3.17 Consequently, whilst the implementation of a contour area limit is an additional control over that which currently exists in the Operating Criteria, it may not
provide the noise management expected unless it is accompanied by a movement limit.

Page 115

LBB’s consultant Vernon Cole was apparently not familiar with aviation practices when he stated, in the minutes to the November 2015 council meeting that “This
cap is not considered essential for controlling noise” (page 7, item 7). It obviously is, and his opinion was superseded by the re-introduction of the cap as a condition
of approval of the new hours.
The 57dB maximum noise contour
LBB accepted that the above LAeq16h measure be set at 57dB to create noise contours. Clause 2.5 of the NAP, dated 28 August 2015, states that “The noise metric
and values used for the contouring provided in this NAP are based on current Government policy. The Future of Air Transport White Paper in December 2003 included
policy advice on aircraft noise measurements and mapping. It advised that, based on research, the Government has used 57 dB LAeq16h contour as marking the
approximate onset of significant community annoyance. The current Aviation Policy Framework (APF) published in March 2013 confirmed policy support for retained
use of the 57 dB LAeq16h criterion.”
12

However, BHAL and/or its consultants were surely aware of a new Government survey launched among airports in July 2014, which had the purpose of investigating
lowering the onset of “significant community annoyance” to 54 dB. In fact, the onset of “significant community annoyance” was set between 50dB and 54dB. A
further study commissioned by the Department for Transport and the Civil Aviation Authority in 2017 (“Assessing aviation noise impacts during airspace changes”,
IA No: DfT00392, Department for Transport and Civil Aviation Authority, 2.8.2017), reports:
“1.9 The SoNA [Survey of Noise Attitudes] paper suggests that significant community annoyance previously observed around 57 dB LAeq is now observed from 54 dB
LAeq. This finding is supported by another study by Defra which suggests a LOAEL [Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level] for aviation likely lies in the range of 50-54
dB LAeq, well below the current 57 dB measure of the onset of significance.”
The 2017 study by the Department of Transport and the CAA recommends reducing the threshold to 51 dB.
In September 2018, one of our members wrote to the then Orpington MP Jo Johnson to enquire whether the 51 dB threshold was likely to be adopted and, via Jo
Johnson, Baroness Sugg, then Transport Minister for Aviation, replied: “As a result of consultation, and taking into account more recent scientific evidence, including
a 2014 Government commissioned Survey of Noise Attitudes (SoNA), we acknowledged that some adverse effects of annoyance can be seen to occur at a level [lower]
than as indicated in a previous study that influenced Government policy. We therefore adjusted the LOAL (the Lowest Observed Adverse Effect Level) metric for the
purpose of informing decisions on airspace design and use, and set it as 51dB LAeq 16h for daytime, and 45 dB LAeq 8h for the night period. The Government also
brought forward new noise metrics that reflect frequency of noise events and revised Government’s guidance states that all these metrics should be considered when
there is an airspace change proposal. The policy relates to when airspace change proposals are brought forward, rather than evaluate the impacts of existing airspace
and flight paths.
In relation to noise controls, the Government believes that, where possible, these controls and the appropriate metric should be agreed locally. Biggin Hill has
established noise envelopes within its noise action plan using the 57dB LAeq16h noise contour as a measure. These controls are not directly linked to the Government’s
airspace change policy, so changes to that policy do not invalidate these locally-set noise controls.”

Page 116

Of course, Baroness Sugg was not expected to know that the Lease between LBB and BHAL (Third Schedule Clause e) ii) (b)) requires that noise limits be revised in
line with Government revision.
As already mentioned, in 2015 Flightpath Watch engaged Stephen Turner, aviation and acoustic consultant, ex-Defra, to advise on the NAP in relation to the Lease
and, in his report dated 13.11.2015, at point 2.3, he noted: “It is stated in the operating criteria [of the Lease] that the prescribed limits will be revised in line with
any Government revision”. The fact that noise limits have been changed from noise of individual movements to average noise over 16-hour periods does not alter
this requirement. LBB needs to challenge the 57dB LAeq noise contour and bring it in line with current Government guidance on the onset of noise annoyance, which
is now set at 51dB LAeq according to the above-mentioned letter from Baroness Sugg.
Moreover, we read from the minutes to the Executive meeting of 25.11.2015, under the title “The Lease”: “It was confirmed that save for the hours of operation the
terms of the Lease would remain in place and the proposal did not remove any of the protections or restrictions that it contained particularly relating to
13

aircraft noise in the Third Schedule”. This therefore includes the obligation to revise noise limits in line with any Government revision.
The review of the NAP is the opportunity to revise such limits and base the contours on the LAeq16h 51 dB measure. In any agreement between parties, it is not
tenable that only one party (the Tenant in this case) has the right to request amendments to an agreement, the Landlord can too. In fact, as party to the Lease and
a local authority, LBB has the remit and the power to reset this limit and should do so in order to recognise the benefit it will have on residents of the borough, in
line with the Government’s Noise Policy for England, which requires to “Promote good health and a good quality of life through the effective management of noise
within the context of Government policy on sustainable development” (Stephen Turner, 23 November 2015). More is explained in the section “Overall government
noise policy on page 25.
Misalignment of noise monitor to the North
This monitor is positioned some 150m to the west of the runway, and is therefore not directly overflown by either arriving or departing aircraft. There is a 90dB
noise limit per movement in the early hours, which BHAL states has only been breached on 17 occasions since 2017, however the misalignment of the monitor
implies that many more aircraft might have breached this limit.
The misalignment is also likely to affect the contour readings, which need therefore to be constantly adjusted to allow for the lower noise recorded by the monitor
by virtue of its considerable misalignment with the runway.
In view of the comments made by Stephen Turner about the “imperfections” of the LAeq measure, and the fact that a 3dB reduction in noise would probably
accommodate twice the number of flights, the misalignment of the monitor is another reason why it is imperative that the cap on movements is maintained.
Noise Footprints

Page 117

The statement that the current noise footprints based on 57dB LAeq16h are 50% of the “Currently Adopted Unitary Plan” (which is no longer “current”) is misleading.
The promise was to reduce “noise” by 50%. In reality, the 57dB LAeq16h noise contour for daytime of 4.3 Km2, is double the equivalent noise contour for 2014,
which was 2.1 km2 and was taken as the starting point (see minutes to the November 2015 full council meeting, item 1). The current noise contours do the opposite
of what was promised: noise is in fact allowed to more than double from when the promise was made.
It also needs to be noted that, whilst the limit of 4.3km2 was described as “New Maximum Limit” in the NAP, BHAL’s consultants Bickerdike Allen Partners now
describe it as “Indicative” (see below).

14

Maximum noise contour
The minutes to the Executive meeting of 25 November 2015 established that: “Future reviews of the Noise Action Plan will not permit an increase in noise above the
new proposed 50% of UDP noise limits”. This is repeated at item 20 of the MIL.
However, the NAP Review 2016-2020 states that such maximum contour is “indicative” (Appendix 5, Clause 3, and related map by Bickerdike Allen Partners, cyan
colour, readings dated July 2021). The established Maximum Noise Contour is not “indicative”, and this needs to be properly reflected in the review so that there is
no misunderstanding.
Moreover, Clause 5.6 of the NAP Review 2016-2020 states: “As agreed, the noise contours are monitored quarterly/annually in accordance with the NAP and, in the
event that the forecast number of flights is expected to be exceeded, we will produce a revised noise contour forecast in consultation with the Airport Consultative
Committee and ensure that it remains within the agreed 57 dB noise contour limit for the Airport, and in the respective morning and evening opening hours.” Three
factors need to be highlighted here:
1. The Airport Consultative Committee is neither qualified nor authorised to judge noise contours. This needs expert calculations that take into consideration
the misalignment of the Northern monitor, particularly in view of the comments by Stephen Turner Acoustic concerning a possible doubling of movements
per each 3 dB reduction in noise using the LAeq measure.
2. The review is a legal undertaking between BHAL and LBB, not the Airport Consultative Committee.
3. We note that BHAL has started to use the expression number of “flights” rather than “movements”. For clarity, the word “movements” needs to be used at
all times as it is defined as “a landing or a take-off”. A “flight”, particularly a long-distance flight, might include stopping for refuelling, for instance, or several
attempts at landing in flight training, or an additional stop when “empty legs” are used, thus increasing the number of allowed movements even further.
We believe that all the points made with regard to all aspects of noise, noise contours and noise monitoring require counsel’s intervention.

Page 118
15

Non-compliance with the Noise-Abatement Route for departures to the North
Residents know that pilots operating at the airport do not respect certain routes, but BHAL uses two excuses to disregard the residents. The first is that WebTrak
shows aircraft in a different location from where they actually are, particularly on a curve (the unhelpful contribution by WebTrak is the subject of the section below,
at page 18), and the second is the use of “corridors”, which we will address at page 20.
The noise map by Bickerdike Allen Partners included as Appendix 3 of the NAP Review 2016-2020 proves that the Noise-Abatement Route for departures to the
North is not complied with. This route is also one of the Noise Preferential Routings mentioned in the Lease, Schedule Three, Cl. j iv). Non-compliance is an event of
default of the Lease and entitles LBB to rescind the Lease.
Such route requires aircraft to turn East one nautical mile from the BIG VOR (the Biggin Hill beacon used to direct air traffic, particularly Heathrow air traffic circling
before being directed to the Heathrow runways). The BIG VOR is located at the junction between Runway 21 and Runway 03, i.e. in the middle of the runway seen
as a whole. The purpose of this Noise-Abatement Route is to avoid the populated areas of Farnborough, Crofton and Locksbottom, where, among other sensitive
zones, a major hospital is located. These areas begin at about 2.5 nautical miles from the BIG VOR but are consistently disturbed by off-track departures.
The acoustic map by Bickerdike Allen Partners indicates that aircraft take a straight route to the North, well past the prescribed turning point. As departures are
noisier than landings, it would be reasonable to expect that compliance with the Noise-Abatement Route would show on the acoustic map, which it does not. This
would appear to corroborate the frequent complaints by local residents that BHAL allows operators at the airport to breach the Noise-Abatement Route and,
consequently, clause j iv) of the Third Schedule of the Lease. This is a legal point that LBB’s counsel should now address as a matter of urgency given that noncompliance has occurred over a few years.
It is interesting to note the pattern of complaints reported in BHAL’s NAP Review 2016-2020 (page 13). Four of the five areas mentioned in the review as originating
most of the complaints are at the North of the airport. The exception is the Biggin Hill ward, which is, in any event, avoided by the major flight paths (see maps at
pages 13, 24 and 25 for confirmation).

Page 119

It is very significant that 45% of the complaints originating from these areas are about “off-track” events (page 12), the major one being non-compliance with the
noise-abatement route for departures to the North. We strongly dispute the statement by BHAL that “The majority of these complaints relate to light aviation.” That
is not what we hear from residents and it can hardly be true when light aviation is seldom captured by WebTrak, as LBB is aware, and complaints are nearly impossible
to make.
We also need to comment on the implied criticism by BHAL that complaints are made by a small number of disgruntled residents (pages 13 and 24 of the NAP Review
2016-2020). It needs to be noted that certain areas have chosen to be represented by a specific officer, whose function it is to gather, scrutinise and report incidents.
The number of complainants is therefore irrelevant. In fact, it can be said that the scrutiny of complaints by certain officers makes them more accurate and more
relevant to the Lease and the conditions of approval of the new operating hours.
16

Out of 1,234 total recorded complaints over five years (please note the large increase in 2020, in spite of lock-down), it is disappointing that BHAL has only issued
145 Initial Warning letters and has only followed through with 4 sanctions. This is proof that residents’ complaints are not taken seriously – responses are sent to
complainants, but the contents are normally dismissive.

Page 120
17

Noise-monitoring and track-keeping (NMTK) system - WebTrak
One of the conditions of approval of the extended hours was the implementation of an “accurate” Noise-Monitoring and Track-Keeping system. We have already
commented on noise (pages 12 to 15). Here we want to address the Track-Keeping part of the system.
Condition 17 of the approval of the extended hours requires BHAL “to develop proposals for incorporating track keeping into the monitoring system. The system
shall provide access to a real time display of aircraft movements with information on aircraft location and height being clearly displayed”. Although a system has
been put in place, WebTrak, it has unfortunately proved not to be fit for the purpose of complying with Condition 17.
Other airports use WebTrak for information purposes, but BHAL relies on this system for the “automatic” tracking of noise and aircraft location and height, subject
to which sanctions can be imposed on offending pilots (NAP 4.21 and NAP Review 2016-2020 Table 2.4 15). An imperfect system such as WebTrak and the flat refusal
by BHAL to consider empirical evidence from residents have the effect of causing BHAL to be constantly non-compliant with Condition 17 of LBB’s approval and of
clause 4.37 of the NAP. It is another important issue that LBB’s legal counsel will need to address.
Some of the airports that have adopted WebTrak have been less sanguine in their description of its functionality and accuracy. For instance, the Australian authority
published several warnings on its website (https://www.airservicesaustralia.com/community/environment/aircraft-noise/webtrak/), among which the following
stands out:
“WebTrak ‘smooths’ readings from individual radar points to show a consistent track. For scheduled flights which perform smooth turns, the lateral accuracy is better
than 250 metres at 40 kilometres from the radar site. For aircraft that make tight turns (for example, aerobatic aircraft or helicopters), the lateral accuracy is 450
metres at 40 kilometres from the radar site. This means that aircraft may not have flown exactly on the track shown on WebTrak”.
The letter by Mr Winstanley to the Chairman of Flightpath Watch, copied to the Council, states that WebTrak uses Heathrow’s radar. That is located at some 24
miles (38 kilometres from Biggin Hill) in a straight line, therefore the comparison with the text above is appropriate.

Page 121

There are other observations about height in relation to weather conditions, but we intend to focus here on lateral distance.
Moreover, in 2016 there was a study about WebTrak commissioned to NLR (a Dutch firm of aviation consultants) by Heathrow Airport Ltd on the request of their
Community Noise Forum, who had been complaining about inaccuracies of the system. The study is quite thorough
(https://www.heathrow.com/content/dam/heathrow/web/common/documents/company/local-community/noise/reports-and-statistics/reports/otherreports/NLR_CR_2016_089.pdf) and covers many areas, including a comparison with another system used by Heathrow Airport but, again, we focus here on
lateral distance. The study relates that:
“Higher distances between the aircraft positions and the resulting flight track are typically found in the curved parts of a flight rather than on the straight parts. Also
the maximum deviations are likely to be found in the curved parts”.
18

This concurs with observations by Bromley residents (unreasonably dismissed by BHAL), particularly with regard to non-compliance with the noise-abatement route
for take-offs to the North which is, indeed, on a curve.
It also relates to penetrations into Noise Sensitive Areas, which are normally effected on a curve, although the main problem in this case is that light aircraft and
helicopters (the main culprits) do not appear on WebTrak. This point will be addressed more fully in the Helicopters and Light Aircraft section at page 23.
The ensuing result is that BHAL is non-compliant with Condition 17 of approval of the extended hours. It also disproves BHAL’s statement at item 17 of the MIL that
“The system, which uses extremely accurate radar data from the London Air traffic Management system, will remove all subjectivity from the issues surrounding the
airport.”
In April 2020, the Ombudsman finally persuaded LBB to employ the long-awaited Airport Monitoring Officer so that residents could be heard. Given the proven
inaccuracies of WebTrak, the time has come for the AMO to be given the task to represent residents’ comments when sitting on BHAL’s committees, most of which
are populated by aviation-related parties, with residents (particularly in the areas at the North of the airport) hardly represented.
In fact, this may be the right opportunity to mention that the Airport Consultative Committee (ACC), on which LBB inadvisably seems to place considerable reliance,
has been chaired by a conflicted party for many years and, according to the minutes to the July 2021 meeting, the new Chairman will be equally conflicted, against
Government recommendations. The Department of Transport’s Guidelines for Airport Consultative Committees state: “Chairs, 3.2. […] The chair should not be closely
identified with any sectional interest […]” (Page 15). The new Chairman was proposed by BHAL and, inexplicably, no representation against his appointment was
made by LBB. More comments on the unsatisfactory role of LBB on the ACC will be the subject of another study, but that does not pertain to this NAP Review.
Fundamentally, however, LBB is responsible for enforcing the Lease and the Deed of Variation (with associated conditions). In this case, in view of WebTrak’s
inadequacy, LBB should request that automatic reliance on this system be adjusted to include consideration of residents’ complaints so that Condition 17 of approval
of the extended hours and clause 4.37 of the NAP are complied with.

Page 122
19

Corridors
The concept of Corridors is considered in ICAO documentation and is adopted by the CAA at major airports to try and reduce the size of the swathe of departing and
arriving aircraft but still afford pilots some margin of error. It is defined as 1.5 km from the centre line. Please note the definition is in km as opposed to nautical
miles, as used in the UK.
BHAL often refers to “corridors” to justify pilots missing the noise-abatement route to the North and penetrating the residential areas they are supposed to avoid (a
clear contradiction to the purpose of the noise-abatement route). When questioned on the existence of “corridors” at Biggin Hill Airport, on 19.1.2021 the CAA
replied (please note that all underlining is by Flightpath Watch):
<<
For information, below is an extract from the UK Aeronautical Information Publication (AIP) relating to Biggin Hill Airport noise abatement procedures for Runway
03. You will note that it is only Instrument Departures which follow pre-ordained tracks which have no defined width but rely on navigational accuracy.
Runway 03 Departures (Instrument Departures)
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Page 123

v.

On departure speed should be restricted to V2+25 KIAS and in any case no more than 185 KIAS until at or above 2100 FT AMSL in order to achieve the
best practical angle of climb whilst keeping thrust to the minimum required whilst at low level.
Following rotation, runway track should be maintained accurately. Upon reaching BIG 1 DME aircraft should commence an immediate right turn to
track 120° M to intercept DET R275° to DET in accordance with the SDR.
In order to safely maintain the relatively low speeds required by this procedure and dependent upon aircraft type, consideration should be given to
delaying flap retraction until at or above 2100 FT AMSL in order to ensure a sufficiently tight radius of turn is achieved.
The procedure is designed to prevent unnecessary overflight of the built up areas lying to the north of the airport. Pilots should pay particular attention
to avoiding overflight of these areas. Excessive speed on departure or a failure to commence a right turn immediately upon reaching BIG 1 DME will
likely result in a track violation.
Additionally, a limit violation will occur if the noise monitor at Milking Lane Farm is overflown below 1000 FT AMSL (400 FT AAL) or 2100 FT AMSL is
not achieved after 5 track miles.

>>
A Glossary is provided below.
There is no mention of “corridors” in the reply from the CAA. On the contrary, it states that departures rely on “navigational accuracy”, that “speed should be
restricted”, that upon reaching 1 nautical mile from the BIG VOR the aircraft should take “an immediate right turn”, that the purpose of the procedure is “to avoid
the built-up areas at the North of the airport” and that “excessive speed on departure or a failure to commence a right turn after 1 nautical mile will likely result in
a track violation”.
20

Residents have therefore been proved right under several aspects:
1. Aircraft taking off at speed to reach height fast (recommended by BHAL), in addition to causing more rather than less noise, are also likely to cause track
violations under this specific noise-abatement route.
2. Any use of the concept of corridors to justify large aircraft taking off at speed and missing the turning point, thus overflying the built-up areas at the
North of the airport which the noise-abatement route is devised to avoid, defeats the object of this particular noise-abatement route.
3. Blaming London ATC when aircraft reach the built-up areas at the North at more than 2,500 feet (which they can do if they depart too fast, in breach of
the recommended speed) contradicts the requirements of the noise-abatement route, which tasks pilots with “navigational accuracy”.
4. The use of WebTrak’s inefficiencies to thwart legitimate complaints on track violations defeats the reason why LBB made an NMTK system a condition
of approval of the extended hours.
5. BHAL are in default of the Lease, Third Schedule, j) iv) because they allow pilots operating at the airport to breach one of the main “noise preferential
routings” and penetrate, noisily and at speed, the areas that are supposed to be protected.
Glossary
KIAS:
V2:
DME:
BIG 1 DME:
DET:
SDR:

knots-indicated air speed
Take-off safety speed for jets, turboprops or transport-category aircraft. Best climb gradient speed
Distance Measuring Equipment, normally positioned on a VOR
Biggin VOR + 1 nautical mile from the DME (calculated to include the climbing slant)
Detling VOR
Software-defined radio system

Page 124
21

Non-compliance with the Noise Preferential Routing for Circuits
Training circuits are allowed by the Lease, however the Council agreed a very specific route for circuits when the Lease was signed, that should be contained below
Keston and avoid residential areas (the map attached as Appendix B refers). This route is one of the Noise Preferential Routings referred to in clause j iv) of the Third
Schedule of the Lease but is not respected by either light or large aircraft. The circling at low level over residential areas by the new large type of aircraft now using
the airport (Gulfstream 4 or 5, Bombardier Global Express or similar) is very disturbing and a source of stress and anxiety. It is important that the route for circuits
agreed with LBB is adhered to.
The suggestion by BHAL at point 8b of Table 2.4 of the NAP Review that circuits should be “restricted at certain times” is not a suitable replacement to compliance
with the route for circuits agreed when the Lease was signed. Non-compliance is an event of default of the Lease, which should be rescinded if non-compliance
continues. BHAL appears to underestimate the seriousness of its attempts at unilaterally altering an important clause of the Lease.
Moreover, the suggestion that “All circuits, other than for flight training, are approved by the Senior Air Traffic Control Officer (SATCO) or Chief Executive Officer
(CEO)” shows, again, disrespect of both the clause in question and LBB’s rights. The agreement with LBB, reflected in the Lease, is that a certain map for circuits
needs to be followed. Neither SATCO nor the CEO is authorised to approve a route for circuits in the Borough of Bromley. In view of the existence of the Lease, with
a specific clause related to Noise Preferential Routings, any amendment needs to be agreed with LBB. Residents encourage LBB not to amend the agreed route,
which is devised to avoid residential areas.
Any unauthorised change or misinterpretation of the Lease needs to be stopped immediately before incorrect practices are established.

Page 125
22

Helicopters and light aircraft
The MIL has identified certain Noise-Sensitive Areas (downgraded from No-Fly Zones in the NAP), that should not be overflown by helicopters and light aircraft.
Whilst instances of overflying by the light aircraft of the flight schools have reduced, helicopters remain constant offenders. WebTrak is supposed to pick them up
automatically but it is totally inadequate in this respect. BHAL is not in compliance with Condition 17 of the approval or with Appendix 3 of the MIL.
It is worth reporting here the relevant clause of the Code of Practice for light aircraft and helicopters contained in Appendix 3 of the MIL:
<<
1. In general all built up areas should be avoided by aircraft where safety considerations permit. Noise sensitive areas should not be overflown below 2,000 ft
unless pursuant to an ATC restriction or instruction.
2. Aircraft commanders should operate their aircraft at all times in order to minimise noise on the ground to the greatest extent possible.
3. Non-essential flights should be avoided in the early morning period 0630 – 0700 and aircraft commanders are encouraged to consider a departure in this
period only where no alternative course of action exists. In any event, prior permission will be required for all aircraft operations at Biggin Hill and special
noise provisions will apply during this period.
4. Low flight (below 2,000ft AMSL) should be avoided where possible.
5. Propeller pitch/rpm should be reduced as soon as possible after take-off and increased again only once required for safe flight.
6. Operations should be conducted so as to avoid unnecessary or gratuitous noise nuisance.
7. Areas marked in red above should be overflown only when required pursuant to a direct ATC instruction (IE extend downwind, report before turning base)
8. Where safe [sic] and weather conditions permit, helicopters transiting in and out of the airport should use the highest practical altitude and should organise
their flight profile so as to minimise noise on the ground and make use the of highest safe altitude when transiting to or from Biggin Hill Airport area. If
possible, helicopters should rise to 1,000 ft before crossing the airport boundary.
9. Aircraft commanders should carefully consider the likely impact of their flight operations on those on the ground, having regard to the time of day and the
prevailing weather conditions at the time of flight.

Page 126

>>
We know from communications with the Ombudsman that BHAL, via LBB, stated to the Ombudsman, with regard to the first and seventh bullet points, that the
language is “unclear” and that it needs to be clarified to mean that helicopters or light aircraft flying above 2,000 feet are allowed in Noise Sensitive Areas.
The language is however clear to us and we read this as another attempt at diluting a condition of approval.
In the first paragraph “noise sensitive areas” are only indicative of any residential areas. As BHAL is now intimating that “No-Fly Zones” in several clauses of the NAP
does not mean what it says because such zones are not defined, so we state that “noise sensitive areas” in bullet point 1 is used in general terms, while “Areas
23

marked in red above” in bullet point 7 does not give rise to any ambiguity: such areas should not be overflown at all, unless under precise instruction of ATC, which,
we are assured by Mr Winstanley, is only in the case of safety.
The safety reason has been overused in responses to complaints. As members of Flightpath Watch have demonstrated to LBB, this reason is often used when there
is no other traffic in the air and is therefore not credible. Several images from Flightrader24 have been provided to LBB since WebTrak very rarely records helicopters
and light aircraft.
Interestingly, the above-mentioned study by NRL about WebTrak commissioned by Heathrow Airport states:
“It is found that all flights which are available in the reference set can be matched in the ANOMS [FW: other system used by Heathrow] set of flights. In WebTrak
however, missing flights are found:
o 31 Flights are missing due to a missing flight track; these occurrences are spread over time.
o The missing flights included those flights that had been reported by community members.
o 34 additional flights are missing on January the 4th of 2015”.
As LBB has been made abundantly aware by residents, and as Mr Winstanley has confirmed, WebTrak does not register helicopters (with only few exceptions) –
Flightpath Watch will now check whether there are other missing flights. The reasons given have varied over time, but the fact remains that this is another issue
that makes WebTrak not fit for the purpose intended.
There have been many examples of repeated offenders reported to BHAL (mainly Castle Air and GMFL, which operate regularly at Biggin Hill Airport and ought to
know the Code of Conduct) but they are still overflying the “areas marked in red” in the map, proving that BHAL has done very little in terms of warnings or sanctions
to convince pilots to respect the Code of Conduct.
For the avoidance of doubt, Flightpath Watch acknowledges that BHAL is only responsible for helicopters and light aircraft operating at the airport.

Page 127
24

Overall government noise policy
As LBB is aware, Flightpath Watch appointed Stephen Turner as a consultant to review the proposal to extend the operating hours at Biggin Hill Airport. This fiveyear review offers the opportunity to investigate whether certain assumptions have come to be realised.
In his report (13 Nov. 2015) Stephen Turner stated:
3.33 With a proposal to extend the operating hours and a consequential noise impact anticipated, Government policy would apply and should be implemented.
3.34 The overarching Government policy on noise is set out in the Noise Policy Statement for England. It contains a policy vision supported by three policy aims. The
policy vision is to
Promote good health and a good quality of life through the effective management of noise within the context of Government policy on sustainable development.
3.35 The policy aims are
Through the effective management and control of environmental, neighbour and neighbourhood noise within the context of Government policy on sustainable
development:
• avoid significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life;
• mitigate and minimise adverse impacts on health and quality of life;
• where possible, contribute to the improvement of health and quality of life.

Page 128

3.36 The policy applies to any activity that may cause noise that could adversely affect the health and quality of life of those potentially affected, and must be
implemented by all those whose decisions and actions might affect the noise environment. The principles of this policy can be found in the Aviation Policy
Framework, the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance on Noise.
3.37 The Government has helpfully clarified that
The National Planning Policy Framework, the National Planning Practice Guidance on noise and the Noise Policy Statement for England are all clear that noise
management should be determined in the context of sustainable development including the environmental, economic and social benefits of the proposal.
3.38 [...] the decision makers must also be satisfied that the economic benefit that these additional hours will provide is worth the adverse impact on health and
quality of life that the additional noise will bring (taking account of the mitigation measures being proposed). For example, what exactly is the economic benefit
to the airport of an extra 8 aircraft movements between 2200 and 2300 on Monday to Friday?
25

Among other points in his Conclusion, he states:
“With regard to Government policy, a judgement must be made by the decision makers whether the economic and social benefits of the proposed increase in
operational hours will be sufficient to justify the additional noise impact that will occur”.
So, after five years and substantiated proof that the health and quality of life of residents in the areas affected by airport operations have (particularly but not
exclusively in the areas North of the airport) suddenly been impacted beyond measure by the change in type of aircraft using the airport, it is legitimate to ask LBB
to quantify:
1. the economic benefits to BHAL
2. the economic benefits to LBB, bearing in mind the forecast included in the attached Appendix C
3. the economic benefit to residents in the borough
4. how many employees the airport sustains
5. how many employees reside in the London Borough of Bromley
6. the social benefits to residents of the borough
Ultimately, considering the large area granted to BHAL and the noise and pollution impacts, LBB needs to consider whether operations at the airport and the
extension of the operating hours are more beneficial to the local and UK economy than other uses of the land, such as housing, schools (even acknowledging that
the aviation college could introduce new learning topics to the standard curriculum, assuming it is going to happen), supermarkets, industrial uses, agriculture, etc.
In this context, LBB needs to consider whether the numerous and substantial breaches to the NAP and the Lease should be used to rescind the Lease and devolve
the area to other uses rather than continue to condone them. Government policy needs to be considered and applied.

Page 129
26

CONCLUSION
There are other areas of the NAP Review 2016-2020 presented by BHAL that we could comment on as inaccurate.
We could, for instance, take issue with the fact that the NAP promises that aircraft should be compliant with ICAO Chapter 4 noise limits only in the early-morning
half-hour (reported among “Achievements” at 14b, Table 2.4) and that “From 1 January 2016 operate a ban on fixed wing aircraft which are not fully compliant with
ICAO Chapter 3 or above noise certification numerical standards” (14a Table 2.4). In fact, “there has been a ban on movements by non-Chapter 3 compliant aircraft
since 2002, and two newer standards have been adopted by ICAO, namely, Chapter 4 and Chapter 14” (Stephen Turner, 13 Nov. 2015).
Moreover, we note that in Table 2.5 BHAL lists as “achievements” the simple compliance with conditions of approval of the new operating hours (at least some of
the minor ones). Not achieving compliance does, in fact, constitute a breach of the conditions of approval. It is therefore more significant to highlight the several
important areas where compliance has not been “achieved”, thus causing BHAL to be in default, exposing itself to the suspension of the new operating hours and
the termination of the Lease.
However, we believe that we have given LBB sufficient reasons to consider BHAL’s NAP Review 2016-2020 as inadequate, misleading and lacking in the fundamental
areas where, five years after the granting of extended operating hours, it has yet to comply with the terms of approval.
LBB now has the right and, indeed, the obligation (as a local authority responsible for the well-being of its residents), to intervene and correct this unjust situation,
that is affecting residents badly, in physical, mental and economic terms. Legal counsel needs to be employed to establish that the balance between LBB’s residents
and LBB’s tenant is corrected by appropriate observance of the Lease and the conditions of approval of the new operating hours.

Page 130

As already mentioned, residents are not requesting new conditions or new legal clauses – they are just requesting that those already in existence are enforced.
This is not an unfair expectation.

27

APPENDICES
A - Letter from Baroness Sugg

Page 131
28

B - Preferential routing for Circuits, Lease, Third Schedule, j) iv)

Page 132
29

C – Income forecast to LBB

Page 133
30

This page is left intentionally blank

Response to Flightpath Watch review of the Noise Action Plan
December 2021
After receiving the document entitled “Review of BHAL’s Noise Action Plan 20162020” from Flightpath Watch, Bromley Council sought the opinion of independent
counsel as requested within the document. This opinion was given by Katharine
Holland QC in a consultation attended by Bromley Council officers.
The Flightpath Watch document includes within it a Summary Table laying out the
issues they raise, references and actions they would like taken. An amended version
of this table is published as a summary version of counsel’s opinion within the report
to the Executive Committee.
This response addresses each of the specific points raised by Flightpath Watch in
turn along with other issues raised in the more general areas of their document.
As part of their Executive Summary, Flightpath Watch states: “In fact, the height of
aircraft in the borough is more likely to be between 1,000 and 1,600 feet, which in
practice means between 400 and 1,000 feet above homes, taking into account the
actual ground level. “
While aircraft departing from and arriving at Biggin Hill Airport may, necessarily, be
at lower altitudes, it is not the case that aircraft in the borough are likely to be at a
low altitude. This disregards that aircraft in the borough serve airports other than
Biggin Hill. Aircraft serving Gatwick, Heathrow, other London airports and airports
further afield will pass over the borough at altitudes far higher than the Flightpath
Watch report suggests.
In addition, while the altitude of aircraft may affect noise, altitude in itself is not a
material issue. Noise around Biggin Hill Airport is recorded as noise contours and,
during the early morning period, as a single noise event. If low flying flights do not
breach the single noise event limit or cause the noise contours to be exceeded, there
is no issue against which the Council can take action. BHAL supply noise contour
reports to the Airport Consultative Committee on a quarterly basis. None of these
reports have shown the noise contour being exceeded.
Flightpath Watch state: “The five-year NAP review is the opportunity for Bromley
Council to ensure that all agreed conditions are complied with.”
The Council has been undertaking this work since the NAP was signed, representing
the borough’s residents on a number of committees overseeing the work Biggin Hill
Airport and through officers taking on the responsibilities of the Airport Monitoring
Officer whether under that title or otherwise. The Council has specifically returned to
the commitments of the NAP and MIL in its investigation of Biggin Hill Airport’s
review of the Noise Action Plan and has also employed independent consultants to
do so.

Page 135

Response to individual points raised
Cap on movements
Flightpath Watch suggest that a five-year limit was added to the MIL incorrectly.
Minutes of the June 2016 Executive meeting, and the Report created for that
meeting, show that the five-year period had been discussed prior to approval. As
such, the claim of ‘manifest error’ is incorrect.
Flightpath Watch highlight that in 2016 and 2017 this 50,000 movement limit was
exceeded and extended hours were not suspended while the NAP was reviewed. It
should be noted that BHAL did not begin operating the extended hours until May
2017, nor was the cap valid before this date, and that in any 12-month period after
that date the movement cap of 50,000 was not exceeded.
In its NAP review, Biggin Hill Airport has a projection of 54,750 movements by 2025.
Biggin Hill Airport is required to provide a projection as part of the NAP.
It is also worth noting that BHAL has not proposed a new movement limit as part of
the Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020. RSK Acoustics, in its report, suggests
that a cap would need to be retained and that, should a change be proposed it must
be justified with both contours and a disclosure of fleet.
New approach to Runway 03
This was a commitment made in the NAP, which predicted this new route, that
promised to alleviate 30% of traffic from the north of the borough, would be in place
by autumn 2016. As is made clear in the Review of the Noise Action Plan 2016-2020,
this has not yet been achieved. Flightpath Watch do not accept BHAL’s explanation
about delays to the process and believe the airport knew it would not be in place by
the autumn of 2016.
Flightpath Watch quote from a report, but omit the opening words of the sentence they
are quoting. This omission reads: “In the main, aviation consultees supported the
principle of the proposed IAP, although…” This gives a different context to the quote.
Flightpath Watch also state that in June 2016, the CAA said they had not received a
‘formal proposal’ from Biggin Hill Airport. The ‘formal proposal’ is one stage of the CAP
725 Airspace Change Process. There is evidence that the process began in April
2015.
Flightpath Watch quote point 7.20 of the July 2021 Airport Consultative Committee
meeting. They do not quote point 7.21 in which the Biggin Hill Airport CEO states the
Airport has spent approximately £500,000 on the Runway 03 ACP to date, expressing
the Airport’s investment in the public arena.
However, the council shares Flightpath Watch’s frustration that this ACP has taken
this long to implement. We are asking for evidence of attempts to progress the ACP,
will continue to press BHAL to do all they can to ensure the ACP is implemented as
soon as possible and that they continue to invest in the process.

Page 136

We are advised by counsel that we cannot suspend extended hours over this issue at
this time.
New hours of operation
We agree that an error occurred in writing the extended operating hours into the MIL
and will take efforts to have it altered at this time.
Noise
Flightpath Watch are unhappy with the use of the LAeq16h average noise
measurement, which records the average level of noise over a 16-hour period, as it
was questioned by an acoustic expert commissioned by them at the time the NAP was
being created.
This is a measurement used in the government’s Aviation Policy Framework and which
the Council’s own acoustic expert approved at the time of the NAP’s creation. In
addition, the Council’s expert refuted the claims made by Flightpath Watch’s expert.
It may be worth noting that in their reports on Biggin Hill Airport’s NAP review, neither
RSK Acoustics nor the CAA raised issues with this measurement method.
Flightpath Watch also contest the setting of the noise contour at 57db. Again, the
Aviation Policy Framework supported this level as the onset of significant community
annoyance.
Subsequent research has seen this level reduced, though this research was not
published at the time of the NAP’s creation, so could not have been utilised.
RSK Acoustics and the CAA both raise questions about whether the latest
governmental guidance regarding the level of noise at which community annoyance
begins could be applied moving forward. The Council will be taking this forward with
Biggin Hill Airport.
Flightpath Watch raises the lease (Third Schedule Clause e) ii) (b)) which they suggest
requires that noise limits be revised in line with Government revision. Counsel advises
that this is not the case, and that this clause specifically refers to noise limits on
individual aircraft, not on noise contours as Flightpath Watch suggests.
Flightpath Watch suggests the northern noise monitor is misaligned and that this has
an effect on readings and contours. While the monitor is to the west of the line of the
runway, it is within the boundaries suitable for such a monitor. The noise violation limit
and noise contours were set based on the monitor in position.
Flightpath Watch object to the way in which the noise footprints were calculated. At
the time of the NAP, LBB's acoustic consultant stated: "the limit equates to a noise
exposure that is 50% of that which might reasonably be expected based on the
forecasts in the UDP”.

Page 137

Maximum Noise Contour
Flightpath Watch point out that the wrong wording is used in relation to the ‘Maximum’
Noise Contour. The Council agrees and will put this to the Airport. The Council also
agrees that the ACC is not qualified to judge noise contours, that the review is an
undertaking between the Council and BHAL and that the term ‘movements’ should be
used instead of ‘flights’
Non-compliance with the Noise-Abatement Route for departures to the North
The lease states that Biggin Hill Airport should use “best endeavours to observe or
cause to be observed… noise preferential routings”. There is no noise preferential
route defined in the lease.
Counsel confirms that incidents of individual aircraft not following the route does not
lead to the Council rescinding the lease. If BHAL are acting in the correct fashion to
investigate complaints and take action against transgressions, they are complying with
the lease.
The Council has worked, and continues to work, to ensure any such transgressions
are investigated properly and sanctions applied by the airport where appropriate. Such
sanctions can be seen in the minutes of Airport Consultative Committee.
The fact that numbers of complaints and sanctions published by LBHA can be
interpreted in two different ways by BHAL and Flightpath Watch would suggest that
the numbers alone cannot be seen as ‘proof’.
Counsel advises it is not appropriate to rescind the lease in relation to this point.
Noise-monitoring and track-keeping (NMTK) system – WebTrak
Bruel and Kjaer continue to be the market leaders in producing the track-keeping
software used by the Airport, which has enabled concerned residents to report
concerns online via a map-based system. The Airport has responded to concerns by
examining them closely and as well as relying on responses from Bruel and Kjaer,
they have also conducted their own study, which the Airport Monitoring Officer has
observed directly in part. It should be noted that whilst the Airport Monitoring Officer
is not in a professional position to validate the Airport’s research, the weight of
evidence that the Council has been presented with does not suggest there are any
significant inaccuracies in the Webtrak system. Therefore, the Council has
encouraged the airport to publicise the actions it has taken in the public domain to
increase understanding of, and confidence in, the accuracy within the system.
Corridors
Flightpath Watch contend that corridors attached to noise preferential routes are only
applicable to major airports. There is nothing on the CAA webpage detailing NPRs to
suggest this, in fact, they separate out major airports and others within the page
(https://www.caa.co.uk/Consumers/Guide-to-aviation/Airspace/Noise-preferentialroutes/)

Page 138

Regardless, at 4.37 of the Noise Action Plan it states that: “preferential routes will be
defined and Track Violation Limits (TVLs) set in the programming of the NMTKS”.
These TVLs could be described as a corridor or swathe around the central line of the
NPR that allows for aircraft of different specification operating at different weights in
different conditions to deviate from the central line.
Flightpath Watch quote from the UK AIP, which is information supplied by Biggin Hill
Airport to National Air Traffic Services. As such, Flightpath Watch is suggesting
Biggin Hill is instructing against its own instructions.
As has been previously confirmed, BHAL are not in breach of the lease if individual
aircraft stray from an NPR. The appropriate question is, “Are Biggin Hill Airport taking
best endeavours to stop this?” They have a complaints system in place and have
warned pilots, applied sanctions and banned operators.
We recognise that this is one of the most important areas for Bromley residents and
will be asking Biggin Hill Airport what further steps they could take to reduce the
occurrences of NPR breach.
However, counsel advises it is not appropriate to rescind the lease based on this
issue.
Non-compliance with the Noise Preferential Routing for Circuits
As previously stated, while the lease references noise abatement procedures and
noise preferential routes, there are no noise preferential routes appended to the
lease. Any graphical representation Flightpath Watch have is not part of the lease.
There is information about noise abatement procedures for visual circuits in the UK
AIP. This states that: “Overflight CAA Environmental Research and Consultancy
Department 27 October 2021 19 of the following Noise Sensitive Areas should be
avoided, unless necessary to fulfil an ATC instruction such as to extend downwind
for spacing, Keston Village The Leavesdon Estate and Leaves Green.
If these Noise Sensitive Areas are passed into without good reason, as stated
above, the Council would expect Biggin Hill Airport to be taking action against the
pilots and would be arguing for such sanctions to be applied at the appropriate
committee meetings.
Helicopters and Light Aircraft
Flightpath Watch state that: “We know from communications with the Ombudsman
that BHAL, via LBB, stated to the Ombudsman, with regard to the first and seventh
bullet points, that the language is “unclear” and that it needs to be clarified to mean
that helicopters or light aircraft flying above 2,000 feet are allowed in Noise Sensitive
Areas.”
The Ombudsman, which had been contacted by a Member of Flightpath Watch, in
direct communication with the Council, stated the Council should: “Have further
discussions with the Airport about the problematic wording of the Code of Conduct
attached as an Appendix to the MIL which covers overflights of noise sensitive areas
by aircraft following visual flight rules.” This contradicts what Flightpath Watch say.

Page 139

Helicopters, like any other aircraft, must only enter an NSA if it is unsafe for them not
to do so. If a helicopter enters an NSA, it must be investigated and if there is no good
reason, actions taken. That a complaint is made is not proof that a breach has
occurred. But Biggin Hill Airport must remain vigilant and responsive in taking
corrective action where it is appropriate, and the Council continues to impress the
importance of this on them.
Counsel advises it is not appropriate to rescind the lease based on this point.
Overall government noise policy
In addition to Flightpath Watch, both RSK Acoustics and the CAA have referenced
government noise policy in their responses to Biggin Hill Airport’s review of the Noise
Action Plan. Those responses have been summarised in the report for the Executive
Committee and appended to the report, and play an important part in the Council’s
suggested response to the NAP review.

In conclusion, having considered the points made by Flightpath Watch, counsel
concluded there were no grounds on which to rescind either the increased hours or
the lease at this time.
The Council will, of course, continue to work hard to ensure Biggin Hill Airport keeps
to the commitments made in the Noise Action Plan and to go beyond them where
possible to reduce noise disruption felt by Bromley residents.

December 2021

Page 140

EXECUTIVE
Minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2016 starting at 7.00 pm
Present
Councillor Stephen Carr (Chairman)
Councillors Graham Arthur, Robert Evans, Peter Fortune,
Kate Lymer, Peter Morgan and Colin Smith
Also Present
Councillor Vanessa Allen, Councillor Julian Benington,
Councillor Nicholas Bennett J.P., Councillor William
Huntington-Thresher and Councillor Melanie Stevens
20

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

There were no apologies.
21

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Cllr Kate Lymer declared the following interests:




Item 10 by virtue of her son attending nursery at Havelock Recreation
Ground
item 14 as a Governor at Bickley Primary School
items 7 and 15 as recipient of complimentary tickets to the Biggin Hill
Festival of Flight event held on Saturday 11th June 2016.

Cllr Nicholas Bennett JP, Cllr Julian Benington and Cllr Melanie Stevens as
visiting Members also declared an interest in items 7 and 15 by virtue of
receiving complimentary tickets to the Biggin Hill Festival of Flight. Cllr
Bennington also declared his interest in item 15 as a Trustee of the Biggin Hill
Memorial Museum Trust.
Councillor Peter Morgan declared a personal interest at item 5 in view of his
daughter being a Director of Kier Property Services.
22

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON
18TH MAY 2016

The minutes be confirmed.
23

QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING
THE MEETING

A number of questions were received for written reply. Details of the questions
and replies are at Appendix A.
1

Page 141

Executive
15 June 2016
24

PROVISIONAL FINAL ACCOUNTS 2015/16

Report FSD16040
Report FSD16040 provided a broad overview of the Council’s provisional
2015/16 financial outturn both Council-wide and at portfolio level. Potential
implications for 2016/17 were also summarised.
More detailed reports would be submitted to individual PDS Committees and
the Education Budget Sub-Committee. Details of carry forward requests and a
summary of the Council’s capital programme were also included in the report.
The Portfolio Holder for Resources highlighted notable features including:


development of a database to hold Contract Register and other related
information as an important step forward;



action following data matching on single person discounts contributing
to a 2015/16 Council Tax surplus on the Collection Fund (along with
good debt recovery levels, more new properties in the borough and the
impact of the council tax support scheme being lower than budgeted);



use of remaining underspends, including those in Central Contingency,
to provide one-off funding for the Council’s Growth Fund (providing
investment for economic development and additional income through
business rate growth, investment income and new homes bonus), the
Council needing to be dependent upon its own income by 2020;



no expected variation to the level of general reserves as at 31st March
2016 for General Fund balances;



an increase of £1.5m against budget in the outturn for interest earnings
on balances; and



Growth Fund investment.

Carry forward of £89k from a £200k Central Contingency provision in 2015/16
for exceptional performance reward would be additional to the amount
provided for 2016/17. Concerning income from s106 payments, the Leader
highlighted a need to continually review how s106 monies are being used. In
a housing context, the Portfolio for Renewal and Recreation suggested use of
s106 monies for proposed housing at Site G.
Councillor Vanessa Allen (Clock House) highlighted the Labour Group’s
opposition to reduced funding levels for social services and suggested that
budgets should be fully spent rather than transfer underspends to the Growth
Fund. Cllr Allen suggested there were many other ways for the Council to

2

Page 142

Executive
15 June 2016
generate income (instead of a Growth Fund) such as more joint venture
schemes in housing.
The Leader emphasised the necessity of gatekeeping and containing
expenditure and there was no suggestion in transferring monies to the Growth
Fund that budgets were being reduced.
RESOLVED that:
(1) the provisional revenue and capital outturns for the 2015/16 financial
year, and the earmarked balances on the General Fund as at 31st March
2016, be noted;
(2) a more detailed analysis of the 2015/16 final outturn be reported for
each Portfolio to PDS committees;
(3) the variations in 2015/16 impacting on the Council’s 2016/17
financial position be noted;
(4) comments from the Education, Care and Health Services
Department, the Director of Transformation and Regeneration, and the
Executive Director of Environment and Community Services, as detailed
at Appendix 1B to Report FSD16040, be noted;
(5) the carry forwards of £301k related to repairs and maintenance,
approved under delegated authority as detailed at Appendix 5 to Report
FSD16040, be noted;
(6) the requests for carry forwards totalling £1,401k (net) as detailed at
Appendix 5 to Report FSD16040 be approved, subject to the funding
being allocated to Central Contingency to be drawn down on approval
from the relevant Portfolio Holder;
(7) a total of £589k funding be released from Central Contingency as
detailed at paragraph 3.2.1 of Report FSD16040;
(8) the return to Central Contingency of £45k as detailed at paragraph
3.2.2 of Report FSD16040 be noted;
(9) a sum of £97,400 be set aside from the 2015/16 underspends in
Central Contingency as detailed at paragraphs 3.2.3 and 3.2.4 of Report
FSD16040;
(10) the Prior Year Adjustments totalling £1,577k, as detailed at section
3.4 of Report FSD16040, be noted; and
(11) Council be recommended to approve the transfer of £7,024k to the
Growth Fund as detailed at section 4.2 of Report FSD16040.

3

Page 143

Executive
15 June 2016
25

CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2015/16

Report FSD16036
Members received the final outturn on capital expenditure and receipts for
2015/16.
Details included a breakdown of the overall capital expenditure in 2015/16
analysed between Portfolios and schemes. A breakdown was also provided of
the original Capital Programme for 2015/16 and changes agreed during
2015/16 to arrive at the latest Approved Capital Programme.
RESOLVED that:
(1) the report be noted; and
(2) the unspent capital budget (£8k) on the block provision for
emergency works to surplus sites be carried forward as detailed at
paragraphs 3.10 and 3.11 of Report FSD16036.
26

BIGGIN HILL AIRPORT LTD (BHAL) - PROPOSAL TO VARY
THE OPERATING HOURS

Report DRR16/057
Biggin Hill Airport Ltd (BHAL) had responded to the various conditions
stipulated by the Council before its operating hours could be varied.
Following the Executive meeting on 25th November 2015 discussions with
BHAL on the Council’s conditions and BHAL’s response focussed on:


the Noise Action Plan (NAP) which had not altered since last referred
to the Executive;



a Management Information Letter (MIL) on how BHAL would implement
and manage the NAP including, where appropriate, BHAL’s response
to the Council’s conditions, including the six additional conditions
agreed by Executive on 25th November 2015; and



a Deed of Variation which, subject to the agreement of the
Council/BHAL, would incorporate the approved changes to the
operating hours into the lease.

Copies of the above documents were appended to Report DRR16/057. The
NAP and MIL would be appended to the Deed of Variation and enforceable
under the lease of Biggin Hill Airport.
Members were recommended to confirm that the Council’s conditions had
been met, to agree that the Deed of Variation be entered into, and to agree

4

Page 144

Executive
15 June 2016
that any sum received to reimburse the Council its costs be ring-fenced for
any future costs of increased monitoring.
In response to a concern at the Executive and Resources PDS Committee
meeting, 8th June 2016, on what might happen under the new arrangements
should helicopters not rise to 1000ft (helicopters follow flight paths set down
by NATS/CAA), it was explained that a mandatory condition to do so could be
detrimental to health and safety and the safety of the airport (there was no
authority to override Air Traffic Control instructions which might vary daily for
any number of reasons). BHAL would, however, look to enforce helicopters
rising to 1000ft where practical. It was also suggested at the PDS meeting
that the Safety and Noise Review Board (SANARB) should include
independent representation and it was confirmed that BHAL had agreed to the
Board’s membership including a resident observer.
The MIL would be incorporated in the Deed of Variation and would be
enforceable as such. Should the cap of 50,000 annual movements appear
likely to be breached (or was breached) in the first five years of the NAP, the
NAP would be reviewed and the Council could suspend the extended hours
pending completion of the review. Member endorsement would be needed to
implement the outcome of any such review and to implement the outcome of
a review after five years.
Monitoring would be undertaken as part of the lease agreement and the sum
received from BHAL to reimburse the Council its costs related to the
application (up to approximately £160k excluding officer time) would be ringfenced to supplement existing resources and ensure robust monitoring.
Leading state of the art monitoring equipment would be used and regular
reports would be expected back to the Executive. A robust set of
arrangements were in place and the NAP also outlined information that would
be provided to the Airport Consultative Committee (ACC) each quarter
including a report on the number of departures and arrivals on each runway.
Constraints in the NAP would limit noise compared to limits in the existing
lease which provided ineffective control for the future. Noise contours and
limits were provided and the Council’s conditions were met. Real time
monitoring information would also be provided. A planning application had
recently been considered concerning lights for the 03 flightpath, the Civil
Aviation Authority (CAA) advising that the proposal was at Stage 4 in the CAA
process, the next stage being formal consultation. Employment opportunities
would also be enhanced with a recent announcement of two large companies
locating to BHAL.
It was confirmed that a Judicial Review had been issued but not served or
pursued with diligence by the applicant.
It seemed to the Portfolio Holder for Care Services that there was an
insufficient level of benefit coming back to the borough in return for the
variation. However, the Leader was unable to support such a view referring to

5

Page 145

Executive
15 June 2016
benefits highlighted earlier in discussion by the Portfolio Holder for Renewal
and Recreation and the Council’s noise consultant.
Upon a vote, a majority of four Members voted in support of the
recommendations, with one Member voting against and two Members
abstaining.
RESOLVED that:
(1) BHAL has satisfactorily met all of the Council’s conditions;
(2) a Deed of Variation to the lease be entered into in the form appended
to Report DRR16/057; and
(3) any sum received to reimburse the Council its reasonable costs
incurred be ring-fenced for any potential future costs of increased
monitoring that will be needed for the revised operating hours of the
Airport.
27

FLOODING AND WATER MANAGEMENT ACT

Report ES16032
Report ES16032 reviewed Council progress as Lead Local Flood Authority
(LLFA) with responsibilities and activities for the coming year also considered.
Approval was sought to release £213k (allocated for local flood risk
management) from Central Contingency to fund on-going maintenance and
improvements to surface water drainage assets. Approval was also sought to
release a one-off DEFRA grant of £69,482 from Central Contingency to fund
technical advice on surface water drainage proposals through planning
applications. Advice would be particularly provided on proposals for surface
water drainage in major development - any residual funding supplementing
maintenance/improvements to other drainage assets for surface water.
RESOLVED that:
(1) a sum of £213k be released from 2016/17 Central Contingency to
implement proposals detailed in Report ES16032, and a sum of £213k be
included in future budgets;
(2) the DEFRA grant of £69,482 be released to meet the costs of
providing technical advice on surface water drainage proposals through
the planning process as well as the maintenance and improvements of
surface water drainage assets; and
(3) the LLFA future works programme be approved.

6

Page 146

Executive
15 June 2016
28

CHISLEHURST RECREATION GROUND - PAVILION LEASE

Report ES16035
The Football Association (FA) had previously indicated to FC Elmstead that
they would support improvements to the pitches and clubhouse at Chislehurst
Recreation Ground, the club currently having a Delegated Management
Agreement (DMA) from the Council to use the facilities.
Following ground levelling and pitch drainage works supported by £47k grant
funding from the Premier League and FA Facilities Fund (delivered by the
Football Foundation), along with additional funding from the Council and
Chislehurst Playing Fields Association (CPFA), the newly restored pitches
were launched in 2015.
To retain and grow the club’s activities (as per its Football Development Plan),
a new modern clubhouse, compliant with current FA standards, was required
to replace the existing poorly conditioned pavilion. In addition to changing
facilities, showers, toilets, a club room, a café space with associated male and
female accessible toilets, storage would also be provided which would include
use by the local Friends Group. The club secured planning permission for the
redevelopment (reference 14/04436/FULL1) in March 2015.
The total cost of the improvement works was estimated by the club to be in
excess of £360k including contingency, professional fees, and VAT. In
meeting the sum, the club had been successful in securing a number of
external grants from a variety of partners, including a grant of £258,865 from
the Football Foundation, as well as contributing some of its own funds.
A number of conditions were associated with accepting the grant from the
Football Foundation and Report ES16035 considered two potential options
available to the Council to meet these conditions. Given a number of risks
associated with Option 1 (as highlighted in the report) Option 2 was
recommended whereby the club would be solely responsible for the grant
monies, including procurement and delivery of the project.
To take the project forward, consent was sought for (i) FC Elmstead being
granted a 25 year lease on part of Chislehurst Recreation Ground and (ii)
acceptance of a grant from the Football Foundation of £258,865 to be
awarded to FC Elmstead to assist in constructing the new pavilion. Conditions
associated with the grant award – in line with taking forward Option 2 - were
also recommended for acceptance, including a legal charge upon the club’s
leasehold title of the pavilion and a restriction upon the Council’s freehold title
of the pitches during the 21 year Clawback period.
RESOLVED that:
(1) Option 2 outlined in Report ES16035 be pursued;

7

Page 147

Executive
15 June 2016
(2) a 25 year lease be granted to FC Elmstead for part of Chislehurst
Recreation Ground, on terms to be agreed by Strategic Property;
(3) the acceptance of a grant from the Football Foundation be solely
awarded to FC Elmstead to assist in funding the construction of the new
pavilion at the location; and
(4) acceptance of the legal conditions associated with award of the
grant to the club be approved, including a legal charge upon the club’s
leasehold title of the pavilion and a restriction upon the Council’s
freehold title of the pitches, during the 21 year Clawback period.
29

LAND AT HAVELOCK RECREATION GROUND - APPLICATION
FOR REGISTRATION AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

Report CSD16085
A third party application to register land at Havelock Recreation Ground as a
new Town or Village Green failed to meet the legal criteria for a third party
registration. However, supporting the case to register the land as such, the
Development Control Committee resolved at its meeting on 9th February
2016 to recommend that the land be voluntarily designated a Town or Village
Green, this to be achieved by way of an application for voluntary registration
by the Council in its capacity as owner of the land. The report to Development
Control Committee and published minute of the discussion were both
appended to Report CSD16085.
In discussion Members were aware of legal advice that the recreation ground
failed to meet the necessary criteria for a third party registration. Members
were also aware that the recreation ground is already protected as dedicated
open land (designated for community use). Any decision to voluntarily register
the land as a Town or Village Green could set a precedent with any future
decision then subjective without a policy. It was felt necessary to maintain
consistency with previous decisions.
RESOLVED that no action be taken to voluntarily have the land at
Havelock Recreation Ground registered as a new Town or Village Green.
30

CONSIDERATION OF ANY OTHER ISSUES REFERRED FROM
THE EXECUTIVE AND RESOURCES POLICY DEVELOPMENT
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

There were no additional issues to be reported from the Executive and
Resources PDS Committee.
31

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION)
(VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF
INFORMATION ACT 2000

8

Page 148

Executive
15 June 2016
32

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18TH MAY
2016

The minutes were agreed.
33

GRANT OF LEASE OF THE WIDMORE CENTRE TO THE STEP
ACADEMY TRUST

Report DRR16/056
Agreement was sought for a long leasehold interest to be granted in the
Widmore Centre building for the purpose of providing a further school in
Planning Area 4 (Central Bromley).
34

BIGGIN HILL MEMORIAL MUSEUM

Report DRR16/051
Members were updated on progress with the Biggin Hill Memorial Museum
along with funding arrangements for the scheme.
35

THE GLADES SHOPPING CENTRE APPOINTMENT OF
PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS

Report DRR16/055
It was necessary to affirm the appointment of a professional property
consultant concerning certain matters related to the Glades Shopping Centre.
The Decision Type of Report DRR16/055 was marked Urgent and with the
prior agreement of the Chairman of the Executive and Resources PDS
Committee, call-in would accordingly not apply for the item.
36

"GIFTING" OF MEARS SCHEME TO PENSION FUND

Report FSD16041
Report FSD16041 provided final resolutions necessary for full Council to
reaffirm the “gifting” of the Mears scheme to the L B Bromley Pension Fund.
37

PARKING CONTRACT

Report ES16029
The Joint Parking Services contract was subject to a revised implementation
date with a traditional local authority contract model to be used.

9

Page 149

Executive
15 June 2016
38

TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION: TRINITY C OF E PRIMARY
SCHOOL AND CASTLECOMBE PRIMARY SCHOOL

Report ED16032
Having noted the procurement process and evaluation of tenders, Members
considered a recommendation for award of contract related to
temporary accommodation at Castlecombe Primary School and Trinity CE
Primary School.
39

AQUISITION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Report DRR16/060
To increase return from the Council’s Investment Fund, Members considered
the recommended purchase of the freehold interest in industrial units at a
location in Hampshire.

Chairman
The Meeting ended at 8.40 pm

10

Page 150

Minute Annex
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC FOR WRITTEN REPLY
From Mr Tony Trinick FREng, Chair of Flightpath Watch, to the Portfolio
Holder for Renewal and Recreation
Why hasn't the final agreement between Biggin Hill Airport and the Council
insisted that the 10 pledges are built in, as given to residents by the Airport in
2014?
Reply
In consideration of BHAL’s extended hours proposal, the Council was not
asked/required to consider “10 pledges” but the detailed proposals contained
in BHAL’s Noise Action Plan. In considering these proposals, the Council
must act in a reasonable manner in the interests of both the Airport and the
Borough’s residents. We are satisfied that we have complied with these
requirements which will take the form of a legally binding agreement
enforceable under the lease. No such legal status could be given to any
“pledges” you refer to unless they were incorporated into the proposals
included in the Noise Action Plan.
--------------------From Mr David Clapham to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and
Recreation
1. Extra condition (1) requires a level of fine to be five times the standard
landing fee applicable. This is watered-down in the MIL and therefore the
condition is not met. Are the Executive aware and happy that the new fine of
£500 will be a satisfactory deterrent to all business users?
Reply
Without pre-empting the discussion that the Executive will have, a fine level of
five times is included in the description and for some aircraft, this could be
£500 as the fine level is based crudely on the size of the aircraft. I do think
that any fine should be proportionate but stringent and we will discuss this in
due course.
The level of fines proposed to be imposed is consistent with the Executive’s
condition subject to a test of reasonableness that no fine levied:
 Shall be disproportionate to what is levied at other London Airports,
 and go against advice provided in ICAO document 9082, Policies on
Charges for Airports and Air Navigation Services.
--------------------

Page 151
11

2. The structure of the SANARB comprises BHAL staff or supporters. This is
weak and lacks challenge. Are the Executive satisfied that this committee has
the appropriate membership and specific duties to achieve the important task
they have to carry out on behalf of residents?
Reply
The Council has already requested that a representative of the Council is
present to satisfy ourselves that this process is vigorous and the Airport have
agreed to this. Cleary SANARB members need to be suitably qualified and
experienced to determine whether there has been wrong doing and I would
have thought that experienced pilots and the like committed to doing this task
would be suitable. But, again, this is something we need to discuss in due
course. The airport has also agreed that a member of a relevant Residents’
Association can also come to the meetings of the SANARB.
---------------------3. As the existing Lease term ‘home based’ has been effectively replaced
by ‘Account holders’ are there any conditions or restrictions on which aircraft
can use the airport in future or from what countries they may emanate?
Reply
The based aircraft concept will largely be irrelevant in the revised operating
criteria, with the restriction being used as noise, with specific noise limits in
the early morning period being in existence for the first time for instance,
which will actually stop some based aircraft from potentially using the early
morning period. In addition to the noise restrictions set out in the lease and
the NAP, aircraft will need to meet the standards set out by regulatory bodies
such as the CAA.
---------------------From Mrs Giuliana Voisey to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and
Recreation
1. The MIL includes a serious inaccuracy at item 3: “... LBHA resolved ... not
to utilise the period 2200 to 2300 hrs authorised on Saturdays ....” This was
never authorised (see recommendation 2, Executive 25.11.16). Will the
Executive minute this attempt at prevarication by BHAL?
Reply
The Council has only ever approved operating hours of 08.00 to 22.00 hours
at the weekends, which as the Airport correctly state, is 2.5 hours shorter than
requested for Saturdays. We will raise this point with the Airport but the MIL,
which is the Airport’s document, makes it clear that BHAL would need to seek
approval in the future to use the Saturday period from 2200 to 2300hrs. I am

Page 152
12

grateful to Mrs Voisey for bringing this slightly incorrect wording to the
Executive’s attention.
---------------------2. It appears that the MIL includes a serious untruth at items 11 and 13. The
CAA confirmed on 6.6.16 (i.e. after the date of the MIL) that the new route to
R03 had not yet been submitted for approval (Cyrrus mentioned ‘difficulties’) .
How can the MIL possibly be accepted as a valid document? What else does
it contain that is less than accurate?
Reply
It is true to say that the Airport have begun the lengthy process of applying to
change the runway approach 03 which will, if accepted, take away one third of
traffic away from overflying Farnborough. It is true to say that the CAA are
fully aware of these proposals and have discussed them with the Airport and
others. The Airport have not formally submitted the runway approach change
proposal to the CAA. The formal submission stage comes at the end of stage
4 of a stage 7 process and BHAL are at the cusp of formally submitting but
have not. So, although this is a formal proposal in the sense that it is
documented and the CAA know about it etc, it has not been formally
submitted by CAA standards.
Stage 4 ends with a “formal submission” and whilst this formality is not
complete, the Airport have been open about the progress being made and
have included the various reports on their website for all to see, including you.
It is evidence of the Airport’s intent to implement this new approach that we
have received a planning application in May for the installation and operation
of runway approach lights for Runway 03.
---------------------3. If Councillors of the Executive approve a document that contains untruths
or misrepresentations of the truth, having been alerted to the fact, would such
Councillors not be ancillaries to deceiving the residents?
Reply
This is a hypothetical question but we do need to make sure that we all
understand what is being proposed and the progress being made. The NAP
and the detailed MIL, which sets out how the NAP will be implemented, make
it clear to the reader what is being proposed, with the numerous council
questions over the months adding even more detail for interested readers and
residents.
----------------------

Page 153
13

From Mr Phil Webb, Treasurer to Flightpath Watch, to the Portfolio
Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. Why does the lease and variation only consider obsolete ICAO chapter 3
and not at least chapter 4 noise standards? Will the lease be updated to
reflect the latest noise standards?
Reply
Many many aircraft fly across the country every day using Chapter 3 aircraft
which our noise advisor has informed us is not obsolete, with the Government
not banning these aircraft at all. The Chapter 4 noise levels are included in the
new proposed arrangements in the early morning period, meaning that for the
first time, there is actually a noise restriction for the early morning period
specifically. Going forwards the NAP will be reviewed every 5 years and
therefore there will be opportunities to reflect the latest noise standards.
---------------------2. Noise protection for residents, in terms of noise proofing of homes,
appears to be available to very few householders. Can the exact number of
properties who might qualify for help with double glazing be confirmed?
Reply
No, not today, but the Airport are committed to contacting the relevant
property owners should this prove necessary and this process will be
repeated annually, with noise data used to determine the extent of the need.
---------------------From Mrs Andrea Stevens, Flightpath Watch Secretary, to the Portfolio
Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. Does the Council agree that as there is a JR being considered in London
courts, that any debate or decision-making in relation to BHAL application to
vary the operating hours, would be disrespectful to the authority of these
courts?
Reply
No, the Council will respond to any court request and will address any
comments it may have about a JR as part of that process.
---------------------2. Regarding the promised 30% ATM reduction along R21 - this is dependent
upon a new GPS approach to R03. Failure to obtain CAA permission means
R21 will have the same or greater number of ATMs. Could the Council
confirm that the CAA have received a formal application from BHAL? Has the

Page 154
14

Council seen any documents relating to this application to the CAA?
Reply
Regardless of the outcome of the change of approach for runway 03, the
Airport must keep within the reduced noise contours outlined in the Noise
Action Plan and these are legally binding as they will be part of the lease.
The Council has seen some of the documents relating to this proposal as
have members of the public as the documents have been published on the
Airport’s website. I refer the questioner to the answer given to Mrs
Voisey,above.
---------------------3. Would the Council agree that a review of BHA NAP dated August 2016,
should be undertaken now, as clearly the 50,000 ATMs limit has been
reached? (please see BHACC Meeting minutes dated 21 January 2016 for
further details)
Reply
The Airport are operating quite legitimately under the existing lease where
they are perfectly entitled to use up to 125,000 movements annually. When
or if these proposals are in place, I anticipate that volume will actually reduce
from today’s levels. If we agree this, the 50,000 volume will be capped as
described in the MIL and the Airport will not be able to use the 125,000
volume currently allowed in the lease.
---------------------From Ella Coates to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. How can Members of the Executive ratify conditions that ’play on words’
(see the scandalous example of the proposed ‘noise reduction’) rather than
ascertain that the pledges made are truly reflected in the ‘recommendations’?
Reply
The Executive will need to rely on a legal agreement rather than any ‘play on
words’. It is a legal agreement in the form of the lease variation that will give
the Council power to act, ultimately including forfeiture of the lease in extreme
situations.
---------------------2. Residents are beyond objecting to an increase in hours. We are now
objecting to a Council that (possibly itself misled) has deceived us. The MIL
in front of you will crystallise this position. Will this Executive really accept
that this is a document that can be ratified as it stands?

Page 155
15

Reply
The MIL which outlines how the Noise Action Plan will be implemented is
quite detailed and will deliver improvements. We have to remember that right
now the Airport has permission for 125,000 jet movements every year, with all
the noise that goes with this. The current proposals do improve the position
of the Council and indeed residents.
---------------------3. The press reported that the PM had flights provided by companies at BH
for some £100,000. It follows that LBB may also have received incentives or it
could not have been so superficial in the documentation of the
‘recommendations’. For the sake of transparency, could you please let us
know what they are and how the residents will benefit?
Reply
The Council has not received any incentives from the airport although the
Council is of course in receipt of rent, which includes a share of profit
depending on the exact performance of the Airport’s business.
---------------------From Sophie Knight to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. Is the Executive clear that any noise monitors will be correctly placed (not
as in the case of Crofton where the monitoring system was at the back of
Darrick Wood School half a mile away from the flight path)?
Reply
There will actually be 3 noise monitors, with the siting clearly important, with 2
of the monitors envisaged becoming permanently sited when the best location
has been found by the noise experts installing the system. The third monitor
is a mobile monitor, capable of being moved as needed.
Clearly, the Council will need to satisfy itself that the noise monitoring is
accurate. We understand that probably the best firm in the world for this
specialist work will be installing the noise monitors and conducting the noise
monitoring. That said, the Council will continue to keep the services of our
noise expert to give us the best advice possible so that the Airport do this
properly and that both residents and the Council can be assured of this.
----------------------

Page 156
16

From Abigail Rutherford to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and
Recreation
1. With reference to BHAL’s Mil point 8: Does the Council agree that BHAL’s
attempt to mislead the Council in relation to the capping of aircraft (as
explained below*) leads to a failure by BHAL in fulfilling one or more of the 18
conditions set by the Council?
* This mechanism in BHAL's Management Information Letter (MIL) to establish a cap is
ineffective. BHAL knew it when they suggested this type of cap in the letter from on Hogan
th
Lovell dated 9 December 2014 (‘the Application’): “12.1 With reference to paragraphs 4.4
and 4.5 of our letter of 5 November, our client does not anticipate the number of aircraft
movements exceeding 50,000 per annum within 10 years, since light aircraft movements are
likely to continue to decline at the same time as business aviation flights are forecast to
increase as more businesses are set up at the Airport offering aircraft servicing, parking and
management. In the unlikely event that it becomes likely that that number will be exceeded,
our client agrees that it will trigger an early review of the NAP (and thereafter at intervals to be
agreed) so as to ensure that the balance of social, economic and environmental issues are
kept in check.”
As we know, contrary to the statement by Hogan Lovell, the total of movements was already
50,562 in 2015 (Minutes to the BHACC meeting of 21.1.2016), i.e. the ‘unlikely event’ has
already occurred. The forecast for 2020 of 49,500 is also too close for comfort and appears
contrived considering current number of movements.
In the MIL, BHAL pushes the Council even further. Although the MIL repeats that the NAP
will be reviewed if the limit of 50,000 movements is exceeded, BHAL now addresses us to
‘para 20 of this letter’. Para 20 (Further Information, final paragraph), states: “Prior to any
NAP review, LBHA will prepare actual measured noise contours to be compared with
predicted noise contours. Where the additional noise contour falls within the agreed forecast
noise contour, no further action will be required.” The Executive must not fall for this trick.

As ST Acoustics (an Aviation as well as Noise expert and frequent adviser to DEFRA)
explained: “Whilst the noise impact of airports is commonly described in terms of the
LAeq16h indicator, this methodology does have a shortcoming. Broadly, a difference in noise
level of 3 dB for two different individual aircraft flyovers is only just discernible by the person
experiencing it, all other features of the sound being the same. But the number of
movements of the aircraft that was 3 dB quieter could be doubled compared to the louder
aircraft and the same LAeq16h value obtained. Thus, if all the aircraft using LBHA were to
become 3 dB less noisy, the movements could be doubled and the same contour area
achieved. It would seem that there was no difference in impact, but it is highly likely that
those living nearby would not perceive the noise reduction from each individual movement
but would notice the doubling of movements and be adversely affected by it.” This
mechanism provides BHAL with a useful elastic band, which does not conform to the pledge
of a cap of 50,000 movements. By reducing the noise imperceptibly to people on the ground
(by way of example, Chapter 14 is 17 dBs quieter than Chapter 3), the number of flights can
be increased by a number of multiples. The Executive has to request a different mechanism
in order for the pledged cap on movements to be observed. The mechanism as proposed is
not fit for purpose. The existing cap in the Lease of 125,000 movements per annum needs to
be protected until a more effective mechanism to control movements is devised.

Reply
Rather than mislead the Council, the Airport’s response is actually quite
detailed and therefore clear. What it does mean, it seems to me, is that if

Page 157
17

50,000 movements are breached, the Council can suspend the new operating
hours whilst a noise action plan review takes place. In any event, what is
being proposed has to be an improvement on 125,000 movements already
allowed.
---------------------From Sue King to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. With reference to BHAL's Management Information Letter, point 19, does
Bromley Council agree that the only winner in this will be BHAL when the
following is taken into account? (See notes* below)
*Notes: That LBB has not achieved very much by sacrificing its residents.
There is only one winner in this equation, and that is BHAL. Please note that
in 2015 dividends of £589,360 (2014: dividends of £389,360) were paid to
BHAL’s sole shareholder. By contrast, LBB received income of £198,867 in
2015 (2014: 207,124).
Grants and subsidies from the public purse are acknowledged (Note 1.11 to
BHAL’s 2015 accounts) but only partially specified.
Reply
Apart from the rent and profit share that the Council could receive which
benefits Council taxpayers, noise contour restrictions are being introduced for
the first time - with these benefits to residents affected by the noise being paid
for by the Airport’s commitment to increase expenditure to introduce noise
monitoring software for instance.
---------------------From Mr Charles Mill to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. We should be at the end of the approval process, so why have none of the
ten pledges been honoured and included in the Deed of Variation? Do you
honestly think that attaching a document produced by BHAL (the MIL) is an
acceptable substitute for a properly drafted legal document?
Reply
The properly drafted legal document is included in the committee papers and
all of the detail in both the MIL and the, Noise Action Plan (NAP), will also be
legally enforceable as they will be included as appendices in the lease. There
is strength in these documents that will give more power to the Council and
transparency to residents than currently exists and this is to be welcomed.
----------------------

Page 158
18

2. The Council made two clear pledges: reduction in noise and cap of 50,000
flights. The ‘recommendations’ were the tools to achieve this. So why is noise
going to double and the cap of 125,000 in jeopardy of being exceeded? Can
you, Members of the Executive, honestly ratify the MIL as it stands?
Reply
These proposals will control the noise and there is effectively a cap of 50,000
being proposed. We do need to remember the context here, with current
arrangements allowing 125,000 flights, and with no limit on the number of
take-offs between 0630 and 0700.
---------------------3. Residents have proved that BHAL is not enforcing its own Standard
Departure Procedure from R03 (among other matters). As the MIL is a
masterpiece of double meanings and caveats, are you, Members of the
Executive, satisfied that you have the required mechanisms to manage this
unruly tenant?
Reply
Tonight, we are here to assess whether the 24 conditions previously imposed
have been met. I have already spoken about the legal agreement but if this
proposal goes ahead, as well as residents monitoring, the Council is very
clear that we will be monitoring this very carefully indeed, both from afar and
up close. We have a range of options open to us, including, ultimately, the
forfeiture of the lease.
---------------------From Mr Nick Bell to the Portfolio Holder for Renewal and Recreation
1. Item 1. of the Management Information Letter (MIL) refers only to 2014
noise levels and only mentions NAP1, with NAP2 not being considered at all.
Surely the approval should be based on current noise levels and
consideration should be given to NAP 2 which considers noise contours
between 6.30 and 7am which is the period that the extended hours are all
about. Is the Council intending to challenge BHAL’s omissions in these
respects.
Reply
For information, 2014 noise data was used as this was the data available in
2015 when the NAP was drafted. The noise envelopes referred to in this point
are all contained in the NAP and are referred to elsewhere in the MIL It must
be recognised that the MIL is a legal document working alongside the NAP. It
does not replace it and does not need to replicate everything in it.
----------------------

Page 159
19

This page is left intentionally blank

Page 160

Agenda Item 6
Report No.
HPR2021/062a

London Borough of Bromley
PART ONE - PUBLIC

Decision Maker:

EXECUTIVE

Date:

Wednesday 12 January 2022

Decision Type:

Non-Urgent

Title:

PLATINUM JUBILEE CELEBRATIONS

Contact Officer:

Lydia Lee, Assistant Director Culture and Regeneration
Tel: 020 8313 4456 E-mail: lydia.lee@bromley.gov.uk

Chief Officer:

Director of Housing, Planning, Property and Regeneration

Ward:

(All Wards);

1.

Executive

Key

Reason for report
HM Queen’s national Platinum Jubilee celebrations are planned to take place 2nd to 5th June
2022. The London Borough of Bromley will be marking this through a local programme of events
as well as by taking part in the national celebrations. This report sets out all activity strands and
asks the Executive for budget approval.

________________________________________________________________________________
2.

RECOMMENDATION(S)
That Members of the Executive:
2.1 Note the contents of this report and the borough’s Platinum Jubilee programme of
activities.
2.2 Approves drawdown and spend of up to £105,500 from the Investment to
Community Fund earmarked reserve to deliver the Platinum Jubilee programme.

1

Page 161

Impact on Vulnerable Adults and Children
1.

Summary of Impact: The events and activities will be delivered across the borough and
accessible to all Bromley residents.
________________________________________________________________________________
Corporate Policy
1.

Policy Status: Not Applicable

2. BBB Priority: Children and Young People Vibrant, Thriving Town Centres
________________________________________________________________________________
Financial
1.

Cost of proposal: £105.5k

2.

Ongoing costs: Non-Recurring Cost

3.

Budget head/performance centre: N/a

4.

Total current budget for this head: £0

5.
Source of funding: Investment to Community Fund earmarked reserve
________________________________________________________________________________
Personnel
1.

Number of staff (current and additional): 1 new temporary dedicated Events Manager

2.
If from existing staff resources, number of staff hours: c.750 hours
________________________________________________________________________________
Legal
1.

Legal Requirement: None

2.
Call-in: Applicable
________________________________________________________________________________
Procurement
1.

Summary of Procurement Implications: The procurement implications in this report can be
authorised at an officer level.
________________________________________________________________________________
Customer Impact
1.
Estimated number of users/beneficiaries (current and projected): all borough residents
________________________________________________________________________________
Ward Councillor Views
1.

Have Ward Councillors been asked for comments? Not Applicable

2.

Summary of Ward Councillors comments: N/A

2

Page 162

3.

COMMENTARY

3.1

In June 2022 the nation will be celebrating HM Queen’s Platinum Jubilee. This report sets out
the measures the London Borough of Bromley is taking to celebrate this important occasion.

3.2

The decision has already been taken by the Portfolio Holder for Environmental Services to
waive road closure fees in relation to street parties for ‘The Big Jubilee Lunch’. Applications for
road closures from community and resident groups are required to be submitted by February
2022 to ensure they are processed in time for the June bank holiday weekend.

3.3

In addition to enabling community street parties across the borough, the borough will participate
in: the national beacon lighting and Queen’s Green Canopy; deliver a cultural activity
programme; make small grants available for the decoration of High Streets and local shopping
parades; host a Thanksgiving Service and reception; host an outdoor concert or televise the
Party at the Palace event; name a road to commemorate the occasion; and deliver an Access to
Sport week for disadvantaged young people.

3.4

Officers have been in contact with the borough’s Uniformed Groups, and both the Scouts and
the Air Cadets would like to support the boroughs Platinum Jubilee activities. Once the
programme is agreed we will work with them to identify the details of their involvement.

Events Manager
3.5

The Platinum Jubilee programme will be cross-departmental with officers across the Council
contributing to its delivery. Its coordination will be managed by the Culture and Regeneration
division, and therefore a temporary resource is required in this team to manage the programme.

3.6

At the time of writing this report a temporary six-month Events Manager post had been
advertised with interviews scheduled to take place before Christmas. The cost to the Council of
this fixed term post will be £25k.

National events: lighting of the beacon and Queen’s Green Canopy
3.7

There is a long unbroken tradition in the UK of celebrating Royal Jubilees through the lighting of
beacons. London boroughs are invited to take part in this tradition through the lighting of a
beacon on Thursday 2nd June 2022 at 9.15pm. There is an option for music, which has been
specially written for the occasion, to accompany the lighting.

3.8

The beacon can either be a freestanding beacon fuelled by bottle gas, a beacon brazier or a
bonfire beacon. The location of the beacon will be Crystal Palace Park as set out by the
organising committee. The proceeding music is ‘Diu Regnare’, a piece written for a solo piper or
pipe band. Additionally it is being encouraged for choirs to sing a particular song, which is yet to
be chosen, at the moment the beacon is lit.

3.9

The cost of the beacon lighting and accompanying music has been estimated at £7k. It should
be noted that the lighting of each beacon is expected to attract a large audience and therefore
the management of the crowd and any facilities will need to be considered. This could generate
significant additional cost, however officers will aim to work with partner organisations to ensure
that any additional costs are mitigated by income generation at the event.

3.10 The second national initiative is the Queen’s Green Canopy. All places, organisations and
individuals are being encouraged to plant a tree between October 2021 and March 2022, and/or
between October and December 2022.
3

Page 163

3.11 The Council’s Environment and Community Services Division will be overseeing the mapping of
all trees planted by the Council and its partners during this period on the Queen’s Green
Canopy national digital map. The Lord-Lieutenant presented 32 English Oak tree saplings to
London’s Mayors at a special presentation in Hyde Park on the 17th November 2021, and the
Council is planting this Oak as part of this initiative.
Cultural activity programme
3.12 A cultural activity programme themed around the Platinum Jubilee will be delivered through a
cross-section of libraries focussing on Bromley Central Library and those in areas with the
highest levels of deprivation in order to reach disadvantaged young people who have had
limited access to art and cultural experiences. The cultural programme will be centred around a
Jubilee Tree theme, which will include tree murals and collages at libraries with children creating
leaves to decorate the tree.
3.13 Storytelling will focus on children's books written over the 70 years of the Queen’s reign starting
in 1952 when Charlotte’s Web and the Borrowers were published to stories from the silver,
golden and diamond and platinum jubilees. Storytellers, authors, and performers will celebrate
these stories and bring them to life, engaging children and young people to get creative inspired
by art and literature across the decades and for the future. Events will mainly be
intergenerational or focussed on young people, and will range from puppet shows to immersive
theatre to explorations of Bromley’s historical archive.
3.14 Primary school children across the UK will be receiving a free book which will teach primary
school children about recent and historical events, inspirational people, landmark innovations
and inventions, and a selection of our best art, design, and culture. The book will also look at a
diverse range of rich culture and notable names for children to explore, including famous artists,
designers, fashion designers, and musicians, capturing the true spirit of the last 70 years and
the Queen’s reign. The themes of the book will form part of our programme of events and
activities.
3.15 In addition, a schools arts competition, again Platinum Jubilee themed, is proposed with
commended and winning entries across age groups displayed in Bromley Central Library. The
Mayor of Bromley will be invited to present certificates to the winning entri es at an exhibition
opening event. The exhibition will run for an extended period and a copy of the winning entry
will be included in a time capsule which will be a legacy of the cultural programme.
3.16 The Culture team has submitted a funding bid to the National Lottery Community Fund for a
grant of £40k towards the Platinum Jubilee cultural programme. If this grant application is
successful it will enable the delivery of a complementary Jubilant Storytelling Festival, which
Lemn Sissay OBE has agreed to take part in. Sissay is an inspirational writer and broadcaster,
who was the official poet for the 2012 Olympics in London. He is also Chancellor of the
University of Manchester.
Decoration of High Streets and Local Shopping Parades
3.17 A £30k grant programme will be set up for local business groups, resident associations and
civic societies to apply for funding to decorate their High Street or local shopping parade. Grants
of up to £3k will be made available.
3.18 The grant application window will open in January 2021 for up to six weeks with successful
applicants notified in March 2022. The grant application process will be straightforward. If
applications exceed the pot of money available priority will be given to applications that: include

4

Page 164

match funding, use local contractors to create/install the decorations, and take the most creative
and uplifting approach to the decoration.
3.19 Successful applicants will be permitted to install the decorations for a maximum period of three
weeks between the dates of 23rd May and 12th June 2022.
3.20 There are 79 town centres/high streets/shopping parades across the borough, and it is likely
only around 12 will receive funding. However, given the short time frame it is likely that only a
small number of high streets will have the resources to deliver this and therefore officers do not
expect to be overwhelmed with applications.
Service of Thanksgiving and reception
3.21 The Bromley Mayor’s office will organise a Service of Thanksgiving at Bromley Parish Church to
mark HM Queen’s 70 years of service. Approximately 250 guests from the borough’s community
will be invited. The service will be followed by a garden party and/or afternoon tea.
3.22 This Service is expected to take place on Friday 3rd June, on the same day as the national
Service of Thanksgiving, but at a different time.
Outdoor concert
3.23 On Saturday 4th June the BBC will be broadcasting a special concert ‘Party at the Palace’. The
borough will take part either by screening the concert on one or more big screens set up in the
borough (in town centres or parks), or by hosting a live concert on the same day but at a
different time.
3.24 The Council will work with the BIDs and/or Idverde to manage the big screen. If a live concert
approach is taken instead the borough’s local music groups, such as Bromley Youth Orchestra,
will be invited to take part.
York Rise development road naming
3.25 To mark the Platinum Jubilee in perpetuity the new road being created as part of the York Rise
development, which will be in construction phase during 2022, will be named Platinum Jubilee
Close.
3.26 This name has been cleared in principle with the London Fire Brigade. The usual rules
governing the use of Royal related names has been relaxed during 2022, and the Cabinet
Office guidance states that in relation to the naming of buildings permission does not need to be
sought when using the words ‘Platinum Jubilee’ or ‘Jubilee’ in the name. However officers will
confirm that the same rules apply in relation to road names.
Access to sport week
3.27 During either April or July 2022 the Council will work with partners across the borough to run a
free Access to Sport week during the school holidays, specifically for Children Looked After and
young people in more deprived wards who may not be able to afford holiday sports clubs. This
will be an enhanced HAF (Holiday Activities and Food) programme of activity, with officers
across the Culture team and Education division collaborating to deliver a very special fun
activity programme to mark the Platinum Jubilee year.

5

Page 165

3.28 Officers hope to work with key sport organisations, such as Bromley Football Club, Langley
Tennis Club, and the Blackheath and Bromley Harriers, with Dina Asher-Smith, Emma
Raducanu, and other sporting stars from Bromley invited to take part.
4.

IMPACT ON VULNERABLE ADULTS AND CHILDREN

4.1

The Platinum Jubilee activity programme is focussed on opportunities for vulnerable and
disadvantaged young people. This is reflective of the national steer and themes for the Jubilee
which set out young people as a priority.

5.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1

The costs of the activities will be funded by drawdown from the Investment to Community Fund
earmarked reserve.

5.2

The waiver of road closure fees for street parties will represent a loss of income to the Traffic &
Road Safety budget within Environmental Services, although these fees would not have been
anticipated when setting that budget, and will therefore not impact on the service achieving their
budget target income.

5.3

The budget breakdown is as follows:
Lighting of the beacon
Cultural activity programme
Grants for the decoration of high streets
Thanksgiving service and reception
Outdoor concert/big screens
Access to sport week
Events manager
Total

£7k
£10k
£30k
£8.5k
£10k
£15k
£25k
£105.5k

5.4

A funding bid has also been submitted to the National Lottery Community Fund for a grant of
£40k towards the Platinum Jubilee cultural programme. If this grant application is successful it
will enable the delivery of a complementary Jubilant Storytelling Festival in addition to the
cultural activity programme above.

6.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

6.1

The procurement implications of this report can be authorised at an officer level.

6.2

In accordance with CPR 2.1.2, Officers must take all necessary professional advice.

6.3

The actions identified in this report are provided for within the Council’s Contract Procedure
Rules, and the proposed actions can be completed in compliance with their content.

Non-Applicable Sections:
Background Documents:
(Access via Contact
Officer)

Policy implications; Personnel implications; Legal
implications
N/A

6

Page 166

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 10

Document is Restricted

Page 167

This page is left intentionally blank

